THE WORLD BANK GROUP ARCHIVES

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AUTHORIZED

Folder Title: President Wolfensohn - Briefing Book for President's Meetings and Events - Richard Frank -

September 6, 1995

Folder ID: 30485745

Dates: 01/11/1989 – 09/06/1995

Subfonds: Records of President James D. Wolfensohn

Fonds: Records of the Office of the President

ISAD Reference Code: WB IBRD/IDA EXC-13-10

Digitized: 07/25/2025

To cite materials from this archival folder, please follow the following format: [Descriptive name of item], [Folder Title], Folder ID [Folder ID], ISAD(G) Reference Code [Reference Code], [Each Level Label as applicable], World Bank Group Archives, Washington, D.C., United States.

The records in this folder were created or received by The World Bank in the course of its business.

The records that were created by the staff of The World Bank are subject to the Bank's copyright.

Please refer to http://www.worldbank.org/terms-of-use-earchives for full copyright terms of use and disclaimers.



THE WORLD BANK

Washington, D.C.

© International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / International Development Association or

The World Bank 1818 H Street NW Washington DC 20433 Telephone: 202-473-1000

Internet: www.worldbank.org

DECLASSIFIED WITH RESTRICTIONS **WBG** Archives



Archives

30485745

R2002-036 Other #: 24 Box #: 186474B

President Wolfensohn - Briefings Books for Presidents Meetings - Meeting Materiz
Richard Frank - September 6, 1995

Archive Management for the President's Office

Document Log





Edit	Print		
A. CLASSIFICATION			
Meeting Material Trips Speeches	Annual Meetings Corporate Management Communications with St	Phone Logs Calendar Press Clipping	JDW Transcripts Social Events Other
B. SUBJECT: Meeting Private Sector DevelopmeRoll of WBG in supportin flows and the surge in private inCoordination of strategyFinancial instrument mer of specialized funds or affiliaWBG financial capacity a realignment? SCHEDULE (1996/97): Early September - Start up September 7 - PSD Board October 1 - Senior Manago October 1 - Senior Manago October 15 - Advisory Gro * kick-off branistorming so November 1 - Senior Manago December 7 - Advisory Gro * Mid-point review of prop January 7 -Senior Manage January 15 -Advisory Gro * Review of final proposal February 1 -Final Report & Consultants Report to Pre	nt (PSD) g PSD - How to be shaped nvestment? and operations? nucomplete? Scope for d ates. and relationshipsneed for Seminar Discussion ement Review oup Session 1 ession agement Review oup Session 2 oosals ement Review up Session 3 s Proposal to Senior Manage	irecto Bank lending, creat	
C. VPU			
Corporate CTR EXT LEG MPS OED SEC/Board TRE	Regional AFR EAP ECA LAC MNA SAS	Central CFS DEC ESD FPD FPR HRO	Affilliates GEF ICSID IFC Inspection Panel Kennedy Center MIGA

(Mark of francher

The World Bank Washington, D.C. 20433

CONFIDENTIAL July 28, 1995

(1) what will PSD poper say?

DECLASSIFIED

APR 30 2025

WBG ARCHIVES

Mr. Wolfensohn

Jim -

A fresh and comprehensive review of the World Bank Group's approach to supporting private sector development should be considered a top institutional priority. The universal embracement of the market economy path for economic success compels the Bank Group to ensure its efforts are aligned with this historic shift.

The Group has among its various institutions many of the key instruments to assist developing countries in creating the necessary environment for private investment and is able to provide considerable financial support, as well as catalyze market finance. Indeed, the Group has been instrumental in helping get the policy framework right, as well as directly financing and catalyzing a meaningful level of private investment. However, there is a widespread feeling both inside and outside that we can do more and do it more effectively.

A stock taking of recent progress is contained in the Private Sector Development (PSD) paper being produced for the Board seminar in early September. In addition to providing a comprehensive update, the paper will also signal areas which the group needs to address to improve synergy and effectiveness. The punch line is that the Group's overall PSD activity is up and there is more collaboration among the various institutions. However, there are still problems to be overcome, such as coordination of strategy and opportunities for better synergy that are being missed. One specific area being addressed in the paper is the integration of a private sector/IFC strategy into the Bank's country assistance strategies. This item, in fact, was featured in the recent Haifax communiqué. The Board seminar will provide an excellent opportunity for you to hear the views of shareholders on the issues involved.

Another related effort underway is the work of the MDB task force. I know from discussions with W. Wapenhans that support to private sector is one of their major themes, and they are examining the various institutional models found among the MDB's.



Thus, I believe it is particularly timely for the Bank Group to carry out its own examination and ensure a leader position. In the attached note, I have set out an approach for your consideration. The proposal is based on four key questions addressed by a team of Bank Group staff, assisted by consultants and having the benefit of an outside private sector advisory group. The key questions are: Bank Group role/strategy, Group coordination, instruments and intra Group financial capacity.

The particular formulation for the review is meant to avoid the difficulties and modest results achieved by similar exercises in the past which I describe in an attached note. The Bank Group team would participate as individuals, rather than as representatives of their organizational units. If we are to get crisp, far-reaching proposals, we need to prevent an institutional stalemate which produces the lowest common denominator. In an attachment, I have set out an illustrative list of team members from the Bank, IFC, and MIGA for this effort. They would need to dedicate at least half time to this task and as some carry heavy managerial jobs, this will entail significant cost in terms of staff resources. However, anything less risks that we will not get a superior product.

And the managerial forms are the market was the managerial product.

The consultant team would have a facilitating role for the Group team, but also serve as a check on the process by being asked to produce an independent report for the President. The idea is to get two highly qualified management consultants from a firm that would regard this as a special assignment for two individuals, rather than as an undertaking of their firm. Being a somewhat unorthodox approach, it will take some effort to structure this approach, but I believe we would have the clout to get such an arrangement.

The outside advisory group would consist of both bankers and businessmen with backgrounds spanning both the industrialized and developing countries. They would provide invaluable input at three key stages, and this group would be envisaged as a permanent private sector advisory body for the Bank Group. Having their involvement in the design of a new approach should make them more effective and committed as a long-term advisory group.

The review needs to have a very broad mandate. Among the factors limiting the Bank Group's contribution to private sector development---particularly in the Bank's case---are staff skills mix, lack of business and market culture, and organizational structure. Indeed, some of these same factors have led the Bank to back away from suggestions of a direct lending role without government guarantees. The review may again conclude that the Bank refrain from direct lending, but what is at stake may be an issue of even broader importance. Dealing directly with the private sector, and relying on the results of lending decisions (instead of being sheltered by Government guarantees) may be part of the tonic the Bank needs to really become client responsive and accountable across the board.

7 bourte

No has

Perhous

While I advocate a review of the Groups' role in supporting private sector development as a top institutional priority, I am sensitive that it could be perceived as taking precedence over other priorities which you will want to pursue, particularly social development initiatives, related directly to the overarching objective of poverty reduction. Of course, I do not believe that poverty reduction and private sector development are in conflict --- but in fact, are complementary. Nevertheless, the perceptions will need to be managed, and the intensity of the internal effort need not be mirrored in public pronouncements, at least at the outset.

lague

I look forward to having a chance to discuss this proposal with you.

Attachment I - Review Proposal Annexes - Separate Binder

cc: Messrs. Kaji, Sandstrom

WORLD BANK GROUP AND THE PRIVATE SECTOR

Questions to be addressed:

- (1) Role of WBG in supporting Private Sector Development (PSD) How to be shaped in era of private capital flows and the surge in private investment?
- (2) <u>Coordination of strategy and operations</u>?
- (3) <u>Financial instrument menu---complete</u>? Scope for direct Bank lending, creation of specialized funds or affiliates.
- (4) <u>WBG financial capacity and relationships</u>---need for redeployment or realignment?
- 1. Role of WBG in supporting PSD How to be shaped in era of private capital flows and the surge in private investment?

The basic role of the Group has been seen as creating the right macroeconomic framework through policy reform operations, including liberalizing trade and financial markets, while at the same time providing financing directly, in the case of IFC and by the Bank through lending through intermediaries (with government guarantees). All three institutions play a catalytic role in mobilizing market finance for private sector projects.

Given that the policy adjustment lending process has basically run its course, and large private capital flows have swamped official flows into 20-25 of the developing countries, what are the implications for the Bank Group role?

Another fundamental shift has been governments' turning to private sector to buy existing or build new infrastructure capacity. Assisting governments privatize has become a big business both for the Bank Group and the private sector. Where is the Bank in the field of privatization, and how should the service be organized? A volume of financing estimated at \$200 b/yr. for new infrastructure investment is needed, if developing countries are to catch up and attain an even playing field in the global economy. This shift has had a major impact on Bank lending operations---reducing the infrastructure category by about one-half its historical level of 20%. *Is there a role for an integrated Bank Group initiative for private sector infrastructure investment?*

Finally, the importance of domestic capital market developments has been reconfirmed as one of the keys to sustained economic progress generally, and the answer to financing private investment in particular. Both the Bank and IFC have worked on various aspects of this topic by providing advice and helping build new financial institutions: such as commercial and investment banks, venture capital firms, leasing companies. More recently, the Bank has been heavily involved in banking system restructuring operations (India, Mexico, Argentina, Morocco) accounting for 20% of current total lending (over \$3b). What should be the Group's financial market development role in the future, how should it be staffed and organized?

2. <u>Financial instrument menu---complete?</u> Scope for direct Bank lending, creation of specialized funds or affiliates.

The Bank's financing instruments for the private sector are:

- (i) Lending through financial intermediaries---government or private development, or commercial banks, leasing companies---with host government guarantees.
- (ii) Guaranteeing commercial lending for private sector projects against noncommercial risks or full credit guarantees on late maturities. Government counter guarantees are required in both cases.

IFC

- (i) Direct medium, long-term lending to private companies.
- (ii) Straight equity or quasi equity finance.
- (iii) Guarantees for financial intermediation, usually in domestic markets.
- (iv) Syndicated lending, extending Corporation's <u>de facto</u> preferred credit status to commercial banks.

MIGA

(i) Political risk insurance for equity investors and associated lending.

<u>Potential new instruments</u>. IFC was created to give the Group the capacity to lend directly to the private sector, which the Bank cannot do because of Article limitations. The regional MDBs have the ability to lend without government guarantees and are increasingly doing so. Should the Bank revisit the question for itself? (Amending Bank Articles discussed further under <u>Previous Reviews of WBG and the Private Sector</u>).

Given the sheer magnitude of the financial needs for private sector infrastructure, the Bank Group staff has started exploratory work on new facilities that could be constituted as jointly owned, and utilize both the financial muscle of the Bank and the transactional skill of IFC. The basic thrust is to see how the Bank's long-term debt financing strength can be used to catalyze market finance beyond the use of guarantees for government performance risks on specific transactions. The potential and feasibility of such ideas deserve serious consideration.

13 ms ture

3. <u>Coordination of strategy and operations</u>

For most of its history, the Bank's operations have been carried out within a 3-5 year planning framework, with sector priorities and lending operations agreed with Governments, while IFC has been an opportunistic transaction-oriented financier. The shifting priorities of the governments and changed role of the Bank have led to a more comprehensive strategic process captured by the Country Assistance Strategies. IFC's growth and changed market conditions have started to compel the Corporation to attempt to set out operational priorities—at least for the larger countries. In 1992, the Bank and IFC initiated the jointly prepared Private Sector Assessments (PSAs) as the means to jointly examine priorities and obstacles to private investment. Some 30 PSA's have been prepared and they have proven to be a useful means of exchanging views and achieving a working relationship mainly among their respective economists.

However, the two institutions have not yet reached the state of meaningful collaboration on the preparation of a Bank Group strategy for private sector development in the context of the country assistance strategies. While this issue is being addressed in the upcoming PSD status report at the strong behest of the shareholders (Halifax communiqué), there is a need for a more fundamental examination on the degree to which the three institutions coordinate their strategies and operations.

Another device introduced in 1992 to improve collaboration in the private sector area is the PSD Committee, consisting of EVP-IFC EVP-MIGA, and VP-FPD (Rischard) and VP-CFS (Eukui). This committee meets occasionally to foster an exchange of views, but does not take on major policy or operational decisions. These are taken up in either the Bank's Loan/Guarantee Policy Committees, where IFC and MIGA are represented, or in the case of IFC at its Investment Committee where Bank staff are invited if there is an operation directly related to Bank activity.

More meaningful collaboration would be through joint operations where both institutions have a direct role. This has occurred rarely in the past, but in the case of private sector infrastructure projects, IFC's equity and medium-term debt finance provides a good complement to the Bank's ability to guarantee long-term debt. Some such operations are now in the pipeline. In this context, the recent exploration of joint staff units hold out interesting prospects of marrying the Bank's sector expertise with IFC's transactional strength.

In some circumstances, there may be particular development challenges that require a well synchronized set of Bank and IFC operations---regional development problems, for example, need an integrated public-private sector approach.

How

However well coordinated, the sheer fragmentation of the Bank Groups' private sector efforts can be bewildering to the clients and potential private sector partners. Not only does the Group have three different free-standing institutions involved in the private sector, within the Bank there is the further fragmentation between two CVPs---CFS and FPD, and the six Regions which in turn each have several units working on private sector matters. Is the current overlap and duplication wasteful? What is the scope for consolidation?

4. <u>WBG financial capacity and relationships - need for redeployment or realignment?</u>

There is a wide variation in the capacity of the individual institutions to provide finance for private sector projects. The Bank---operating at less than 60% of its lending head-room has a huge, unrealized potential. MIGA, at the other extreme, is strapped with an inadequate capital base that will soon curtail its ability to take on more policy exposure. IFC--- at the current growth rate of new financing (12% p.a.), can continue for 3-4 years before reaching its leverage limit. During the Bretton Woods 50th Anniversary deliberations, the question frequently raised was: *should financial capacity be rebalanced among the three institutions to reflect the shift to private sector led development?*

Some of the large shareholders have expressed their unwillingness to consider putting up more capital for either IFC or MIGA, until there is a demonstration that the financial resources of the Group are exhausted. This leads to looking at how the Bank's surplus lending capacity, or part of its net income, could be used to bolster the finances of MIGA and IFC. In the early 60's the Bank and IFC articles were changed to allow Bank lending to IFC which provided the mainstay of funding the Corporation's lending until it established its own presence in the market in the 1980's. The looming financial constraints in MIGA and IFC will not be access to borrowings, but a shortage of capital. The Bank, of course, cannot simply make a capital contribution to either MIGA or IFC. There are a number of legal and fundamental policy issues that would need to be addressed to pursue this line but, in fact, there is the precedence in the form of Bank income transfer to IDA. From a shareholder perspective, the logic of redeploying excess financial capacity within the Group to meet private sector needs is undeniable.

Previous Reviews of WBG and the Private Sector

Knapp Committee

In 1989, at the urging of the U.S. Government, Barber Conable set up a task force to consider how the World Bank should deal with private sector development. The committee was chaired by Burke Knapp who had been SVP-Operations under Bob McNamara. The Bank had three representatives: Wilfried Thalwitz, Robert Picciotto, and Gautam Kaji. IFC: Jud Parmar and Richard Frank. The Committee's work was facilitated by an outside expert group: A. Al-Hammad (Kuwait), T. Teragawa (Nomura - later EVP of MIGA), Jaime Garcia Parra (Colombia), Dick Debs (U.S., Morgan Stanley), Jean Ives Harberer (France, Credit Lyonnais). The Committee was provided with a staff secretariat which included representations from both IFC and the Bank. At about mid-point the original staff team was dismissed and a fresh team of Johannes Linn and E. Jimenez (Bank) and Doug Gustafson (IFC) were brought into work with the Committee and finish the report.

The Committee's work spanned over 12 months and produced a report "Developing the Private Sector: A Challenge for the World Bank Group" (Annex). Although during the course of the proceedings, a number of far reaching proposals were considered for the respective roles of the Bank and IFC, the final document reflected a negotiated outcome which basically recognized the comparative advantages, reinforced the respective roles of each institution and urged better cooperation.

• 1991 IFC Capital Increase

In the context of deliberating the \$1b. capital increase for IFC, the U.S. Treasury (D. Mulford, C. Dallara and P. Coady) decided to use the increase as leverage to bring about more of a private sector orientation within the Bank. This led to a very protracted deliberation in which the U.S. was mostly on its own, but its steadfastness held up the increase for more than a year, and in the end extracted seven private sector oriented commitments from the Bank Group: these included the Bank hiring of private sector professionals, senior group management coordination, preparation of the joint private sector assessments (Annex).

Amending Bank Articles

One of the agreed IFC Capital Increase items was to review the merits of changing the Bank Articles to permit direct lending to the private sector without government guarantees. A Bank Group team headed by Ibrahim Shihata examined this issue from the legal, policy, and financial and organizational

perspectives. The teams' report recommended a limited amendment to the Articles to allow 2% of the Bank's lending to be for the private sector on an unguaranteed basis. The team felt this 2% could be increased to 5% without having an adverse impact on creditworthiness, provided there was some strengthening of paid in capital. This report was subsequently modified by Ernest Stern, who added a much more cautionary conclusion. He also felt that the necessary change in Article would be contentious, open the door to other intrusive Article changes, and thus not be worth the limited benefit. The paper was basically shelved and never discussed with the Board. It should be recognized that even with general support, even a limited Article change could take 1-2 years to complete. Thus, it should be seen as a potential longer term objective, however one with potentially fundamental ramifications.

Development Committee - 1991

At the behest of the Governors, through the Development Committee, the Bank Group prepared a Private Sector Action Program. This paper was more of an updating, and confirmed earlier documents regarding respective roles and the need for coordination.

PSD Seminar Series

The Bank Group's approach to private sector development continues to be raised by many shareholders---led in particular by the U.K.; the U.S. interest has waned somewhat. In response, the Bank Group held two days of seminars in 1994. These were organized by FPD (Rischard) and involved IFC and other parts of the Bank Group dealing with private sector activities. The seminars were well received but as they were mainly status reports, they did not completely satisfy the Board. Follow-up work was promised by Management. The PSD seminar scheduled for September is in response to the Board request. The current draft paper is in the form of a comprehensive update of activities, a report on efforts to improve collaboration, as well as signaling fundamental areas of role and coordination that need more work. Some Board members will be disappointed that the report has not gone further. The lack of more progress reflects the failures of the various parties to willingly agree to significant changes on their own, and the absence of a decisive top management decision making process.

August ?

SCHEDULE

would to wind

Early Sept. - Start up

September 7 - PSD Board Seminar Discussion

October 1 - Senior Management Review

October 15 - Advisory Group Session 1

• Kick-off brainstorming session

November 1 - Senior Management Review

December 1 - Senior Management Review

December 7 - Advisory Group Session 2

• Mid-point review of proposals

January 7 - Senior Management Review

January 15 - Advisory Group Session 3

• Review of final proposals

February 1 - Final Report and Proposal to Senior Management

Consultants Report to President

REVIEW GROUP

1. <u>Illustrative Bank Group Team</u>

Bank

- Richard Stern FPD, Director
- Nina Shaprio CFS, Division Manager
- Ken Lay Department Director Understudy in LAC (previously Director of Borrowing Operations)
- Daoud Khairallah, Deputy General Counsel (formerly IFC Deputy General Counsel)
- PSD Division Chief (Region)

IFC

- Nissim Ezekiel, Director Corporate Planning, Operations Advisor
- Cesar Calari, Capital Markets Division Manager
- Recent MBA recruit with investment banking background

MIGA

- Leigh Hollywood, Manager of Operations
- 2. Consultants
 - 2 persons from a management consultant team
- 3. <u>Private Sector Advisory Group</u> from industrialized and developing countries (which would become the permanent Advisory Panel).
 - Bankers (4-6)
 - Businessmen (4-6)



ANNEXES

- 1. Developing the Private Sector: A Challenge for the World Bank Group. Private Sector Development Action Program (1989).
- 2. Private Sector Development: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort (1991).
- 3. Amendment of Articles Paper (1991).
- 4. J.F. Rischard Paper.
- 5. Richard Frank's Paper, World Bank IFC Relationship (Nov. 27, 1995).
- 6. Draft PSD Seminar Paper.

RICHARD FRANK Managing Director

CONFIDENTIAL
July 28, 1995

DECLASSIFIED

APR 30 2025

WBG ARCHIVES

Mr. Wolfensohn

Jim -

A fresh and comprehensive review of the World Bank Group's approach to supporting private sector development should be considered a top institutional priority. The universal embracement of the market economy path for economic success compels the Bank Group to ensure its efforts are aligned with this historic shift.

The Group has among its various institutions many of the key instruments to assist developing countries in creating the necessary environment for private investment and is able to provide considerable financial support, as well as catalyze market finance. Indeed, the Group has been instrumental in helping get the policy framework right, as well as directly financing and catalyzing a meaningful level of private investment. However, there is a widespread feeling both inside and outside that we can do more and do it more effectively.

A stock taking of recent progress is contained in the Private Sector Development (PSD) paper being produced for the Board seminar in early September. In addition to providing a comprehensive update, the paper will also signal areas which the group needs to address to improve synergy and effectiveness. The punch line is that the Group's overall PSD activity is up and there is more collaboration among the various institutions. However, there are still problems to be overcome, such as coordination of strategy and opportunities for better synergy that are being missed. One specific area being addressed in the paper is the integration of a private sector/IFC strategy into the Bank's country assistance strategies. This item, in fact, was featured in the recent Haifax communiqué. The Board seminar will provide an excellent opportunity for you to hear the views of shareholders on the issues involved.

Another related effort underway is the work of the MDB task force. I know from discussions with W. Wapenhans that support to private sector is one of their major themes, and they are examining the various institutional models found among the MDB's.

Thus, I believe it is particularly timely for the Bank Group to carry out its own examination and ensure a leader position. In the attached note, I have set out an approach for your consideration. The proposal is based on four key questions addressed by a team of Bank Group staff, assisted by consultants and having the benefit of an outside private sector advisory group. The key questions are: Bank Group role/strategy, Group coordination, instruments and intra Group financial capacity.

The particular formulation for the review is meant to avoid the difficulties and modest results achieved by similar exercises in the past which I describe in an attached note. The Bank Group team would participate as individuals, rather than as representatives of their organizational units. If we are to get crisp, far-reaching proposals, we need to prevent an institutional stalemate which produces the lowest common denominator. In an attachment, I have set out an illustrative list of team members from the Bank, IFC, and MIGA for this effort. They would need to dedicate at least half time to this task and as some carry heavy managerial jobs, this will entail significant cost in terms of staff resources. However, anything less risks that we will not get a superior product.

The consultant team would have a facilitating role for the Group team, but also serve as a check on the process by being asked to produce an independent report for the President. The idea is to get two highly qualified management consultants from a firm that would regard this as a special assignment for two individuals, rather than as an undertaking of their firm. Being a somewhat unorthodox approach, it will take some effort to structure this approach, but I believe we would have the clout to get such an arrangement.

The outside advisory group would consist of both bankers and businessmen with backgrounds spanning both the industrialized and developing countries. They would provide invaluable input at three key stages, and this group would be envisaged as a permanent private sector advisory body for the Bank Group. Having their involvement in the design of a new approach should make them more effective and committed as a long-term advisory group.

The review needs to have a very broad mandate. Among the factors limiting the Bank Group's contribution to private sector development---particularly in the Bank's case---are staff skills mix, lack of business and market culture, and organizational structure. Indeed, some of these same factors have led the Bank to back away from suggestions of a direct lending role without government guarantees. The review may again conclude that the Bank refrain from direct lending, but what is at stake may be an issue of even broader importance. Dealing directly with the private sector, and relying on the results of lending decisions (instead of being sheltered by Government guarantees) may be part of the tonic the Bank needs to really become client responsive and accountable across the board.

While I advocate a review of the Groups' role in supporting private sector development as a top institutional priority, I am sensitive that it could be perceived as taking precedence over other priorities which you will want to pursue, particularly social development initiatives, related directly to the overarching objective of poverty reduction. Of course, I do not believe that poverty reduction and private sector development are in conflict --- but in fact, are complementary. Nevertheless, the perceptions will need to be managed, and the intensity of the internal effort need not be mirrored in public pronouncements, at least at the outset.

I look forward to having a chance to discuss this proposal with you.

Attachment I - *Review Proposal* Annexes - *Separate Binder*

cc: Messrs. Kaji, Sandstrom



Record Removal Notice



File Title President Wolfensohn - Briefing Rook	for President's Meetings and Fy	Barcode No.			
President Wolfensohn - Briefing Book for President's Meetings and Events - Richard Frank - September 6, 1995			30485745		
Document Date	Document Type			* ,	
July 28, 1995	Notes				
Correspondents / Participants	2				
Subject / Title Attachment 1 World Bank Group and	the Private Sector				
				ě	
Exception(s) Corporate Administrative Matters			10 No. 10		
Additional Comments					
			The item(s) identified ab removed in accordance w Policy on Access to In disclosure policies of the Wo	ith The World Bank nformation or other	
			Withdrawn by	Date	
		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	K. Brenner-Delp	July 16, 2025	

Archives 01 (March 2017)

DEVELOPING THE PRIVATE SECTOR

A Challenge for the World Bank Group

DEVELOPING THE PRIVATE SECTOR

A Challenge for the World Bank Group

This volume reports the findings of the Private Sector Development Review Group, which was chaired by J. Burke Knapp. Members drawn from the private sector were Abdlatif Al-Hamad, Richard Debs, Jaime Garcia-Parra, Jean-Yves Haberer, and Yoshio Terasawa. Members drawn from the staff of the World Bank Group were Richard Frank, Gautam Kaji, Ian Newport, Judhvir Parmar, Robert Picciotto, and Wilfried Thalwitz. The final version was written by Douglas Gustafson, Emmanuel Jimenez, and Johannes Linn, who drew on extensive background work prepared by the staff of the World Bank Group.

Copyright © 1989 International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank 1818 H Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20433 U.S.A.

All rights reserved Manufactured in the United States of America First printing April 1989

The judgments expressed in this study do not necessarily reflect the views of the Executive Directors of the World Bank Group or the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency or the views of the governments that they represent.

Contents

Introduction viii

Foreword by Barber B. Conable v

Private Sector Development through Public Services 16 Limits to Publicly Provided Infrastructure 18 The Private Sector as a Provider of Infrastructure 19 What Can Be Done in the Future 23
4. Financing the Private Sector 25
Financial Issues 25
Development Finance Intermediaries 27
Direct Financing 31
Facilitating Flows of Foreign Capital and Know-How 33
Conclusion: The Need for Collaborative Effort 36
Appendix: Summary of Recommendations 37
The Enabling Environment 37
Supporting Services 37
Financial Sector Development 38

Support for Small Entrepreneurs and Technological Development 39

1. Designing a Strategy to Support Private Sector Development 1

Evolving Views of the Private Sector 1

Macroeconomic Conditions and Policies 8

The Legal and Regulatory Framework 11

The Need for a Comprehensive Framework 14

The Bank Group's Approach 3
A Strategy for Bank Group Support 5

2. Improving the Enabling Environment 7

3. Providing Infrastructure and Services 16

Development Finance Institutions 38

Foreign Direct Investment 40

Direct Financing 39

Domestic Incentives 9

Public Institutions 12

Foreword

The balance of economic activity in most industrial and developing countries has shifted dramatically over the past three decades toward greater reliance on government to provide goods and services and to regulate the private sector. In recent years, however, there has been growing recognition that the distortions caused by government regulations, taxes, subsidies, and budget deficits and the poor performance of public enterprises place limits on the legitimate role that governments can play in supporting development. In fact, private sector initiative and competitive markets have reemerged as dominant themes in development thinking today. The public policy debate now focuses on how governments can improve incentives and business conditions to help stimulate domestic entrepreneurs, attract foreign investment and technology, and ensure that resources are used efficiently, while making progress in the critical areas of poverty reduction and environmental protection.

The World Bank Group has long emphasized the advantages of market discipline and private initiative in promoting efficient development. Over the past five years it has intensified its work in this regard through a number of new departures: the International Finance Corporation (IFC) has grown rapidly; the Foreign Investment Advisory Service was created by IFC in 1986; the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency was established in 1988; and the World Bank itself has increasingly emphasized the business environment in its adjustment lending. Development strategies have been changing during the 1980s, and the World Bank Group's approach has changed with them, as staff in all sectors and regions are increasingly working with member countries to seek in the private sector solutions to development problems. But this approach has evolved unsystematically over time, and there are gaps that must be filled and areas in which the Bank's efforts need to be intensified and better coordinated.

For this reason I set up the Private Sector Development Review Group in February 1988 to propose ways in which the World Bank Group can do more to help its member countries strengthen the private sector's contribution to development, particularly in nonagricultural activities. The Review Group brought together five distinguished members of the international business community and six senior managers of the World Bank Group under the leadership of J. Burke Knapp, a former senior vice president of the World Bank.

The Review Group's report, which is published in this volume, considers how the private sector can contribute to economic growth in developing countries and how governments can reform their policies and interventions to give the private sector greater scope. The report also provides an overview of the World Bank Group's experience with private sector development, formulates a strategy for the future, and recommends ways to expand and improve the efforts of each member of the World Bank Group. The recommendations of the report formed the basis for an action program, which the Bank Group's management has adopted to expand and focus its support of private sector development in the following priority areas:

- improving the business environment for the private sector
- restructuring or privatizing public enterprises and other public efforts to provide infrastructure and services
- developing the financial sector, particularly to improve the operation of financial intermediaries and the transfer of resources

• undertaking research and policy analysis to lay the basis for future operations.

Three considerations are at the core of the Review Group's report and have shaped our thinking about how to implement the recommendations. First, the Bank Group's membership includes countries with different economic, political, and social objectives, and their private sectors are at different stages of development. This necessitates an approach tailored to the circumstances of each country. Second, the World Bank Group will continue to focus on efficiency, not ownership alone. Efficiency requires competition. Competition, in turn, requires an appropriate legal and regulatory framework designed to ensure the validity of contracts and ownership rights, to facilitate the entry and exit of firms, and to limit the scope of monopolies. Third, private sector development cuts across virtually all aspects of the Bank Group's work, and there are ways to pursue it in every sector and subsector. The Review Group's report has provided a broad overview of the many areas in which the Bank Group can and should be active; implementation is now proceeding in those areas in which the Bank Group can make the greatest difference in the short and medium term.

Although the Review Group also considered organizational and staffing issues, this report focuses on the substantive issues that the World Bank Group faces in intensifying its support for private sector development. I believe these issues will interest many readers concerned about the way the Bank Group conducts its business in support of development in its member countries. The report provides the framework and sets the agenda for the World Bank Group in private sector development.

Barber B. Conable President The World Bank Group

Introduction

In the past few decades public sector activity has expanded greatly in many developing countries—as it has in the industrial world. Although this expansion has often supported development efforts, it has also frequently and unnecessarily stifled private initiative and market forces and has reduced the flexibility with which economies can respond to the rapid changes in the international environment. Increasingly, developing countries have recognized the need to expand the role of the private sector and market forces. This presents an opportunity and a challenge for the World Bank Group to intensify its efforts and find new ways to support private sector development in the developing world.¹

Private sector development (PSD) requires three main elements:

- a supportive (or "enabling") business environment consisting of a stable macroeconomic setting, economic incentives that promote efficient resource allocation by the private sector, and laws and regulations that protect the public interest but do not unnecessarily interfere with private initiative
- the services in infrastructure and human resource development necessary to permit private enterprises to function effectively
- a financial system that provides the incentives and institutions needed to mobilize and allocate financial resources efficiently.

In all three areas government has a critical supporting role to play, while minimizing the distortions caused by regulations, taxes, subsidies, and budget deficits. In fact, the reform of government policy and institutions is a critical component of better performance in the private sector. Private sector development cuts across all major components of the Bank Group's support for its client countries and therefore must be an integral part of its strategy for country assistance. PSD is not a separate topic or discipline requiring isolated treatment, either in the instruments to be used (policy and project lending, technical assistance, research, and policy dialogue) or in organizational responsibilities. Moreover, given the wide variety of socioeconomic systems and stages of development of the countries belonging to the Bank Group, there is no universal approach to private sector development. Analysis and prescriptions need to be country-specific and closely tied to the development aims of each member country.

The Bank Group has traditionally carried out a significant amount of activity and financing that supports PSD. This has included policy analysis and advice on a wide range of macroeconomic and sectoral issues, as well as direct or indirect financial support for private sector enterprises. A number of recent initiatives have further strengthened the Bank Group's role and responsibilities in support of PSD, including the initiation of MIGA, the expansion and diversification of IFC activities (including new initiatives in Africa), and the reorganization of the Bank.

But gaps remain in some areas of the Bank Group's PSD work; in other areas its efforts need to be expanded, intensified, and better coordinated. For example, there is a need for greater involvement by private providers of goods and services traditionally produced by public agencies; for more attention to

^{1.} The World Bank comprises the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and the International Development Association (IDA). In this report they are referred to together as the Bank. These two institutions and their affiliates, the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA), constitute the World Bank Group and are referred to here as the Bank Group. The fiscal year of the Bank Group ends on June 30.

legal and regulatory reform; for more innovative, effective, and expanded support for financial sector development and the financing of private sector activity; and for more support for privatization efforts. In addition to these particular issues, there is a pressing need for the development of explicit country-specific PSD strategies for the entire Bank Group.

Filling these gaps and expanding and intensifying efforts presents a great challenge. It requires more active and explicit pursuit of priorities in PSD throughout the Bank Group. It requires more effective use of existing managerial and procedural tools to ensure a consistent and sustained focus on PSD issues. And it requires the strengthening of analytical work and staff resources. PSD is of central importance to the prospects of the Bank Group's client countries, and the Bank Group is uniquely placed to facilitate PSD by drawing on the different but complementary roles of its member institutions. At the risk of oversimplification, these roles can briefly be summarized as follows.

The strengths of the Bank (IBRD and IDA) lie in its ability to (a) help develop the macroeconomic and structural (sectoral) policy climate conducive to PSD, (b) finance the social and physical infrastructure needed to support the development of productive enterprise, (c) assist in identifying and setting the framework for transferring public sector activities that are more efficiently operated by the private sector, and (d) organize major lending operations designed to provide substantial foreign exchange resources or other benefits to the private sector.

on job of helping specific companies structure and finance new investments, restructure existing operations, or assist with privatization, (b) use its skill base for developing a wide variety of new institutions or investment vehicles to improve capital markets in member countries, and (c) facilitate foreign investment by brokering the needs of foreign and domes-

tic investors, as well as advising governments at their request on ways to improve the setting for foreign investment.

The Bank Group's newest member, MIGA, will offer a product heretofore not available from the Bank or IFC: it will provide insurance to foreign investors covering noncommercial risk, including breach of contract by the host government. Coverage is available for equity investments in MIGA member countries, as well as equity-like forms of production agreements, management contracts, franchises, licenses, leases, and turnkey agreements. MIGA will support the development of bilateral investment protection agreements; it will advise governments on the protection and promotion of foreign investments; and it will sponsor dialogues on investment policies between governments and investors.

The three institutions thus have distinct capabilities and will play different roles in supporting private sector development. In some areas there is a potential for overlap, but this report finds that no rigid boundary lines can or should be drawn between the functions of the Bank, IFC, and MIGA. In many cases what is needed is a flexible response by the three institutions to the specific requirements of a particular country. Collaboration rather than separation is frequently in the country's best interest.

This report explores how private sector development can contribute to overall development and what in turn is needed by the private sector to make this contribution possible: an effective enabling environment, the required physical and human infrastructure, and a supportive financial system. The report also recommends a variety of ways to harness the energies of the institutions in the Bank Group, first, to identify appropriate PSD initiatives; second, to take the necessary actions; and, third, to ensure that Bank Group institutions collaborate in a consistent and productive manner. The appendix contains a summary of the report's recommendations for the Bank Group.

1 Designing a Strategy to Support Private Sector Development

The purpose of private sector development is to encourage the growth of an efficient private sector capable of contributing to economic development. The private sector is usually defined as the collection of enterprises that are owned by individuals or groups not representing the state, whereas the public sector comprises government agencies and stateowned enterprises. In practice, however, the dividing line between the public and the private sector is often blurred, especially since ownership and control by the state may vary in degree and over time. Furthermore, countries differ in their legal or customary definitions of what is private and what is public. Ultimately, this report, like the Bank Group generally, has to work within the conventions of each country in drawing the dividing line between the public and the private sector.

Private sector development pertains not only to the realm of organized industry, finance, and commerce, but also to all areas of activity in which private initiative can have a useful role. Private enterprise activities in education, health, infrastructure, and other services are therefore included in the definition of private sector in this report. (Private activities in agriculture are also covered by this definition, but they have been excluded from consideration here.) Also included here are informal, unorganized, or underground activities, which in many developing countries form a sizable and dynamic sector of the economy, outside of the statutory framework of laws, regulations, and taxation.

The characteristics of the private sector vary widely among developing countries. At one extreme are the dynamic, well-established private sectors of the newly industrialized economies, such as the Republic of Korea or Singapore, which have a diversified structure of enterprises of all sizes and well-

developed capital markets. At the other extreme are the nascent private sectors in, for example, much of Sub-Saharan Africa. Here private activity consists mainly of very small-scale businesses concentrated in the informal sector and agriculture, and a few, often monopolistic or principally foreign-owned enterprises. In between these two extremes are the private sectors of countries such as Côte d'Ivoire, Peru, or Tunisia, which are moving tentatively into largescale modern activities but are still dominated by small-scale enterprises in traditional agriculture, trading, and services. Because of these and other important differences among countries (in their political systems and social goals), efforts to support PSD need to be tailored to the specific characteristics of each country.

A private sector can operate efficiently only if it works within the environment of a well-functioning market system, which provides price signals that accurately reflect the social costs and benefits of production. If the market environment is highly distorted—in the sense that there are great discrepancies between social and financial costs or benefits due to monopolies, externalities, or government intervention—the private sector is likely to act in an inefficient way, wasting the economy's resources on unsustainable activities. The existence of a sizable and strong private sector is therefore not sufficient to ensure efficient development. PSD also requires that the market environment in which the private sector works be improved, so that those activities already carried out in the private sector may be done more efficiently.

Evolving Views of the Private Sector

From the 1940s into the 1970s public policy in much of the developing world, as in the industrial coun-

tries, was characterized by a confidence in the capacity of government to act as the main spur to development and to correct market failures. This confidence was based on many factors: the underdeveloped state of private sectors and capital markets in many countries; the mistrust of the private sector stemming in part from the experience of the Great Depression and the Keynesian faith in expanded government spending as an antidote to unemployment; a fear of multinational corporations and expatriate domination of major sectors in the economy; and the trust placed by many development theorists and practitioners in central planning as a tool for accelerated development and greater equality of income distribution. All these factors combined to convince many governments that only they could mobilize and effectively deploy the financial and managerial resources required to promote development.

In many countries, this confidence in the public sector as the principal agent of development began to erode during the late 1970s and eroded even more during the 1980s. Many developing countries launched special initiatives to limit the growth or even to reduce the size of the public sector. Brazil, for example, introduced a National Debureaucratization Program in 1979, and Senegal set up in the early 1980s a Special Commission on the Disengagement of the State. What accounts for this change in direction of development strategy?

Public spending and other forms of government intervention have rapidly grown in developing countries since 1940: central government spending typically accounted for only 5 to 10 percent of gross national product before 1940; now it accounts for 20 to 30 percent, even without making allowance for the rapidly rising role of state-owned enterprises. This much-enlarged role of the public sector has brought into stark relief the evidence of bureaucratic shortcomings associated with the shortage of well-trained and organized civil servants. It has also showed many examples of public agencies that lack market tests and competitive pressures. As a result, many of them also lack financial discipline and efficient management.

The growth in government has also brought to the fore the issue of rising costs. The unintended distortions that accompany interventionist incentive policies have raised the economic and social costs of government. And tax burdens have increased to finance higher expenditures. Casual observation of these costs has been increasingly confirmed by specific research in areas such as trade policy, agricultural pricing, and tax policy.

As development proceeded rapidly during the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s, private sectors matured significantly in many developing countries. Research and experience began to demonstrate that private entrepreneurs, whether in agriculture, industry, or services, are in fact very responsive to economic incentives. Previously many development economists and planners had believed that the private sector in the developing world was inflexible and unresponsive to market signals. Therefore, they had reasoned, explicit government intervention, planning, and control was needed to achieve the levels and distribution of investment and economic activity necessary to support higher economic growth and development. Increasingly it was also recognized that competitive market pressures on private firms tend to improve their internal efficiency, particularly when compared with quasi-monopolistic public sector counterparts.

The rapid changes in the international economic environment that occurred in the 1970s and 1980s also shifted perceptions about the respective roles of the private and public sector. These changes included greater international competition, higher mobility of factors of production, more efficient flows of information, and faster technological change. Financial imbalances among the industrial countries, the resulting exchange and interest rate fluctuations, and gyrations in major commodity prices (especially for oil) also added a large element of uncertainty. Countries that adjusted rapidly to these changes were able to keep growing (Indonesia, Korea, and Thailand, for example). In contrast, countries that pursued inward-oriented trade strategies, that borrowed heavily to finance ambitious and often misguided development programs, and that did not adequately mobilize domestic savings in response to the apparent need for structural adjustment, encountered severe balance of payments and debt servicing problems. These in turn translated into a serious loss of growth momentum. Flexibility of the economic structure in the face of a highly uncertain international environment therefore came to be seen as a necessity.

Flexibility requires the capability and willingness to respond quickly to changing opportunities and international price signals. This response involves changing levels of production and factor use, the entry of new profitable enterprises, or the exit (through merger, liquidation, or bankruptcy) of unprofitable ones. Experience shows that governments are generally not very responsive to economic signals. The Korean government is an exception to

this rule; it has successfully orchestrated strong economic growth over the past three decades by showing considerable foresight and flexibility.

It is doubtful, however, that the Korean approach is transferable to countries with weaker public administrations and less cohesive central economic management. For most developing countries less, rather than more, public intervention in markets would be appropriate. The reduction in the share of public spending in the economy, which occurred in a number of developing countries during the 1980s following severe fiscal distress, was probably a step in the right direction. Economies based more on market-oriented, private activities tend to be more responsive to the signals of international markets and changing domestic opportunities.

To achieve greater economic efficiency and growth, governments in the developing world have shifted their development strategy from one based on a growing government role to one that seeks to support the development of the private sector and the improved functioning of markets. Indeed, many socialist economies have moved to reduce the scope of central planning in favor of an increased role of the market and have sought to increase the scope for private initiative.

The Bank Group's Approach

One of the principal objectives of the Bank, as set out in its Articles of Agreement, is the promotion and encouragement of private investments for productive purposes. Accordingly, it has always been the Bank Group's policy to help countries obtain the advantages of private initiative and market discipline in promoting efficient development.

Bank Group support for private sector development has been concentrated in three areas: developing a supportive environment of stable macroeconomic conditions and appropriate overall incentives; strengthening the support services for private sector productive activities by improving the physical and human infrastructure of a country; and providing financial resources for the private sector through direct lending (albeit with government guarantees, in the case of the Bank) or through lending to financial intermediaries. For was set up specifically

as the Bank Group's arm for lending to the private sector without guarantees and has done so ever since its creation in 1956. Of the total \$140 billion of IBRD and IDA funds lent from the Bank's creation through fiscal 1987, \$14 billion (10 percent) has gone to non-project (program, sector, or policy) lending, \$76 billion (54 percent) to infrastructure and human resource development loans, and \$37 billion (26 percent) to finance predominantly private agricultural and industrial activities. IFC investment activity since its creation has totaled \$10 billion.

Despite the Bank Group's concern with private sector development from its inception, it, like its client governments, took part in the shift in development strategy. Into the 1970s the Bank tended to favor an expanded role for government and public sector entities in seeking to increase the mobilization of resources and the rate of investment, while also working to improve the efficiency of public and private resource allocation. During the late 1970s and even more so during the 1980s, the direction of the Bank Group's analytical work, as well as its lending, increasingly shifted to improving the functioning of markets, reducing the distortions created by government intervention, limiting or reversing the growth of public spending, and exploring more actively the role that private enterprises could play in traditional public sector responsibilities. Although this shift is not readily quantifiable, important examples are cited in the next few paragraphs.

Since their inception in 1978, the Bank's annual World Development Reports have placed increasing emphasis on delineating the appropriate roles for the public and the private sector and on limiting public sector involvement to those areas where it is best equipped to foster development. The government's role is seen primarily in the provision of public goods (including defense, diplomacy, macroeconomic management, and a legal and institutional system that defines and enforces the rules of justice, property, and commerce) and in the provision of social, physical, and information infrastructure, where market failures are common and basic needs have to be met. Other areas, especially agriculture, industry, energy, and mining, are better left to the private sector, although some public support and regulation may be needed.

Increasing attention has been given in the Bank's policy analysis, dialogue, and lending to improving the functioning of markets, especially through macroeconomic management and incentive policies in trade, agricultural pricing, and finance. The initiation of adjustment lending in fiscal 1980 and the

^{1.} IDA'S Articles of Agreement permit it to lend directly to the private sector without government guarantee. In practice this has never been done, because of the view that the sizable subsidy implicit in IDA terms should not go directly to individual public or private actors, but rather accrue to the country as a whole. Accordingly, IDA credits are lent to governments, which may onlend them to private entities at market or near-market terms.

expanded use of this instrument subsequently provided a vehicle for translating concern for markets into an active policy dialogue with governments (see chapter 2). The Bank Group has also given active support during the 1980s for the increased reliance on market forces in centrally planned economies, particularly in China, but also in Eastern Europe and other socialist developing economies (see box 1-1).

During the 1970s and into the 1980s the Bank Group significantly expanded its support for financial market and industrial sector development. The Bank boosted its lending through financial intermediaries, with most of the benefit of the on-lent funds going to private enterprises. It developed new lending instruments (apex loans, financial and industrial sector loans) to assist financial and industrial sector development, and it carried out extensive research and sector work. For example, in the East Asia Region at least fourteen major economic and sector reports were prepared during fiscal 1979–87 on the

Box 1-1. Centrally Planned Economies

What role does private sector development have to play in the Bank Group's member countries where central planning has, at least in the past, dominated?

Yugoslavia, many years ago, and more recently China, Hungary, and Poland all joined the Bank to secure resources and assistance in moving their economies toward market-based, outward-oriented systems. All four countries also joined IFC, a further signal of their desire to look for opportunities to begin to reduce the role of state intervention.

Yugoslavia adopted early on a quite radical decentralized structure in which the state did not own enterprises and production plans were not handed down from on high. Foreign investors were invited to set up joint ventures, and trade was redirected toward the West. It was a bold experiment that brought considerable dynamism to economic activity. However, decentralization was not followed by adequate discipline. Yugoslavia's unique, consensus-building political and managerial system began to bog down. Loss-makers were excessively protected; the banking system, which ultimately is the allocator of resources for investment, was increasingly controlled by the enterprises it was financing; and growing inefficiencies in the system were covered by foreign borrowings.

Yet there are many examples of well-managed dynamic enterprises in Yugoslavia. Efficiency *can* be improved, and Yugoslavia is on the verge of further, deep reforms to reset its course more vigorously toward a market economy. Provided policy reform proceeds apace, the Bank Group through structural adjustment lending, financial market interventions, and joint ventures can be of significant assistance at this critical juncture.

Hungary and Poland have also started introducing market forces and supporting private initiatives. In Hungary, the Bank has supported these efforts through its lending program and economic sector work. Actual encouragement of private activity has come in three ways: (a) loosening some restrictions on small, private business endeavors, (b) encouraging the cooperative movement, which for some time has been more arms-length from the state than the formal state sector, and (c) encouraging joint ventures whereby enterprises that would have been in the state are, de facto, privatized by the entry of foreign investors. IFC has been centrally involved in all the major joint ventures actually agreed to since these policy changes were put in place and is financing the cooperative sector in agribusiness and industry. Bank operations in Poland have not yet commenced, although IFC has begun to finance nonstate ventures. Based on the considerable exploratory work by the Bank and IFC, the potential for private initiative appears to be considerable.

Realism is required as to the pace and result of moving toward a more open and thus disciplined economic system, given the economic history of these countries. But the start made is both courageous and impressive.

In China, the transition to an economy where market forces are being increasingly brought into play began with the opening up of the economy and reforms of agriculture in 1979. During the 1980s these reforms were gradually extended to industry and the towns. Price reform is a key element. Macroeconomic management-including fiscal, credit, and pricing policies—are playing a greater role. After a reform and decentralization of the banking system, interest rates are beginning to reflect the scarcity of capital. Foreign investment through joint ventures has been stimulated. Individual initiative and competitive pressures are being encouraged in many areas of the economy. Even bankruptcy rules have been established on an experimental basis. The World Bank Group has supported this reform drive from early on. Through economic and sector work, lending operations, and research, the Bank has provided assistance in a broad range of sectors and issues; IFC has provided substantial advice on the foreign investment framework and assisted in structuring specific joint ventures.

topics of trade and industrial and financial development.² Similar work was undertaken in other regions.

During the same period, IFC expanded its capabilities in direct investment and lending to private sector enterprises, capital market development, and support for foreign direct investment. More recently, MIGA was created as a new arm of the Bank Group to facilitate direct foreign investment (see chapter 4 for a more extensive discussion).

In regard to infrastructure and human resource development, the Bank has also been increasingly concerned with identifying and supporting the appropriate division of public and private responsibilities. In the urban sector, for example, the Bank has actively promoted, beginning in the early 1970s, a policy shift in developing countries away from the construction of public housing to the provision of infrastructure services (see chapter 3 for more about this and other examples).

Although in the past the Bank Group concentrated on strengthening state-owned enterprises—and in a number of cases supported the creation of new ones—during the 1980s it has increasingly turned to encouraging government efforts to privatize such enterprises. As of fiscal 1988 there were some forty-one projects approved and thirty-one projects under preparation by the Bank that included a component supporting the divestiture of state-owned enterprises through liquidation, sale, contracting out, or leasing. Bank support has taken the form of conditions in structural or sector adjustment loans, studies to help identify divestiture candidates and design sales programs, and financing for legal, accounting, or investment banking advice (see chapter 2, box 2-1).

The Bank's reorganization in 1987 led to the creation of a new division with the explicit mandate to examine and support the Bank's private sector development efforts. Since its creation, this division has actively developed a work program in the area of PSD.

The Bank Group has been involved in assisting legal and regulatory reform to reduce red tape, promote investment, increase competition and eliminate public monopolies; in strengthening the public institutions that encourage entrepreneurial development and promoting a better dialogue between public and private sectors through workshops, semi-

nars, and similar forums; and in assisting microenterprises, peasant agriculture, and the informal sector by increasing access to credit, securing property rights, and addressing legal, regulatory, and other factors that drive business underground.

However, the Bank Group's coverage of these issues has been unsystematic, sometimes even neglected, compared with its more traditional concern with broad incentive systems, infrastructure development, development finance, and public sector management. Even in these more traditional areas the Bank Group's renewed emphasis on the private sector and market orientation has been reflected in an ad hoc way. The Bank's knowledge of enterprise and financial market development in many member countries remains fragmentary. New instruments (financial sector loans, public sector restructuring loans) have been developed only slowly.

A Strategy for Bank Group Support

As a first step in responding to these concerns, it is necessary to develop a strategic framework for the involvement of the Bank Group in private sector development. The six elements of such a framework are laid out as follows:

First, private sector development is an integral part of the Bank Group's work. It is not a separate topic or discipline requiring isolated treatment, either in the instruments to be used (policy and project lending, technical assistance, research, and policy dialogue) or in organizational responsibilities. Nevertheless, a sharper focus on PSD is necessary to ensure that the contributions it can make to development are fully utilized.

Second, growth and economic efficiency, complemented by the need to alleviate poverty, should be the main criteria for judging the right boundaries to the private and public sectors. In this respect, the expansion of competitive markets and deregulation may be as important as transfer of ownership. If there is a transfer of ownership to the private sector, positive steps should be taken to protect the public interest by ensuring that a new private enterprise does not exploit a monopolistic position. Public interventions in the name of poverty alleviation have often failed to achieve that goal while imposing considerable loss of efficiency. An increased role for private initiative, in contrast, may improve access by the poor to essential goods and services at lower cost (see chapter 3 for examples).

Third, the Bank Group's approach to PSD must be

^{2.} This work was reviewed and summarized in a regional report by Amar Bhattacharya and Johannes F. Linn, *Trade and Industrial Policies in the Developing Countries of East Asia*, Discussion Paper 27 (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1988).

pragmatically tailored to different country circumstances. Countries have different political, social, and economic systems and objectives. Moreover, their private sectors vary widely in structure, characteristics, and capacities. Thus a variety of strategies are required for private sector development, depending on a particular country's circumstances.

Fourth, in developing its country-specific strategy for PSD, the Bank Group will have to consider the appropriate mix of five possible approaches:

- the *incentives approach*, stressing the reduction of distortions in country or sectorwide incentive structures through appropriate reform of macroeconomic, trade, tax, and financial market policies
- the deregulation approach, emphasizing the reduction of unnecessary regulations, restrictions, and other public interventions in the private sector
- the *promotion approach*, designed to encourage PSD through provision of credit, information, and advisory services
- the *development approach*, focusing on the creation of physical and human infrastructure required by private entrepreneurs
- the *privatization approach*, transferring functions and enterprises from the public to the private sector through divestiture of state-owned enterprises, contracting out or leasing of activities or functions, and reducing public involvement in particular areas while permitting greater private initiative. Fifth, country-oriented strategies could broadly involve the following priorities for the Bank Group:

- in the *highly indebted, middle-income countries*, the Bank Group should work to develop a supportive policy and regulatory environment that promotes domestic competition
- in *Sub-Sabaran Africa* the stress should be on creating the institutional and policy framework to stimulate entrepreneurship and ensure the development of the minimum physical and human infrastructure required for long-term PSD
- in much of South Asia the primary focus should be on the promotion of deregulation and liberalization of overly bureaucratized administrative and incentive systems
- the East Asian market economies provide an opportunity to strengthen PSD in a number of areas (for example, regulatory reforms), but mostly they provide a wide range of experiences of broadly successful PSD, which should inform Bank work in other regions
- in the *centrally planned economies* the Bank Group's role should be to encourage and support government efforts to expand the role of markets and of private initiative.

Sixth, country-specific PSD strategies will have to be supported by analytical work that explores the various experiences with PSD and focuses particularly on areas that have previously been neglected. This work should be carried out both at the country level through appropriate country economic and sector work, and at an intercountry level through research and policy studies.

2 Improving the Enabling Environment

The private sector responds to signals from the overall economic, legal, and regulatory environment in which it operates, and it depends on the supporting inputs, especially infrastructure services and human resources. If the signals are distorted, the private sector will reflect these distortions. If infrastructure and human resource inputs are limited in accessibility, low in quality, and high in cost, the growth of the private sector, and thus the growth of the entire economy, will be stunted. Many of the private sector's problems lie in the various factors that distort the environment for private agents. Improvements in this "enabling" environment are almost always necessary to enable the private sector to function efficiently. Thus they are an essential component of any strategy for private sector development.

Seven main factors contribute to the enabling environment:

- the state of the international economy
- the domestic macroeconomic conditions and policies
- the domestic incentives for private producers and consumers
- the legal and regulatory framework within which the private sector operates
- the efficacy of public sector institutions
- the physical and social infrastructure
- the efficiency with which the country's financial sector mobilizes and intermediates financial resources.

The first of these factors, the international economy, is obviously important to developing economies, especially those that are small and open to international trade and capital flows. The external shocks of the 1970s and 1980s have brought home the need for a flexible domestic economic system, which can respond quickly to changes in the interna-

tional environment. Nonetheless, international economic conditions—commodity prices, interest rates, growth in developing countries' export markets, access to international capital flows, and aid—are, to a considerable extent, the outcome of policy decisions by the governments of the industrial countries. These policies and their potential impact on the world economic outlook have been discussed in successive *World Development Reports* and will not be considered further in this report.

The last two factors—infrastructure and financial sector policies—are discussed in chapters 3 and 4. The current chapter concentrates on the remaining factors in the enabling environment for PSD: macroeconomic conditions and policies, incentives, the legal and statutory framework, and public sector institutions. For each of these four factors an overview of how it affects PSD in developing countries is followed by an assessment of what the Bank Group has done and could do better to assist its members in strengthening the enabling environment. ¹

The Bank has traditionally emphasized the enabling environment for private sector development in its research and operations. Research staff have thoroughly analyzed virtually all the factors mentioned above in a country or cross-country context. In country economic and sector work, operational staff

^{1.} The analytical presentation draws on much accumulated Bank work, especially as summarized over the years in *World Development Reports*, published annually by Oxford University Press. The information and conclusions on the Bank Group's operational experience summarized here draws on two recent reviews: World Bank Country Economics Department, *Adjustment Lending: An Evaluation of Ten Years of Experience*, Policy and Research Series 1 (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1988) and an internal report on the Bank Group's experience with private sector development.

have assessed many aspects of the enabling environment and, based on this analysis, have carried on policy dialogue with member countries. In the preparation and supervision of investment projects, operational staff have also pursued individual aspects of the enabling environment for particular sectors or institutions. Finally, the introduction of structural and sectoral adjustment lending-and concomitant assessments of the policy framework jointly with the International Monetary Fund in the case of lowincome countries—has provided the Bank Group with its most comprehensive and effective tool to assist member governments in improving the the enabling environment for PSD. (Box 2-1 gives an example of how structural adjustment lending has addressed specific aspects of the enabling environment in Thailand.)

Macroeconomic Conditions and Policies

How They Affect PSD

Macroeconomic conditions in a country influence the private sector through their effects on the production and investment climate in which private producers operate. Fiscal policy (especially the management of the public sector deficit), monetary policy, and the management of the nominal exchange rate shape the macroeconomic conditions faced by the private sector. Among these three, fiscal policy is most important for maintaining a stable macroeconomic environment in developing countries. Monetary policy, because of the limited development of domestic financial markets and institutions in most developing countries, has little scope for independence. Nominal exchange rate management, although important in the short term, is less significant in the longer run.

Imprudent fiscal management leads to an overvalued and unstable exchange rate, a high real interest rate, and high inflation. These in turn result in current account deficits and accumulation of foreign debt, crowding out of private investment, inefficiencies in domestic production, and the serious risk of capital flight. Ultimately, the country's creditworthiness may be impaired to the extent that it loses access to voluntary lending from commercial borrowers. This loss of creditworthiness, in turn, seri-

Box 2-1. Improving the Enabling Environment through Structural Adjustment Lending: The Case of Thailand

The Bank approved two structural adjustment loans for Thailand in 1982 and 1983. Both loans were in support of the structural reforms initiated by the Royal Thai government as part of its Fifth Development Plan (1982–86). Thailand's experience of adjustment has been one of success: it has avoided economic crisis and sustained strong economic and export growth. The responsiveness of Thailand's economy has been partly due to its traditional reliance on a dynamic private sector, but also to the government's willingness to reverse potentially damaging policy directions, some of which directly interfered with efficient private sector development.

The Bank's structural adjustment loans supported policy reform designed to improve the enabling environment for PSD in the following areas:

- *Macroeconomic management*: reduction in the budget deficit through reduced public spending and increased public revenue mobilization (both taxes and user charges)
- Incentive reform
 - reduction in industrial tariff protection
 - · reduction in agricultural export taxation
 - improvements in central and local government tax structure and administration

- reduction in subsidies on energy prices
- reduction in subsidies for water, bus, and railway prices
- elimination of price controls
- streamlining of investment incentives
- strengthening of export incentives (tax rebates and credit)
- elimination of rice price support schemes
- The legal and regulatory framework
 - elimination of export restrictions
 - deregulation of livestock and meat marketing
 - improvements in rural land tenure system
 - reform of domestic content legislation (automobile industry)
- Reform of public institutions
 - liquidation of small commercial state-owned enterprises
 - diagnostic study of all state-owned enterprises
 - review of public expenditure priorities and selective cut-backs in low-priority areas
 - various efforts to improve performance of public institutions (planning, budgeting, accounting, civil service reforms).

Significant progress has been made in implementing these and complementary actions.

ously affects private producers and financial intermediaries in two ways: first, they lack direct access to foreign long-term finance; second, and more pervasively, the economic crisis forces drastic reductions in domestic aggregate spending and shifts in domestic production, much of which has to occur in the private sector. This, of course, is the problem today for most of the highly indebted countries.

In the absence of a stable macroeconomic environment, other efforts to support PSD—through incentives, the legal and regulatory framework, and financial sector management—will be severely limited in their effectiveness and may not be sustainable. In fact, it is often possible to trace the imposition of many inappropriate restrictions on private sector activity (higher import tariffs, price controls, and interest rate ceilings, to mention just a few) to a government's effort to redress the symptoms of macroeconomic instability rather than their underlying cause.

What the Bank Group Can Do

For each of its member countries the Bank reviews macroeconomic policies in close coordination with the International Monetary Fund (IMF). The principal vehicles for the Bank's operational work in this area are its country economic memoranda and reports and its adjustment lending operations. In connection with these activities, the Bank routinely assesses the macroeconomic conditions in the member countries and reviews the policies most likely to enhance the macroeconomic outlook of the country in the light of expected international economic developments. In addition, the Bank has for many years sponsored research and policy reviews that have led to a better understanding of the major factors that need to be addressed in the design of consistent and stable macroeconomic policies.

A recent review of adjustment lending has addressed the adequacy of the Bank's work in this area.² It suggests that the Bank's approach has generally been well designed and that macroeconomic issues have been given adequate consideration in country economic and sector work, policy dialogue, adjustment lending, and research. Nonetheless, some aspects of macroeconomic policy require more research and consideration in the design of country-specific policies. Questions that have recently come

The state of the s

2. World Bank Country Economics Department, Adjustment

to the forefront of the Bank's concerns in this area are:

- What must be done to ensure consistency of macroeconomic policies with the main macroeconomic goals of the government?
- What are the appropriate balance and relationships between stabilization and structural reforms?
- What are the appropriate timing and sequencing of macroeconomic and other policies?
- How can stabilization be achieved in highinflation countries?
- What are the lessons for macroeconomic policy in the low-income, Sub-Saharan countries?
- What is the role of the real exchange rate in determining economic performance and incentives?
- Can the analytical models used to evaluate adjustment programs within and across countries be improved?

Work on these questions is either under way or planned. This report recommends that this work be carried out expeditiously.

Domestic Incentives

How They Affect PSD

Achieving and maintaining stable and prudent macroeconomic policies are necessary but not sufficient conditions for effective PSD. Other elements of the enabling environment are essential ingredients. In particular, government policies affect the incentives faced by private producers and consumers. Trade policy, tax policy, pricing of publicly produced products, and special incentives for investment and exports are briefly reviewed here.

Trade Policy. Import substitution and inwardlooking trade policies characterized the development strategies of many developing countries through the 1970s. Research and policy experience now demonstrate that an outward-oriented trade strategy is more likely to lead to a dynamic and efficient private sector. Outward orientation is defined here as a neutral trade regime, which does not favor import-substituting activities over export-oriented production. Private sector activity is directly affected by protectionist trade policies, which distort relative prices. It is also negatively affected by the frequent instability of such policies, and by the need to devote scarce financial and managerial resources to competing for the economic rents implicit in protectionist policies.

Trade policy reform requires a reduction in the level and dispersion of protection for domestic industries and a reduction in the taxation of exports. Moreover, whatever level of protection is in place, it is usually better achieved through tariffs than quantitative restrictions. Two caveats are in order, however. First, some private producers (and consumers) will be negatively affected by trade policy reform, although on balance the private sector will be better off over the long term. Second, full neutrality in the trade regime, especially the elimination of all import tariffs, cannot usually be a short-term goal for developing countries. Tariffs are an important source of tax revenues in many developing countries, especially the poorer ones, and some, albeit low, protection of domestic industries may be appropriate to deepen the domestic industrial structure.

Tax Policy. Most taxes affect private consumption, savings, investment, and production decisions. But views about the ability of tax policy to control such decisions have changed over the years, just as views about development itself have changed. The view that taxes can be effectively and widely used to steer private sector development (raise savings and investment, direct production into particular sectors and locations, redistribute income, and so forth) has now shifted to the view that taxes have a limited scope to achieve broader social goals. According to the new view, tax systems should be designed to raise the revenue necessary for public spending programs in the least costly manner, with the least distortion of private sector decisions. Tax reforms, therefore, should stress broadening the tax base rather than raising rates, eliminating unintended disincentives to investment and differentiation in tax burdens for the company income tax; replacing distortive turnover taxes by value added taxes; limiting the progression of personal income tax rates in higher tax brackets, while exempting low-income taxpayers altogether; and simplifying tax structures, administration, and compliance at all levels of government. All these changes are specifically designed to lower the cost of taxation to the private sector.

Pricing. Setting efficient prices for publicly provided goods and services is important for private sector development. Although subsidized prices lower the private costs in the short term, they not only lead to inefficient consumption patterns, but also tend to erode the financial viability of the public agency providing the goods and services and thus undermine its ability to provide quality products.

Furthermore, subsidies have to be financed from some source, either general taxes or higher prices for some consumers. This in turn results in higher private costs. For example, the common practice of subsidizing residential users of power and water by charging more to industrial and commercial users distorts private production decisions and can reduce the international competitiveness of domestic producers.

Incentives. Many governments have traditionally sought to foster investment and exports through special incentive schemes, which relied heavily on tax and subsidy instruments, in addition to regulatory interventions (see below). Although in principle designed to support the development of certain favored segments of the private sector, such incentive schemes have in practice suffered from serious shortcomings in design and implementation. Since such schemes often compensate for distortions introduced by other government policies (import restrictions and tax policies), it is generally better to reduce those distortions than to expand the special incentive schemes. In addition, streamlining existing special incentives systems, reducing their budgetary costs, and limiting the scope for bureaucratic discretion in their application can go a long way toward strengthening the country's incentive system.

What the Bank Group Can Do

Domestic incentive policies have been addressed extensively by the Bank in the context of its country economic and sector work, structural and sector adjustment lending, its policy work, and research. For example, four-fifths of all adjustment loans have had trade policy components; public revenue measures (including tax reform and public pricing measures) have been pursued in about one-quarter of all adjustment loans; reform of special investment and export regimes has been pursued intermittently. No systematic accounting of the extent of country economic and sector work in this area is readily available. Scattered evidence indicates that country economic and sector work has been extensive in the case of trade policy, but more selective in the areas of tax policy and special incentives. Bankwide and regional policy and research studies have been carried out in all these areas and have reviewed typical country approaches and drawn lessons for policy design and implementation.

From the information currently available, it is clear that the Bank's research and policy studies in this

area have made a significant contribution to the general understanding of how to design appropriate incentives systems. Similarly, the level of attention given to trade reform in adjustment operations is appropriate; however, more attention should perhaps be given to tax policy and special incentives reform. To the extent that reforms have not been implemented as expeditiously or extensively under these operations as had been expected (tariff reductions have been significant only in six out of forty countries recently examined by the Bank; significant tax reform has taken place in only four countries), more emphasis will have to be given to the details of reform implementation and constraints on implementation capacity, to government commitment and political opposition, and to policy conflicts. To do so effectively requires more intensive preparation and supervision of the relevant components of adjustment loans.

The Legal and Regulatory Framework

How It Affects PSD

The laws governing property rights—the rules of the game for ownership and exchange—also govern the working of markets and thus profoundly affect the efficiency of the private sector. Clear, simple laws, effectively applied, are essential for generating expectations of a stable and supportive business climate, both for domestic and foreign investors. Shortcomings are common, however. Surveys have shown that uncertainty about the rules of the game has been a major concern for foreign investors. Two particular areas have been of special importance in many developing countries: land tenure security and the rules governing the exit of firms. Research has shown that uncertain land tenure limits private incentive for improving the land, both in rural and in urban areas. Lack of clear laws governing commercial liability, bankruptcy, and liquidation may have been one of the factors limiting the responsiveness of many developing countries to changes in the international environment.

Government regulation of private sector activity has a legitimate role. Indeed, it is at times preferable to public ownership and management of firms. It is appropriate when markets fail, as in the case of natural monopolies (water resources) or externalities (congestion and pollution). In practice, however, governments have used regulatory intervention for many other purposes, frequently to counteract the undesired effects of other government interventions.

For example, price controls have been introduced to limit inflation generated by poor macroeconomic policies; import quotas have often been imposed in reaction to current account deficits resulting from overvalued exchange rates; import and investment licensing has often been an effort to allocate the rents generated by import controls to preferred firms (this applies especially to restrictions placed on foreign investors); rent control has frequently been a response to rising urban property prices as a result of poor land use and infrastructure policies. The danger of such interventions is that they tend to reduce the flexibility of the private sector, raise its costs, and increase the uncertainty under which it operates. Often these interventions drive businesses "underground" or into the "informal" realm. Perhaps most important, regulations often limit the entry and exit of new firms, especially smaller firms, by giving existing, larger firms an advantage over the small newcomer. Even regulations ostensibly designed to deal with market failures are often more effective in limiting the entry of new firms than in limiting the detrimental aspects of the externality or monopoly that they are supposed to control.

Reforms of the legal and regulatory framework are thus an essential counterpart to macroeconomic and incentive reforms. The elimination of all regulations is obviously not desirable, but unnecessary or overly restrictive ones should be eliminated after careful review. At the same time every effort should be made to foster the local legal and accounting professions, on whom heavy reliance will have to be placed in carrying out the reforms described in the following paragraphs.

What the Bank Group Can Do

The regulatory framework has received erratic treatment in Bank operations, including structural and sectoral adjustment lending and investment projects. Some form of regulatory reform appears in 48 of 109 projects recently reviewed by the Bank, principally in the policy-based operations.

Streamlined Procedures. Twenty-nine projects involved the abolition or streamlining of controls, the most frequent form of regulatory reform. Examples are the elimination of most import licenses (in a structural adjustment loan to Burundi), automatic access to importer-exporter cards (a structural adjustment loan to Senegal), and an effort to minimize regulation of investment (a structural adjustment loan to Pakistan). Another eight projects tried to cut red tape

by proposing a "one-stop-shop" for such things as approval of investment applications (a structural adjustment loan to Dominica) or for providing clearances and permits to potential export industries (a loan to Mauritius).

Investment Code. Ten projects (nine of them in Africa) proposed to study and revise the private sector investment code to provide more effective incentives for private domestic investment. Ten projects supported changes in the legislation governing foreign direct investment. For example, foreign investors were granted more equal treatment with domestic investors (a sectoral adjustment loan to Indonesia); they were entitled to deduct part of their taxes paid at home from their tax liabilities (a loan to Bolivia); and mining, petroleum, and tourism laws were reviewed with an eye toward promoting foreign private investment (adjustment loans to Turkey). IFC has also been active in the area of foreign direct investment. Its activities and those of MIGA are explored in more detail in chapter 4.

Labor Laws and Regulations. Only nine projects proposed revisions to labor legislation and practices. Labor legislation was to be revised to encourage employment by reducing social charges (a structural adjustment loan to Senegal); a study of wage and employment issues in the private sector was commissioned as a step toward improving wage negotiation, simplifying labor legislation, and developing a legal framework for a coherent wage and incomes policy that encourages industrialization and growth (a loan to Mauritius).

Competition. Many of the regulatory reforms initiated in Bank projects helped increase competition. Besides reducing import protection and price controls, quite a few projects also eliminated public monopolies or monopsonies. But only six of the projects explicitly addressed barriers to entry and exit, such as giving private dealers the right to buy fertilizer stocks from both public and private wholesalers (a sectoral adjustment loan to Pakistan) or the revision of the industrial development act to encourage competition and restrict protectionist use of the licensing system (a structural adjustment loan to Malawi). Only four projects sought to strengthen the government's capacity to identify and curb private sector monopolistic or oligopolistic tendencies.

Informal Enterprises. There is also little apparent effort to regularize the legal status of the informal sector or to remove discriminatory regulations. None of the projects studied addressed the legal sta-

tus of informal enterprises, although the structural adjustment loans to Jamaica supported the legalization of certain forms of foreign exchange trading. Nor were any projects found which changed the regulations dealing with informal or microenterprises. A few projects supported studies or technical assistance to government agencies to investigate how to assist the informal sector.

Property Rights. Despite the importance of ownership issues for access to credit and services, only one of the projects dealt with property rights, by accelerating distribution of land titles to employees laid off from privatized state enterprises (a structural adjustment loan to São Tomé and Principe). In addition to the projects studied a few other recent projects have dealt with land reform issues (for example, Thailand's structural adjustment loans). The Bank's urban projects often have also supported the regularization of urban land titles. Other property rights issues (for example, the right of women to own or inherit property) have apparently not been addressed in Bank projects.

Assessment and Recommendations. Although not entirely neglected, the legal and regulatory framework appears to be the weakest link in the Bank's support for PSD. Moreover, little systematic information appears to be available about the extent of implementation of the regulatory and legal measures agreed to, and about the impact of those measures that were actually taken. Among the reasons for this are principally:

- lack of government interest
- lack of prior research and country economic and sector work dealing with regulatory issues (exceptions are an internal 1986 study of industrial regulation in India, two similar studies in progress on Brazil and Indonesia, and a few research studies)
- limited staff resources and skills in dealing with regulatory and legal issues.

This report recommends that more research, country economic and sector work, and eventually lending resources be devoted to the legal and regulatory constraints to PSD. Future Bank operations in this area should also tap the technical expertise of IFC.

Public Institutions

How They Affect PSD

In many developing countries in recent years the public sector has assumed new functions and rapidly expanded its domain of public agencies and stateowned enterprises. As indicated in chapter 1, this expansion is now viewed in many countries as having gone too far. Efforts are under way to limit and streamline the role and number of public agencies, especially through privatization of state-owned enterprises, and to improve the quality of institutions that remain in the public sector.

Privatization. Privatization encompasses not only the sale of public assets to the private sector but also the transfer of management of other services performed by the state to private entities. Not many years ago the concept of privatization was almost unheard of in developing countries. Now it has almost become a buzzword in development conversations, as countries have become disenchanted with the performance of state enterprises. Small and large countries in each region have indicated intentions in regard to privatization. Although hard data are not available on the subject, it appears that there has been more talk than action. A Bank survey of thirtyseven countries showing interest in privatization found that in all but two (Chile and Bangladesh) fewer than twenty enterprises, primarily small ones, had been privatized.

These results, on reflection, are not surprising. The impediments to privatization vary widely from country to country, but may include (a) opposition from entrenched state bureaucracies or labor interests, (b) unrealistic hopes to sell enterprises that should perhaps be liquidated,³ (c) indecision about whether to sell "as is" at low prices or to attempt restructuring and then sell, (d) political concerns about concentration of control in the hands of local powerful groups or foreign investors, and (e) serious valuation gaps between buyers and the government. The two important elements to serious progress in the area of privatization are political will and a pragmatic, hand-tailored approach.

Of course, privatization is not an end in itself and certainly should not be promoted merely on ideological grounds. The acid test for any privatization proposal is whether, given all the circumstances in the country concerned, it can be relied upon to promote economic efficiency. For example, selling a firm that continues to operate in a highly protected environment cannot be expected to bring long-run

benefits. Hence, if maximum benefits are to be achieved, positive steps should be taken (such as regulatory, tariff, or licensing reforms) to create a competitive environment. This may not be easy in small countries with limited economic development. Nevertheless, it is clear that in many cases privatization would make a valuable contribution to economic efficiency. Privatization can also provide new and attractive investment opportunities to foreign investors, including those interested in debt-equity swaps, as well as to holders of flight capital from the country concerned.

Other Reforms of Public Institutions. When privatization is not appropriate or possible, the efficacy of public institutions must be increased, both to lower budgetary costs and to ensure greater benefits from public intervention, be it through more effective public spending or better administration of government regulations. The quality of government is clearly crucial to the private sector. Effective public planning, budgeting, and administration are major areas for policy reform, but go beyond the scope of this report. (See World Development Reports for 1983 and 1988.)

What the Bank Group Can Do

Two issues are briefly addressed here: the treatment of privatization of state-owned enterprises in Bank operational work and the treatment of the private sector in the Bank's public expenditure and investment reviews and related adjustment lending conditionality.

Privatization. Privatization has been supported by the World Bank as part of its broad efforts to rationalize the performance of state-owned enterprises and by IFC as part of its support for the development of private sector activities. The Bank's work usually involves country economic and sector work, structural and sectoral adjustment lending, and public enterprise restructuring loans. Of the 109 projects in the previously mentioned survey, 33 provided for divestiture, 21 contained components involving other forms of privatization (leasing, management contracts, concessions, and so forth), and 30 provided for liquidation of state-owned enterprises. In a number of countries, adjustment loans also contained diagnostic studies which categorized state-owned enterprises according to their appropriate eventual disposition (public ownership and management, public ownership and private management

^{3.} Liquidation is the appropriate response in cases where there is no economic and financial merit in continuing the business. Indeed the limited data available suggests that liquidation has outpaced actual privatization.

or leasing, divestiture, or liquidation). Interestingly, divestiture and liquidation were the two most common features of institutional reforms among the projects studied. IFC's efforts have been in both advisory and financing capacities. It has financed twelve restructuring operations that involved privatization largely in Africa and Latin America. It is currently involved in advisory work in a number of other cases.

Divestiture and liquidation, however, have proved difficult to carry out, even where governments are firmly committed. Thin local capital markets, resistance to purchases by foreign or minority investors, difficulties in determining an accurate sales price, political obstacles, and labor opposition were just some of the factors limiting the extent and speed of divestiture and liquidation. Other forms of privatization, although they are being explored, have so far found only limited application. In the Bank Group, the ability to assist governments has been hampered by limited in-house expertise in relation to the high intensity of staff input required.

This report recommends an expansion of the Bank's research and advisory capacity on privatization, especially as regards the institutional and incentive framework; an increase in the analysis of the legal and regulatory environment for privatization; an expansion of the technical operational support in the design of components for adjustment and restructuring loans dealing with privatization; and an expansion of IFC's capacity to provide technical assistance and advice to the Bank and to governments and to prepare for specific privatization undertakings. MIGA's start-up is also propitious, for it can provide incentives for foreign capital in relation to privatization. In any case, operations designed to support privatization should be realistic about the scope and speed of progress.

Public Expenditures. The Bank has carried out many reviews of public expenditure over the past decade. Many of these studies, and the adjustment operations drawing on their findings, have advocated cuts in public spending and changes in priorities, mainly to reduce the public sector deficit and eliminate low-priority projects. Reducing the deficit indirectly affects the private sector, as it reduces the crowding out of private by public activities. Moreover, to the extent that high-priority expenditures are frequently those most complementary to private sector activities (operation and maintenance spending for infrastructure, for example), cuts of low-priority expenditure are indirectly supportive of PSD.

However, it does not appear that public expenditure reviews have explicitly considered ways to increase private sector participation in the provision of services. This report recommends that this question be more explicitly addressed in future public expenditure reviews. The sector policy studies on PSD proposed below will provide guidance and support for the country specific work in this area.

The Need for a Comprehensive Framework

The factors that contribute to the enabling environment for private sector development are highly interactive:

- A stable macroeconomic setting is essential for effective reform of incentives.
- Macroeconomic stabilization without structural reform may damage growth performance.
- Incentive reforms have fiscal implications that can threaten macroeconomic stability.
- Reform of incentives without reform in the legal and regulatory framework will limit the supply responses.
- Privatizing state-owned enterprises into a distorted market environment may make matters worse.
- "Getting the prices right" will not be of much use when much of the productive capacity of a country is owned and run by the government.
- Sustaining a supportive policy environment is impossible if the administrative capabilities of the government are weak.
- The quality of government may suffer where the incentive, legal, and regulatory framework provides ample opportunities for civil servants to abuse their discretionary powers.

For these reasons, reforms designed to strengthen the enabling environment for the private sector have to be based on an understanding, at the country level, of the binding constraints, the essential interactions among them, and the importance of timing and sequencing, so that reforms may be effective and sustainable.

The enabling environment is particularly important for two special areas of concern: entrepreneurial and technological development. Entrepreneurship is the ability to identify and exploit profitable business opportunities. Entrepreneurs are risk takers, innovators, people able to manage and market. They have a central role in PSD. Studies of entrepreneurs have found them generally concentrated in small firms, among members of minority groups, among the better educated, and located often in the central areas of

large cities, where they have ready access to labor markets and business services. Studies also indicate that in developing countries potential entrepreneurs are not in short supply, not even in the least developed countries in Sub-Saharan Africa.

Instead, the scope for entrepreneurial development in developing countries is often limited by policies that tend to be stacked against the typical entrepreneur. These policies are usually the ones reviewed here as determining factors of the enabling environment. Weakness in supporting services and in financial market policies further aggravates this bias. Governments can go a long way in fostering entrepreneurial growth by removing international trade and regulatory barriers against small firms, by reexamining their policies toward minority and foreign-owned firms and the domestic trading sector, by increasing access to basic education and infrastructure, and by ensuring that the financial system can respond flexibly and competitively to the special needs of the small firm.

Another critical element in PSD, also dependent in part on the enabling environment, is technological change. Many governments in developing countries want to move ahead in what they see as a rapidly changing race in the development and adaptation of technology. The temptation has been to get public agencies to take direct responsibility for the development and intermediation of technology, to the exclusion of other options. Studies of technological development have concluded that the demand side, in particular the competition and the incentives that domestic industry face, is as important as the supply side, if not more important. These studies have also found that controls on technology imports are generally not an effective means of developing an indigenous technological capacity; that on balance more resources should be devoted to technology adaptation than new technology development through

basic research; that effective interaction between publicly supported technology development institutions and private industry is essential; and that fiscal and credit measures in support of technological development should be unambiguous and simple and should involve some cost-sharing by the benefiting industry. The elements that make up a good enabling environment in general therefore also apply to the specific case of technological development.⁴

In sum, efforts to improve the enabling environment are an essential part of any strategy to foster private sector development, entrepreneurship, and technological development. The factors that determine the enabling environment are interrelated and need to be treated in a comprehensive framework. Such a framework has to be country specific and strategic in nature. This report recommends that considerations of the enabling environment be made an integral part of the Bank Group's country strategies for PSD. Adjustment operations are the natural vehicle to translate analytical insights into explicit support through lending operations. Without overburdening existing adjustment programs, reforms in the enabling environment should feature prominently in future adjustment loans. The scope of such operations can be appropriately narrowed, as in the case of the recent restructuring or adjustment loans to the Philippines and Indonesia. In any case, it is essential that the narrower adjustment operations be firmly embedded in a clear macroeconomic strategy accepted by the government.

^{4.} Other elements supportive of technological development include the establishment or strengthening of scientific research and teaching institutions—this is an area where the Bank has provided support—and assistance to governments in locating, evaluating, and acquiring technologies—this is an area in which IFC is considering the development of advisory capabilities. Both efforts by the Bank Group should be further strengthened.

3 Providing Infrastructure and Services

Creating and maintaining infrastructure and social services are preconditions for the development of the private sector, as well as general economic growth. They affect an enterprise's cost of doing business in a country and its competitiveness in international markets. Transport and communications systems are critical in linking production points with markets, whether foreign or domestic. Power and water are essential inputs in the production process. Education, health care, housing, and other services affect the productivity of laborers and managers.

Many infrastructure and social services are widely recognized to be primarily the responsibility of government, because an unregulated private market would or could not provide them well. The first part of this chapter discusses how publicly financed and administered infrastructure activities, to which a large part of the World Bank's resources has traditionally been channeled, can stimulate the enabling environment for PSD.

The private sector may also have a greater role to play as a provider of these services, because the effectiveness of government intervention is limited. The second part of this chapter is devoted to the private sector's role as a provider of some services that have traditionally been considered public. The Bank Group has played only a limited role in this area.

Private Sector Development through Public Services

Why is public involvement sometimes necessary? A conventional market sets prices where buyers' willingness to pay equals suppliers' cost of providing the last unit consumed. But private and social benefits

and costs may significantly diverge for services that exhibit the characteristics of "public goods." For example, when an individual's consumption also affects the well-being of others, as it would for immunization, family planning, or basic education services, a private market would lead to underutilization of the service. Another example is basic research—because findings are easily disseminated and benefits widely shared in society, self-serving individuals need to be given an incentive to do more than they would normally do. Also, the government may simply have goals, such as the reduction of poverty, that are not adequately considered by individual consumers and entrepreneurs.

Another justification for public involvement in infrastructure is that private providers may find it difficult to obtain a fair return on their investment. For ports, telecommunications, and power systems, for example, expansion may require a few large investments rather than many small ones. Potential private providers would thus be deterred from entering without some assurance of a large market share. In other cases, such as urban road construction, the costs of identifying individual users and charging them may simply be too high.

The Impact of Publicly Provided Infrastructure

The impact of such public investments on private entrepreneurs, as well as on the general economy, is undeniable. Studies based on wage employment data show that the social rate of return to education, as calculated by comparing the higher lifetime productivity of educated workers employed in the private sector with the social cost of education, generally exceeds that of most alternative investments. This finding is corroborated by evidence that annual crop

Table 3-1. The Share of Infrastructure in Bank Lending, Fiscal 1960-87

(average annual share in percent)

Purpose	1960-64	1965-69	1970-74	1975-79	1980-84	1985-87
Education	0.5	3.4	5.1	4.4	4.4	4.7
Population, health, and nutrition	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.7	0.8	1.4
Irrigation and drainage	7.6	6.2	6.7	9.6	8.3	6.2
Research and extension	0.0	0.0	0.1	1.5	1.1	1.5
Power	32.1	25.8	17.8	12.7	15.5	16.6
Telecommunications	1.4	3.4	4.9	2.0	1.7	1.7
Urbanization	0.0	0.0	0.8	2.5	3.4	5.9
Water supply and sewerage	1.2	1.5	4.6	5.2	4.6	4.9
Transport	40.5	29.5	24.2	16.4	12.8	11.3
All infrastructure	83.3	69.8	64.8	55.0	52.5	54.2

Note: Infrastructure is broadly defined to include investments in human capital, as well as physical capital. Source: World Bank data.

yields of farmers with four years of education are as much as 9 percent higher than those of farmers with no education. Research in Seoul and São Paulo has shown that crowded city centers, which have good transport, electricity, and communications services, are good at hatching new industries. The proof that they act as incubators is that they have a substantial share of the total number of new jobs and firms in the city and attract small firms.

If the public sector did not provide these services, or provided them unreliably, the private sector would have to compensate. Many of these private infrastructure investments are inefficient because they are too small. For example, Nigerian manufacturers face frequent interruptions of publicly provided water, electricity, telecommunications, and waste disposal. They have had to make substantial capital investments in these services themselves, which adds to their production costs and thus has hurt their international competitiveness. Private water vendors, who have an inefficiently small volume of business, operate in cities where the unit cost of piped water provided by a utility would probably be much lower (by a factor of four in Lagos, three in Nairobi, and two in Lomé). Long-term development of the economy in general and the private sector in particular must therefore be complemented by efficiently built and operated infrastructure services, many of which need public support.

What the World Bank Has Done

The Bank has long been a major source of financing for investment in public infrastructure and supporting services. In the early 1960s such lending accounted for three-fourths of the Bank's portfolio (see table 3-1). Since then, the share has been declin-

ing, particularly as agricultural area development schemes took off in the early 1970s and nonproject lending grew rapidly in the 1980s. Still, lending in these sectors totaled more than half of all IBRD and IDA lending in fiscal 1987.

Physical Infrastructure. The Bank's investment in physical infrastructure has significantly extended Africa's formerly skeletal road network, Asia's irrigation systems, and Latin America's power capacity. Many of these projects have eliminated bottlenecks to private sector growth. Although it is difficult to isolate the direct impact of these projects on PSD, they have generally been successful on the basis of broader economic criteria.¹

The problems that infrastructure projects have faced reflect the general constraints on the public sector in developing countries (which are discussed more fully below). Inadequate tariff increases in the face of inflation and management problems have led to problems of sustainability in railways, water, and power projects.

Human Resources. In the mid to late 1960s the Bank started lending for human resource development. Investments in education and health raise the level of managerial and labor skills, which is critical for expanding the private sector. The magnitude of

^{1.} A recent review of project performance results by the Bank's Operations Evaluation Department indicates that, for projects audited between 1976 and 1985, the average economic rates of return for transport and urban development projects ranged from 17 to 23 percent—higher than the returns for agriculture and industry in eight of the ten years in the study period. Rates of return for power, water, and telecommunications projects, although not strictly comparable for methodological reasons, were also "judged to be satisfactory." World Bank Operations Evaluation Department, *Twelfth Annual Review of Project Performance Results* (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1987), p. 10.

the Bank's involvement has been large—almost \$8 billion since 1962 in education, for example. IDA alone contributed 14 percent of all external resource flows to African education and training in 1983–85. The Bank is now the largest international source of lending for health in developing countries.

All human resource investments, including basic education and primary health care, affect private sector development in the long run through their impact on labor force productivity. The Bank has also traditionally directed a large share of its human resource operations toward activities that have a more direct and immediate link with the private sector's labor market needs. Vocational education and training have taken up almost half of all Bank lending in education from the early 1960s to 1986. As indicated in box 3-1, the success of these projects in delivering the needed quality and quantity of trained labor to the private sector varies according to the type of training provided.

The Bank has also invested in more broadly based scientific and technical research. These investments have long-term payoffs to industry, particularly in rapidly modernizing economies. In Korea a sector loan in fiscal 1984 for science and technology provided loan assistance to strengthen the management of Korean grant-giving agencies for science, and it

encouraged closer coordination between graduate schools and research institutes. In Brazil two years later, a project for science and technology financed a program of research in science, chemical engineering, and biotechnology and promoted the setting of industrial measurement standards. A follow-up loan is currently being considered. These investments are too recent to be evaluated.

Limits to Publicly Provided Infrastructure

Despite this record, much more needs to be done by countries and the Bank to maintain what has already been built, never mind adding to it. In meeting this challenge, the public sector confronts severe constraints:

• Finance. The fiscal crisis that began in the 1970s slowed the expansion of infrastructure, although the need for it continued to grow. In a sample of fifteen developing countries, central government spending fell by 18 percent in real terms from 1979 to 1985, while spending on infrastructure alone fell by 25 percent. Many of the poorest countries have made large cuts in spending per capita for social services. Between 1975 and 1983, for example, real expenditure for each pupil in primary education declined in seventeen out of

Box 3-1. Bank Lending to Train Workers and Entrepreneurs

Although the Bank has continued its strong support for vocational education and training in the past decade, there have been significant changes in emphasis and considerable variation in investment performance. For example, Bank lending for diversified secondary schools (which combine academic and vocational curriculums) was virtually discontinued after a rigorous evaluation revealed that it was not cost-effective. Graduates were not entering the labor force at a higher rate than their counterparts in academic streams, even though more money was spent to expose them to more practical courses. Increasing emphasis has instead been given to the development of national industry training systems, often built around informal training centers and involving workstudy. Such systems have closer ties with employers and greater flexibility in responding to rapidly changing demands for skills. Bank research in Latin America found them to have high rates of return.

Another type of human resource investment closely linked to the labor market is project-related training—training components attached to traditional project

investments. For example, the recently approved Pakistan highway project contained a component to train local contractors in maintenance. Although project-related training is used in many Banksponsored projects to fill gaps in skills needed for construction and operation, various reviews have shown that the design and implementation of these components are frequently in need of improvement. The Bank has had more success in implementing its free-standing training projects, particularly those providing agricultural extension, management, and accountancy training.

For all of these systems a fundamental difficulty is that the public sector has difficulties in matching graduates, skills, and job needs. Manpower projections are cumbersome and inaccurate tools to assist the government in planning training places for the private sector. The signals and incentives inherent in training that is privately provided may better serve the needs of the labor market. Thus, options in the private sector, such as private training centers or on-the-job training, need to be given increased attention.

twenty-five low-income countries. Trends such as these suggest that the large gap in human resources between developing and industrial countries will widen.

• *Inefficiency*. A fundamental problem is that limited public resources tend to be badly used. Not enough is channeled toward cost-effective services. For example, a general neglect of maintenance has led to accelerating deterioration in existing capital stock. As a result, about a quarter of the paved roads in eighty-five developing countries are in need of reconstruction—at a cost three to five times that of timely maintenance. In some countries, de facto policies to have the public sector act as an employer of last resort have led to a large inflexible wage bill and, often, a wage structure devoid of incentives.

Because of these problems, the success of further investment in infrastructure depends upon complementary policies regarding pricing and institutional reform. Establishing appropriate pricing policies would give the right signals to public sector providers regarding investment needs and to private sector firms regarding use of the service. These issues are reviewed in detail in *World Development Report 1988*. Developing countries, with Bank assistance, have begun to address these issues with broadly based sector adjustment programs, in social as well as physical infrastructure.

Another type of reform is institutional—public administrators need to be more efficient themselves if they are to provide efficient and effective infrastructure conducive to PSD. Proper budgeting and managerial reforms in the public sector are discussed in the 1983 and 1988 editions of the *World Development Report*.

In some cases, countries have recognized that the public sector's pervasive role in the provision of infrastructure cannot be sustained. Adequate infrastructure depends not only on more resources for investments, but also on improvements in the way that such infrastructure is operated and maintained. In the face of constrained public resources and skills, many countries are considering ways to use private initiatives—sometimes with Bank Group assistance. These issues are reviewed in the next section.

The Private Sector as a Provider of Infrastructure

In most developing countries, electric power, water supply, and telecommunications services are provided by publicly owned utilities; transport networks, schools, and health facilities are constructed, run, and maintained by government departments. However, tightening budgetary constraints and administrative failures have led many governments to reevaluate the appropriate role of the private sector as a provider of some physical infrastructure and social services. There are precedents for private involvement. In the early years of many industrial countries, basic infrastructure—such as roads, railways, and power—was financed and built by private entrepreneurs.

Striking a Balance between Public and Private

There is no single correct balance between public and private providers. In each case, it depends on the characteristics of the good or service and conditions of the country. However, some general principles can be applied, which may mobilize more resources from the private sector and may improve competition in the provision of public services.

Services Where Conventional Markets Work. For some infrastructure services, such as housing, urban bus transit, trucking, curative medical care, and job training, competitive markets are viable—there are no technological barriers to entry, and externalities can be handled by government regulation. In such situations, studies consistently show that private providers are more efficient than comparable public ones. Conventional markets work reasonably well in providing the appropriate service at least cost because the agents are accountable to users.

Data for urban transport illustrate this point. In cities where bus services are provided by both public and private operators, the cost per passenger is lower for private operators than public operators, who are invariably highly subsidized. The ratio of private to public costs per passenger in 1985 for comparable bus service in selected cities is as follows:

Ankara	0.48	Jakarta	0.50
Bangkok	0.63	Karachi	0.36
Calcutta	0.37	Khartoum	0.40
Istanbul	0.85		

For these same cities, the public operators have a lower fleet utilization rate, a higher staffing ratio, and a greater incidence of fare evasion than unsubsidized private operators.²

^{2.} Data are calculated from table 6.3 of *World Development Report 1988* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1988).

Even when these services are provided privately, the government still has a role. In urban transport, it has a role in traffic regulation and management, vehicle licensing, safety and environmental standards, and where feasible, road pricing. Policy changes in these areas can be cheap, congestion-relieving alternatives to new transport investments. The government may also want to ensure access to transport facilities for the poor, through subsidized ridership and neighborhood road improvement.

However, when government intervention itself has stifled competition, there is little hope that the private sector can be an effective provider unless the restrictive aspects of public policy are changed. Private housing markets in many cities, for example, have been overly restricted by rent control, which has often produced results exactly opposite to those intended. Studies show that the benefits of such restrictions to present renters are low. Some restrictions are simply not effective because of side payments, such as key money paid directly to the landlord in lieu of market rents. Effective restrictions, however, inhibit maintenance and new construction—as in Kumasi, Ghana, where controls have virtually stopped new construction. Another constraint on the supply of private housing is overregulation of housing finance markets. Interest rate ceilings and portfolio restrictions on banking institutions have significantly limited the ability of savings to be channeled to the housing markets, as in Argentina and Malaysia, and, until recently, Chile and Korea. These restrictions can have debilitating economywide effects on PSD because housing supply constraints decrease labor mobility.

Thus, private providers, whether in transport, housing, or other services with strong competitive markets, work best with a minimum of control on price-setting. For the very poor, some form of assistance may be warranted. Such intervention can also be efficiently channeled through the private sector (as in box 3-2).

Services Where Competition Is Not Ensured. For some infrastructure and social services, the absence of economies of scale or the presence of externalities hinders competition. If so, it is difficult to argue that a regulated private monopoly would necessarily be more efficient than a well-run publicly owned utility. While managers of a private monopoly are ultimately answerable to shareholders and debt holders and may have an incentive to maximize returns, their monopoly position does not provide much incentive

Box 3-2. The Private Sector Can Be Used to Meet Social Goals

Public spending is often seen as an efficient way to redistribute resources to poor households. Many governments would like to have a social "safety net" to ensure the poor's access to basic physical infrastructure and social services.

This goal need not be inconsistent with the private provision of infrastructure and social services. In many cases, the poor may have limited access to the most highly subsidized, publicly provided services. Subsidies to higher education and expensive urban hospitals go primarily to upper-income groups. Costly subway systems, such as those being built in Caracas and São Paulo, will not directly serve the lowest groups, who demand few of the longer trips the subways provide. Subsidizing the unit cost of electricity does little good to the small consumer who has few appliances.

Thus, encouraging unsubsidized private provision in some services may not adversely affect the poor. It may even help, if public subsidies are then redirected toward services used by the poor, such as basic education and health care. Also, lower-cost, competitive providers may find it profitable to serve low-revenue

areas that public providers could not financially sustain—this is the experience of private bus contractors in Bangkok, Istanbul, and Kingston.

Even where public subsidies are necessary, the private sector can have an important role. If subsidized consumers were given an incentive to choose the most efficient supplier of the service, there would be more resources to redistribute. Chile's restructuring of its housing finance system, funded partly by the World Bank, is a good example. Until the mid 1970s Chile used directed credit (at artificially low interest rates for everybody) and publicly built units to provide housing. This system was financially and economically unsustainable. Now an explicit housing subsidy system is targeted to families who may have some capacity for savings but lack sufficient income to buy housing. The subsidy is a direct, one-time grant given in the form of a certificate, which the beneficiary can use to purchase or build a new or previously occupied dwelling in the private market. This reform has significantly lowered the cost to the government and to the economy, while serving more poor people.

Box 3-3. Public-Private Partnership: Build-Own-Operate Power Schemes

Innovative techniques to overcome the classical problems of underdeveloped capital markets, high risks, and lack of private sector interest in financing large power projects are being tried in developing countries such as Pakistan. The so-called build-ownoperate scheme is designed to increase the incentives for the private sector to construct and operate facilities to generate power. The scheme encourages contractors to own equity interests in the projects.

In Pakistan eight power generation projects are being considered. Together they would be worth about \$2 billion and would have a production capacity of 2,000 megawatts. All of the projects are joint ventures by consortiums of domestic and foreign contractors. The private sponsors would mobilize the equity for each project. The World Bank and several development agencies—notably from the Federal Republic of Germany, France, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States—will provide as much as 30 percent of project costs through a recently

created Private Sector Energy Development Fund. That fund is currently being administered by the National Development Finance Corporation. The rest of the money would be provided by export credit agencies and private lenders. IFC, which has worked with the Bank on this scheme, is poised to help raise private funding for these projects. Altogether about 7 percent of the financing would come from the Bank, 23 percent from bilateral agencies, 25 percent from private equity holders, and 45 percent from private lenders

The government of Pakistan will institute measures that provide financial incentives and reduce risks to lenders and investors. Important elements of this package are an expected rate of return providing a reasonable yield to private owners, provisions for repatriation of profits, and guaranteed purchase and price agreements between the power generators and the national utilities. The initial reaction of interested parties indicates that the scheme will be a success.

to reduce costs. For example, prior to its break-up in 1983, the Bell telephone system in the United States provided excellent service (and returns to its investors), but it was needlessly expensive. The company was able to justify high local rates by adding to its cost base. Such a system puts a heavy burden on regulatory authorities to monitor the firm closely and to develop innovative incentive schemes—a difficult task, particularly in developing countries.

Nonetheless, the private sector can still play a role as a provider of infrastructure services in some stages of the production where competition can be introduced. U.S. telephone users now benefit from extensive competition in telephone equipment and long-distance service. In regard to electrical power, even though natural monopolies exist in transmission and distribution, generation can be done efficiently by small producers, who can sell it to consumers through public utilities. In the United States, because of the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act implemented in 1982, most new planned power generation is anticipated from private generators (mostly cogeneration facilities). A similar proposal is being considered in the United Kingdom. In developing countries, Turkey and Pakistan have recently opened the door to the private sector, through foreign as well as domestic firms, to construct and operate power plants. These initiatives (yet to be implemented) are on a "build-operate-andtransfer" (BOT) or "build-own-and-operate" (BOO) basis, under which a private firm finances some or all of the initial investment and is remunerated directly from revenues earned by the project from selling output to a public utility. BOT schemes provide for the eventual transfer of ownership to the state or to private domestic investors (see box 3-3 for further description of the Pakistani initiative).

To increase competition in transport and water supply, some countries now allow free market entry and fair treatment to qualified private contractors for construction and, to a lesser extent, operation and maintenance. It is difficult to assess the costeffectiveness of contracting compared with force account (that is, work done directly by a government line agency), because force account units undervalue the true economic costs of their operation. One example from Brazil indicated that force account costs 60 percent more than contracting. A recent review of experience found that roads under contract were well maintained in Argentina, Brazil, Central African Republic, Ghana, Kenya, and Yugoslavia. In addition, services such as stevedoring in Chile or the sale of railway tickets in Korea, which used to be done by public agencies, are now being contracted out. In Côte d'Ivoire, the public water supply authority is responsible for owning and financing the fixed assets, while a private company is responsible for operations and maintenance. Contracting out is

also being tried in education. Chile and the Philippines have implemented exploratory schemes to allow the surplus of students over the maximum public school enrollment to be educated in private schools for a fee charged to the government.

Initiatives such as these require improvements in regulatory frameworks and institutions to ensure efficiency. One major impediment to direct private sector investment is the risk that price controls or government interventions will reduce returns. Another barrier is governments' inability to design, award, and supervise contracts that ensure equitable risk sharing and good performance. Governments must shift from being doers to being regulatorswhich may require different skills and rewards. In some cases, government officials may see such moves as a loss of authority. A recent Bank-funded scheme in Bangladesh to privatize lift pumps failed because of bureaucratic hurdles. Two recent BOT initiatives for highway construction in Southeast Asian countries have been delayed because of political obstacles.

What the Bank Group Has Done

The Bank Group is only beginning to support greater private sector involvement in infrastructure and service provision. This section reviews a few significant initiatives, without attempting to compile an exhaustive list.

In lending operations, Bank Group support includes the following: sector work and policy-based lending to enhance the enabling environment for these initiatives; the promotion of private subcontractors to public agencies for construction, operation, and maintenance; and direct lending (or on-lending) to private firms in these sectors or assistance to divest state-owned enterprises. In some

cases, nonprofit, nongovernmental organizations have been involved (box 3-4).

Changing Policies toward Private Providers. Recent Bank sector loans have stressed the need to provide an atmosphere conducive to PSD. Much can be done through deregulation. For infrastructure services that could feasibly have conventional markets, the private sector is being encouraged to participate.

Recent housing loans by the Bank in Korea and Chile (see box 3-2 for the latter), for example, have eased financial restrictions that make it unprofitable for commercial lenders to channel their resources to housing (see also IFC initiatives, discussed in chapter 4). At the same time, the governments have limited subsidized public construction in order not to crowd out more efficient private providers, while attempting to target housing subsidies to the lowest income segments of the population. The Bank supported a recent program by the government of Zimbabwe to involve private financial institutions in supplying mortgage loans at commercial rates to low-income households.

In urban transport, the emphasis has been on traffic management and safety standards. A loan to Jamaica focused on traffic management and road maintenance in direct support of the government's privatization plan (see below). The first Mexico urban project, launched in fiscal 1987, provides for the development of a maintenance facility to be operated and funded by a cooperative representing private bus owners and operators to make adequate maintenance available at reasonable cost.

The Bank has also made significant contributions in the policy dialogue to expand private participation, particularly in the social sectors. Recent papers in health and education have put topics like user charges, educational credit, and health insurance on

Box 3-4. The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations

Nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) often have a good understanding of the local environment, easy access to intended beneficiaries, and a willingness and ability to finance and use low-cost technologies. In recent years the Bank has tried to incorporate NGOs into projects, particularly those concerned with rural development, health and education, the environment, and poverty alleviation. NGO roles range from project

implementation to consultant services to cofinancing. In some cases governments have made grant funding available to NGOs in the context of a Bank project. In Bangladesh, a population project allocates support for NGOs and emphasizes expanding their role in the delivery of services. Similar NGO support has been included in population projects in Guinea, India, Malawi, and Zimbabwe.

the international agenda—all topics that will facilitate an expansion of PSD in areas traditionally reserved for the public sector. These issues are starting to be included in some sector adjustment loans (in Morocco and Ghana education programs, for example).

Contracting Out. The Bank has been instrumental in strengthening the performance of state enterprises and government departments by advancing fair treatment for private contractors. Contracting out introduces private involvement in activities where competitive ownership is not economically or, in many instances, politically feasible. By the end of fiscal 1986, the Bank had financed 169 operations in 74 countries aimed at strengthening the construction industry through technical assistance, training, credit, and encouraging borrowers to change from force account to contracting. Although some of this went to state-owned construction corporations, much of it was devoted to contractors, particularly in highway projects.

In addition to construction, contracting out of operations and maintenance has also been encouraged. Guinea is only one of the more recent examples, where the loan covers repairs and maintenance of private contractors and, as important, strengthens the public management's capability to supervise such work. Another innovative project is in Nigeria, where the Bank loan establishes an infrastructure development fund to be used by selected merchant banks to identify, appraise, supervise, and cofinance urban infrastructure projects undertaken by state governments.

Direct Lending to Private Providers. The Bank Group has also increased its support of private financing of infrastructure and services, although this is still relatively rare. The Bank has provided technical assistance to develop a management contract for water supply in Senegal. It has also provided funds to be on-lent to private bus companies to buy equipment in Jamaica and Mexico. The only onlending scheme in education has taken place in Korea, where loans for private technical institutes of higher education provided for equipment, construction, and staff upgrading. The Boo power plant in Pakistan was mentioned earlier (box 3-3).

Some Bank projects include the divestiture of public infrastructure agencies. In Jamaica the government returned Kingston's bus service to the private sector in 1984, seven years after the service had been nationalized. While it was publicly owned, the com-

pany's operations declined to the point where only 140 of the company's 575 buses were operational and deficits were enormous. The Bank provided loans for technical studies of privatization and for road maintenance. The recent Bank loan for rationalizing public enterprises in the Philippines also included the privatization of Metro Manila transit. In Guinea, Conakry's urban transport company, long plagued by administrative difficulties, is to be turned into a joint venture company with private participation; its port has agreed to privatize ship and cargo handling so that importers and exporters can now freely select freight forwarders and customs agents among private companies.

IFC has been involved in the development of infrastructure in a variety of ways. Examples of direct IFC investments in the development of infrastructural facilities are, however, few. Ventures in the 1960s and 1970s were mainly in electric transmission and long-distance telephone networks. The first and so far the only investment in a gas transmission pipeline was authorized in 1977 in northern Colombia. The 1980s saw a slight broadening of IFC involvement. In 1981 two bulk terminals—one in Korea and another in Somalia—were initiated with partial IFC financing. In 1982 IFC made its first investment in a healthrelated field by financing about 25 percent of a \$64.3 million project in Yugoslavia. The project involved the expansion of a medical rehabilitation facility for the treatment of patients with arthritic, rheumatic, pulmonary, and cardiac ailments.

The limited number of IFC investments in infrastructure is not surprising. Most infrastructural facilities in developing countries are in government control and closed to the private sector. It is, therefore, hard to come across private initiatives that could have been supported by the IFC.

What Can Be Done in the Future

 Promote the expansion and efficient operation of public infrastructure services needed for private sector development.

Despite increased emphasis on institutional strengthening and financial efficiency, there is a need for further improvement in the public sector performance of many Bank borrowers. The Bank's infrastructure lending has increasingly focused on cost controls, appropriate pricing, commercial operating practices, careful targeting, and administration of programs to assist low-income groups. Recent sector adjustment loans have aimed at achieving policy reforms in energy, transport, telecommunications,

urban services, health, and education. The Bank needs to continue to support such reforms.

 Undertake more research and policy work on the appropriate role of the private sector for various infrastructure services.

A more thorough, sector-specific assessment is needed of the possibilities and limitations of private sector involvement in infrastructure. Although there are compelling theoretical reasons why private sector involvement will increase the efficiency of service provision in infrastructure, the empirical evidence for developing countries is relatively weak. The Bank has undertaken some case studies in bus transport and housing, although these evaluations can be improved in methodology and design; more rigorous analysis has been undertaken in education. Carefully designed studies can address questions like the following: Under what conditions and for what services will a private competitive market work better? Can public providers mimic the incentives inherent in private sector provision?

In addition, research should be undertaken on pricing and other aspects of regulatory policy for private natural monopolies. Questions that need answers include: Should prices be regulated on the basis of costs or on the basis of broader price indices? What incentives need to be given to the private sector to ensure efficient competition? Can regulatory schemes be effectively enforced?

This basic research should complement more operational studies on service contracting (such as the one done for highway maintenance) to form the basis for sector-specific policies on private sector development in infrastructure.

• Increase the private sector role in financing and operating infrastructure and basic services.

Even while the basic research and policy work is being undertaken, the Bank Group should continue to assist interested member countries in tapping private finance and managerial skills. Although some of these innovative schemes have been tried, the experience to date has been limited. In some cases, privatization is the path to follow (see chapter 2). In cases where complete privatization is neither economically nor politically desirable, there are other ways to introduce private interests to enhance efficiency. This activity would include: (a) seeking opportunities to fund all or part of government's share in joint ventures, on-lending, or BOT schemes; (b) identifying the scope for greater private participation through subcontracting some activities in project implementation and operation of the service; (c) where feasible, allowing the local and foreign capital markets to participate in infrastructure investments.

IFC can play an increasing role in these areas (see chapter 4). The enlargement of its capital base now allows it to make individual commitments of a size that, when combined with its syndicating capacity, will make it a major player in infrastructure projects, a role not financially feasible even five years ago. MIGA can also play an important role by according its guarantees to investors, and in particular by guaranteeing the stability of their agreements with the host government. Because of the experimental nature of many of these schemes, on-going evaluations of the lessons learned are essential.

Equally important is the policy dialogue with member governments. The Bank Group should continue its stress on subjecting public monopolies to competition. Research results on the efficiency gains from having some services provided privately should be used to quantify the opportunity costs of present systems. The Bank can work on liberalizing regulations that prohibit or restrict such competition. Where public and private sectors compete (as in housing and bus transit), Bank Group projects should not give an unfair advantage to enterprises that seek a monopoly position. Assistance should be given to strengthen the analytical capability of regulatory staff.

4 Financing the Private Sector

World Bank Group activity directly addresses the financial needs of the private sector in five ways: (a) by helping governments set policies that will send the right signals to the financial sector as a whole, (b) by promoting the development of the local capital market, (c) by establishing and financing intermediaries for domestic and foreign resource mobilization, (d) by directly financing private sector activities, and (e) by facilitating foreign investment in member countries. This chapter takes stock of the Bank Group's efforts in these areas.

Financial Issues

The financial system facilitates growth by increasing the volume and efficiency of domestic intermediation—that is, the ability of banks and other institutions to pass resources from investors to borrowers, so that rewards are maximized relative to the risks assumed. The starting point for financial reforms is the macroeconomic framework. Overvalued currencies, severe trade restrictions, and high inflation will impede reforms or reduce their benefits. Therefore, the opportunities for successful financial reform are greatest when the incentives and other macroeconomic conditions required to put an economy on a sustainable path of growth are already in place.

A 1985 internal policy paper on financial intermediation examined financial issues prevalent in developing countries, and it articulated an initial approach for the Bank Group.

The paper identified four concerns. First, the debt crisis had created unexpectedly adverse macroeconomic environments that had weakened many intermediaries in developing countries. Second, policy regimes of negative real interest rates had undermined domestic resource mobilization and the financial system. Third, governments' excessive reliance on directed credit programs and their usurping financial markets for their own use had led to inefficient resource allocation. Fourth, the task of building a sound institutional base required overall development of the financial system, as well as special attention to regulation and supervision and to the underlying legal framework. The Bank Group thus needed to assist countries on a broad range of sector and institutional issues in its future financial sector operations.

These concerns are as pressing today as they were in 1985. Indeed in many developing countries insolvent financial intermediaries, both commercial banks and specialized intermediaries, seem to be more widespread now. Only a few years ago general insolvency was thought to be largely a Latin American phenomenon, with origins in erratic or inconsistent macroeconomic policies. Insolvency is now widespread in most Latin American and African systems, and problems caused by public ownership and credit allocation may be even more serious in Africa than in Latin America. Severe portfolio and structural problems have emerged in Eastern Europe, as many systems there move toward financial reform. In Asia, financial distress is less prevalent, but does exist in a number of countries. If judged by a criterion that less than, say, 20 percent of system assets be in institutions with negative net worth, few developing countries would emerge with a clean bill of health. The extent of the problem, however, is not easy to gauge because few developing countries have adequate systems of financial reporting, loan classification, auditing, and regulation.

One cause of financial distress has been the implementation of stabilization and structural adjustment

programs. These have involved: (a) large real devaluations, which have increased the burden of dollar debt (for many countries, foreign debt far exceeds domestic financial claims—a reflection of the historic inefficiency of domestic intermediation). (b) trade liberalization, which has weakened the financial position of major borrowers, and (c) tight monetary policy, which has often been imposed to provide governments with the financial resources to service the predominantly public sector foreign debt. Furthermore, financial liberalization, undertaken as part of an adjustment program, can itself spur financial distress by raising interest costs. Conversely, general financial distress inhibits successful adjustment, as insolvent, but still-operating firms squeeze out potentially viable firms from the credit market. Thus fewer firms can respond to the changes in incentives that are usually part of a country's strategy for adjustment.

Because of the complex links between adjustment policies and financial distress, structural adjustment reform needs to anticipate the potential impact of losses on the financial sector. Structural adjustment programs should involve regular financial reporting and loan classification, for example, so that the process of sorting out losses and considering how the system should handle them is started early on.

The depth of institutional reforms needed to enable countries to successfully operate a marketbased, competitive financial system has also become more apparent. It is not enough to liberalize interest rates, reduce government preemption of credit, and reduce the direction of credit to privileged borrowers, although these in themselves are difficult goals. Banking institutions are likely to require extensive technical assistance to enable them to function successfully in a competitive environment. Accounting and auditing procedures frequently must be revised, and regulatory and supervisory institutions must change their emphasis, away from ensuring compliance with rules for directing credit and toward assessing institutions for safety and soundness. A change of management is often a critical ingredient for successful reform. Although some countries have the skills needed to liberalize their financial systems, most do not, since such skills have not been required in the existing regulatory structure. The problems of low-income and socialist countries are particularly noteworthy in this respect.

It is too early to pass judgment on the success of adjustment lending to the financial sector. However, the consensus is that financial sector liberalization is best introduced at a time when macroeconomic and political conditions are reasonably under control and improving—the absence of such stability can frustrate the reform process. Financial sector adjustment loans have been made to countries where the macroeconomic situation was doubtful. It may not be realistic to expect major goals to be achieved if the macroeconomic situation is not under control.

This experience is not necessarily an argument for delaying financial sector reform until all other components of a package are in place. The longer reform is delayed, the more costly it is likely to be in fiscal terms. The lack of reform also inhibits recovery by diverting credit from viable borrowers. Comprehensive financial reform can itself have adverse side effects, such as the emergence of very high real interest rates following their liberalization. Consequently, the phasing of reform is a complex question. In view of the problems being encountered, it is timely that the *World Development Report 1989* (forthcoming) will have the development of financial market as its theme.

The Bank Group is now participating in financial reform packages that go far beyond the traditional scope of its financial operations, which have often focused on interest rates. About one-quarter of the operations that involved development finance intermediaries have included studies or actions related to overall financial policies, and conditions agreed to in the negotiation of adjustment loans increasingly touch on domestic intermediation. The Bank has also begun to approach the problems directly through financial sector adjustment loans. As of fiscal 1989, four such loans have been made (one each to Argentina and Ecuador, and two to Turkey), and additional ones are under consideration. An economic recovery loan to the Philippines also had a large component for the financial sector.

Three broad issues have typically been addressed in the Bank Group's financial operations. Specific measures have depended on the degree of distress in the financial system; severely distressed systems have required the most draconian measures to deal with the losses of the banking system, as was the case in Chile.

• Frameworks for prudence and restructuring. Bank Group lending has supported measures to strengthen accounting and auditing procedures and to determine the state of portfolios, provisions, and writeoffs; efforts to clean up loan portfolios, recapitalize banks, and merge or close banks; and improvements in the system of prudential regulation and supervision to ensure that the financial system will be sound in the future.

- Freeing-up the financial system. The Bank Group has also endorsed removing or relaxing interest rate controls and directed credit; moving to broad methods of monetary control and away from bank-by-bank credit limits; relaxing barriers to entry and exit and increasing competition in the financial sector; and reducing and rationalizing fiscal burdens on financial systems.
- Capital market development. Increasingly a component of Bank loans (and one where IFC is usually involved), efforts to develop capital markets have included formulation of suitable regulatory and tax provisions to encourage a range of instruments, including equity; technical assistance in setting up new institutions to facilitate capital markets, arrangements to improve market transparency and liquidity; and cooperation with international investors.

The remainder of this chapter reviews how the Bank can mobilize its skills to meet the complex challenge of financial system reform in three main areas: reform of development finance intermediaries, direct financing in productive sectors, and facilitating flows of foreign capital and know-how.

Development Finance Intermediaries

Historically development finance intermediaries (DFIS) have been the principal way the Bank Group financed industry. DFI lending by the Bank started in the early 1950s. Initially it was Bank policy to support only privately controlled institutions, and lending activity was modest.

The 1960s saw considerable Bank Group activity in creating new, predominantly private DFIS, as IFC put together the shareholding group and the Bank provided loan financing. The short-term objective was to develop institutions capable of competent project-based lending and equity investment; the longer-term objective was to develop institutions having the capacity to raise equity and debt resources independent of government financial support.

In the mid 1960s the Bank began to include both government-controlled and privately owned DFIS in its lending program, on the grounds that ownership did not, in itself, determine competence. IFC continued to monitor its own DFI portfolio but was involved in creating only five new "traditional" DFIS in the 1970s (three in Africa), and in the 1980s only three new DFIS (two in Africa) have been set up with IFC's assistance and equity participation. Because most of the DFIS in which IFC held shares were recipi-

ents of Bank loans, there was a tendency for the Bank to take on a larger role in the ongoing dialogue with a number of those institutions.

There were several reasons why IFC's DFI activity declined while Bank activity increased. First, IFC had helped to create DFIs in most markets where it was possible to assemble private sector backing for such institutions. Second, it had discovered how difficult it was to establish DFIs that would meet a reasonable test of return on equity, which, given IFC's own investment criteria, led to declining interest by IFC in specialized, term-lending DFIs. Third, in line with its divestment policy IFC had rolled over its DFI investments where it could do so, some at a good profit, while others not. The critical ingredients in the financially successful DFIs seem to have been a reasonably stable macroeconomic environment and outstanding management capable of adapting and changing financial product lines and services to their changing environments.

For the Bank, the use of government-controlled intermediaries (usually existing entities-rarely has the Bank created new government DFIS) plus the use of commercial banks (government and private) under apex loans vastly extended the potential for DFI lending. Moreover, following an internal review of DFIs in 1973, which concluded that many of these institutions required more of a "development orientation," the Bank began to focus on the use of DFIS to achieve specific targets within sectors regarding the size and location of enterprises or the level of employment. Finally, the Bank's widening objectives and the growing number of DFIs it dealt with facilitated sizable resource transfers to the private sector and thus provided opportunities for policy dialogue on a range of issues.

Today IFC holds shares in twenty-four DFIS. All but three are recipients of Bank loans. The total cumulative amount of IFC financing to these twenty-four institutions is rather small: about \$40 million in equity and \$180 million in loans. The Bank, in contrast, has in its DFI portfolio some 150 institutional borrowers. Its lending to them has covered small as well as large private sector investment projects (see box 4-1). The volume has averaged \$1.3 billion a

^{1.} IFC lends to creditworthy DFIS when no government guarantee is available and IFC financing is critical to the DFI's achieving its objectives or when IFC can help more mature DFIS tap international markets. In addition to these loans to what might be considered traditional DFIS, IFC has provided credits or agency loans totaling \$62 million to other types of intermediaries, such as merchant banks

Box 4-1. Small Business Development

Entrepreneurship-how to develop it-and small business—when and how to support it—are topics that have received considerable attention in both the industrial and developing countries. There is a visceral consensus that small business deserves support, but how and with what effect, still remain somewhat difficult questions. It is even elusive to define what is meant by small. The Bank has financed about six small-scale enterprise projects a year over the past five years, at an average yearly total of \$0.5 billion. Included in the "small" classification are projects where subloan size is \$60-\$100 (Indonesia), up to \$500,000 (Mexico), and up to \$2.5 million (Turkey). Likewise, it is difficult to determine whether programs focusing on the \$1,000 borrower are more or less important developmentally than the ones that are 5 or 100 times larger. Size, in itself, does not seem to be a reliable indicator of economic virtue.

What does seem generally clear, however, is that (a) small enterprises, quantitatively, make up a significant portion of the productive economy in many countries, (b) policies are often stacked against them, and (c) distortions in the financial sector often close off commercial sources of capital to them. Hence, the Bank and to a lesser extent IFC have assisted governments in a number of cases to redress the imbalance. The Bank has done this for the most part through specialized agencies mandated to assist entities of a certain size, often with a technical assistance component; the size range is wide, as noted earlier. On occasion, however, commercial banks have been included in the delivery process. IFC's leasing companies also tend to deal with the smaller enterprises (leases ranging between \$30,000 and \$300,000), as do agency equity-credit lines (average financing of \$300,000), and venture capital companies (average financing of \$130,000). In addition, IFC is experimenting in the Caribbean and Africa with hands-on project development facilities, whose job it is to assist entrepreneurs to develop their projects to a bankable stage.

Reaching down to the small entrepreneur is a labor-intensive operation. Although specific credit projects will still be desirable, the Bank Group can make more of an impact by focusing more explicitly on government policies that frustrate small enterprise development. Bureaucratic regulatory environments, cumbersome tax policies, difficult business entry requirements, credit policies that reduce risk capital for this sector, discrimination against certain minority groups that tend to produce entrepreneurs, and subsidies and advantages given large firms are a few of the policy factors that often disadvantage the small businessman.

In working on the enabling environment issues (discussed in chapter 2), the Bank could put more focus on making the playing field level for the small-scale sector vis-à-vis larger enterprise. This might include eliminating discriminatory tariff treatment (often large capital goods are duty-free, while small are not), tax concessions given to large but not to small investors, and unequal access to credit on foreign exchange. Policy dialogues between the Bank Group and member governments may yield large payoffs in these matters. As for direct action to promote grassroots business development, the Bank may not have a comparative advantage over bilateral and nongovernmental programs that have more intensive representation in the field. In this respect, the intensifying Bank dialogue with nongovernmental organizations that deal directly with the smallest economic units is to be encouraged. Finally, one area that has not been reviewed adequately is the potential for nonagricultural cooperatives in the service and productive sector. This may have particular relevance to countries such as China, Hungary, and possibly Poland, where IFC has begun working with some market-oriented cooperatives. More research and evaluation of smallscale projects financed by the Bank Group may produce some useful guidelines in this area.

year over the past five years, as shown in table 4-1. These amounts are net of adjustment lending (which has grown rapidly to \$1.9 billion in fiscal 1988) and also net of rather small amounts for DFI lending for state enterprises in centrally planned economies (which now averages about \$100 million a year). In recent years about 80 percent of DFI lending has been to government-controlled institutions.

Issues

The 1985 Bank study of financial intermediation concluded that, while there were notable exceptions, quite a number of DFIS faced serious problems. About one-third of the DFIS were significantly in arrears and had low or negative returns on assets. Very few DFIS had successfully mobilized domestic or

Table 4-1. Bank Lending to DFIs for Private Sector Investment Financing, Fiscal 1960–88

Year	Billions of dollars
1960s annual average	0.1
1970s annual average	0.5
1983	1.7
1984	1.5
1985	1.2
1986	1.0
1987	1.1
1988	1.1
1983-88 annual average	1.3

Source: World Bank data.

foreign resources without governmental support, perhaps as much because of their environment of directed credit and distorted interest rates as because of their own financial health. What remained unclear were the balance of factors that had brought this about (environmental, managerial, political, and so forth) and the key elements that distinguished the excellent from the poor performers. Although the debate may go on over how serious the situation was for these DFIS, it was clear that their problems deserved attention as a Bank Group response was articulated. That 1985 study argued that in lending to development finance intermediaries:

- A healthy financial system was essential to the long-term health of individual intermediaries. Hence efforts to "fix the system" were essential.
- More effort was needed to address particular DFIS' own financial strength and their managerial capacity to handle adversity and opportunity in changing environments, rather than regarding them as conduits for the transfer of resources.
- The objective should be to develop seasoned intermediaries, operating in market-based financial systems, that could move toward effectively mobilizing commercial funds on their own.

It was also clear in the 1985 study that, in the deteriorating economic environment in which many DFIS exist, no single transaction could address every problem. Transitional management required, in many cases, second-best solutions. The goal was to develop, over time, efficient, market-based financial systems. Finally, apex or multi-institution loans were seen as a way of reaching beyond a single DFI to achieve broad improvements in the financial sector.

Data on Bank-financed DFIs since the 1985 study suggest that problems still exist. An analysis of DFI operations originating in 1982–87 indicates that for government-controlled DFIs, which account for 80

percent of DFI lending, arrears continue to present significant problems. The Bank's 1986 annual review of project performance results points to similar conclusions.² Data on the privately controlled DFIs in IFC's portfolio indicate, on average, stronger performance, but quite a number of these institutions, particularly in Africa, face serious problems.

There has been no marked increase in the use of apex loans since 1985. Roughly half of DFI lending during 1982–87 has been in operations involving one or two intermediaries. About a quarter of such lending has involved six or more intermediaries. What is of concern is that in apex lending the financial health of participating banks (commercial or development) is often not dealt with in depth, because these operations focus on broader sectoral objectives. It appears, on average, that DFIs under apex loans have weaker portfolios than those with which the Bank has direct relations.

IFC also faces several issues in its support for DFIS. In some of its DFIS, IFC expects losses on its equity. Provisions in these cases run from 30 to 90 percent of original cost. A number of these institutions are reasonably competent as project lenders, and their shareholders, both governmental and private, support them for their indirect benefits rather than their direct earning capacity. Some are useful lending conduits for the Bank and bilateral lenders, and their mixed shareholding structure helps insulate them from political influence. IFC's posture in these cases is to stay involved, usually by taking a board seat, if it helps maintain the institution's integrity. But IFC is not setting up new institutions of this nature unless a good case can be made for sustainability, opportunities for resource mobilization, and adequate returns. At the other extreme a few DFIs have deteriorated beyond repair, given the environments in which they work.

Lending Standards. The first issue for the Bank Group is that it must increase the rigor of managerial and financial assessment in its DFI lending. Credit line lending by the Bank to DFIs, which does not include adjustment lending, is expected to remain substantial over the next three years. This implies a major operational challenge in light of the needed strengthening of standards for DFI lending.

The goal should be to assist and develop entities (irrespective of ownership) that are (a) well managed,

^{2.} World Bank Operations Evaluation Department, *Twelfth Annual Review of Project Performance Results, 1986* (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1987).

(b) responsive to the demands of changing markets, (c) able to stand independent of pressures to finance activities likely to undermine their own financial position, and (d) able to operate without prolonged dependence on government for their domestic resource needs (or government's assistance in raising foreign exchange, in those cases where country conditions are reasonably conducive to foreign commercial financing). Noncompetitive institutions should not be supported indefinitely. Furthermore, other goals, however desirable-such as sector policy changes, acceptable economic and financial rates of return, or shifts in subproject lending patternsshould not be allowed to divert effort (as they have on occasion in the past) from the principal goal of institution building.

In order to ensure a consistent, rigorous, and strategic approach to DFI lending, an in-depth review of the Bank's experience to date is needed. In trying to explain the successes and failures of previous operations, that review should address four issues:

- the appropriate approach for institutional analysis, including the quality of financial analysis to be undertaken, the types of financial performance measures required, and the evaluation of management staff, decision processes, and independence
- domestic and foreign resource mobilization and their links with the development of the domestic capital market
- the method of pricing of resources from the DFI to achieve market-based levels
- the consistency of approach and standards across regions, to the extent that differences in experience cannot be explained by country-specific considerations.

Division of Responsibilities. The division of responsibilities between the Bank and IFC with respect to DFI has to be determined in the context of broad country strategies for private sector development by the Bank Group. Such strategies would define the objectives of DFI lending and propose how these objectives can be reached, which institutions in a given country are likely to achieve those ends, and how collaboration between the Bank and IFC can best be marshaled.

Although strategies will obviously vary from country to country, DFI lending by the Bank should typically aim to address systemic financial or institutional problems that impede the country's financial intermediaries—those directly supported by the Bank, as well as others—from playing a more effective and self-sustaining role in mobilizing and inter-

mediating financial resources. The concept of graduation of mature institutions from Bank support also remains valid, particularly in countries where the financial sector is maturing. This growing independence is certainly desirable from the DFI's standpoint, and it is in this context that IFC can play a bridging role by introducing such institutions to commercial markets by lending or syndicating loans without government guarantees.

The reality is that country and institutional situations evolve and change, sometimes rapidly, and thus sometimes both the Bank and IFC may be involved in helping a particular institution. The test is whether the particular DFI's needs at a particular time, both for resources and for progress toward its maturation, are better served by the Bank, IFC, or both. Finally, for some established intermediaries both the Bank and IFC might find a particular institution a good partner for achieving different objectives—the Bank for addressing systemic reforms and IFC for gaining access to particular enterprises that need its funding.

Subloan Pricing. A frequent issue in DFI lending that bears on financial intermediation is the relending terms of Bank funds through DFIS. Existing Bank policy states that sub-borrowers should pay rates commensurate with the cost of capital, that normally sub-borrowers should take the foreign exchange risk and, if the government takes that risk fully or in part, a fee should be charged to bring the cost of funds to sub-borrowers to levels reflecting the opportunity cost of that resource. Targeting the cost of capital is complex in many cases. Given the Bank's present currency pooling and interest rate system, the Bank's own charges may not, in some countries, be a good proxy for a market rate for private borrowers.

To add to the complexity, it is not uncommon, as noted earlier, for many governments to back administered credit regimes that underprice capital. If pricing on certain credit streams is subsidized, intermediation will be distorted, and commercial lenders (including IFC) outside those credit streams can be crowded out by government-guaranteed credits. Currently, in about half of the Bank's DFI lending, governments have assumed the foreign exchange risk on behalf of borrowers for no charge: in another third some fee was levied; for the balance sub-borrowers took the full exchange risk on Bank funds. Greater rigor is needed to ensure that pricing issues, taking into account foreign exchange risk, are handled in a way that avoids significant distortions or subsidies.

With respect to the secondary question of the exchange risk itself, there are a range of options that may be justified. In some cases it may be appropriate to pass the risk on to sub-borrowers. In others an option might be for foreign resources, not necessarily just Bank loans, destined for domestic borrowers to be pooled centrally—by the central bank or some other mechanism—and the proceeds relent in local currency at a rate reflecting the cost of capital, with an appropriate fee to cover the risk assumed by the pooling agent. A variation is for the sub-borrower to take a single currency, or fixed mix of currencies, again with a pricing and fee arrangement reflecting the cost of capital and the risk assumed by the pooling agent. Ultimately (although this is not the case for many Bank borrowers) for economies with open currency and credit markets the market will establish relevant rates for whatever currency is borrowed, and this is the ultimate objective to which Bank Group assistance should be aimed. Whatever solution is adopted, care should be exercised that government-guaranteed foreign exchange loans not become part of a privileged credit stream that subsidizes private borrowers and crowds out commercial, market-based funds that would otherwise flow to the private sector without recourse to the government.

New Types of Institutions

Although recently its activity with respect to DFIs has been limited, IFC has been active, given the resources at its disposal, in other areas. In the past ten years or so IFC has been involved in the creation of forty-eight financial institutions outside the traditional DFI field. IFC has tried to identify new types of private sector institutions that could deepen the financial structure in a country, while concurrently dealing with specific policy issues that affect the depth of the institutional structure. The objective has not been to maximize investment levels (such IFC investments account for only about \$100 million) but to create first-of-a-kind institutions that, in many cases, can then be replicated by others. The current portfolio includes nineteen leasing companies, eight housing finance institutions, two commercial banks, ten merchant banks or securities companies, nine venture capital companies, two insurance companies, and one mutual fund. The critical element in bringing new institutions and products into a financial market is experienced, vigorous management, and thus in almost all cases IFC helps to find, and conditions its investment on, an active partner-investor, often foreign, who will take on managerial responsibilities.

What are the lessons learned so far? By and large the leasing activity has gone well, as evidenced by good portfolios and earnings. Leases are often an attractive way to finance equipment for smaller firms for a combination of fiscal and financing reasons. In many cases IFC has had to work with governments to get appropriate regulations in place to allow lease financing to proceed. In most countries, after IFC has helped open the field, a number of additional leasing companies have started. Further scope exists for introducing leasing to smaller economies, and IFC intends to pursue this.

In housing, IFC has set up five finance companies, and all are doing reasonably well. The scope for this activity is limited by significant governmental interventions in housing finance and directed credit. To the extent that the Bank Group is successful in reforming the financial sector and freeing up financial markets, however, relatively more opportunities would develop for IFC to play a catalytic role in this sector.

The same holds true for the insurance sector, where IFC has done two projects. The merchant-investment banks have a generally good record. These banks provide a wide range of corporate finance activity, advisory services, underwriting, and the like. IFC has divested, profitably, from four of the fourteen that it has set up. The remainder are performing satisfactorily, except for two where a deterioration in general economic conditions has cut off business opportunities.

Perhaps the most adventuresome part of IFC's capital market institutional activity has been the establishment of venture capital companies. IFC has helped to establish nine such companies; the main mission of these companies has been to take substantial stakes of risk capital in relatively small companies, with close and continuous inputs by the venture capital company to the companies financed. Two have been unsuccessful in volume and earnings, five seem to be on their way to reasonable success, and two are brand new. The overriding determinant of success, once again, is management. In Spain, where a venture capital company might be expected to do well, the project failed. In Kenya, where a more difficult environment exists, the project succeeded because of outstanding management.

Direct Financing

What the Bank Is Doing

There was no expansion of Bank direct financing in productive sectors in fiscal 1983–87; indeed approv-

Table 4-2. Direct Bank Lending to Industry, Fiscal 1983–88

	Oil, gas, o	and coal	Other industry		
Year	Number of projects	Billions of dollars	Number of projects	Billions of dollars	
1983	19	1.0	13	0.7	
1984	16	0.9	12	0.5	
1985	16	1.3	9	0.6	
1986	6	0.2	9	0.8	
1987	8	0.7	7	0.4	
1988	2	0.4	11	0.9	

Source: World Bank data.

als fell in 1986 and 1987 as indicated in table 4-2. Virtually all the oil, gas, and coal projects recently financed by the Bank were state enterprises; half of this program over the past five years has been absorbed by China and India. The same is true of "other industry," where the vast majority of funds have gone to state enterprises. About one half of that program has been in China, Hungary, and India. Only three of some sixty industrial operations involved a significant private sector component, and these were largely related to subsector restructuring operations. In many cases the public sector projects financed have not met with great success in reaching their objectives. The problems surrounding public management are often more intractable than had been anticipated.

This raises a legitimate question as to whether the Bank should simply withdraw from parastatal financing. This report argues that there certainly have been cases, and there will be cases in the future, where it makes sense for the Bank to finance such projects. provided the parastatal (a) is or is likely to become an efficient producer and (b) fosters or at least does not curtail competition, so that efficient private sector activity is not crowded out by a less efficient parastatal. There will also be cases where Bank help for restructuring a parastatal may be a desirable step toward privatization. Consequently, the established and logical pattern in recent years has been for IFC to handle larger private sector projects, while the Bank supported relatively smaller private sector projects through DFI lending and directly financed public sector projects that merit support.

The use of the government guarantee capacity should be minimized for private sector projects. For enterprises that can appropriately be financed privately without recourse to government guarantees and that meet IFC's ownership guidelines, IFC is the appropriate Bank Group financier. In this regard IFC's enlarged capital enables it to make commitments that, in terms of size, were beyond its earlier scope.

Nonetheless, there may still be large, important projects that could not be completed without Bank support in addition to that of IFC. In such cases, assuming government support in guaranteeing the Bank loan is forthcoming, the Bank and IFC would cooperate to finance the project jointly. The Dikheila Steel joint venture in Egypt is a historical example, and this type of joint Bank-IFC effort could well be replicated more frequently in the future in large infrastructure projects to be developed by private investors under build-operate-transfer principles (see chapter 3). If IFC were not in a position to finance a significant private sector project because of constraints related to exposure or risk, and a government considers it important enough to provide a guarantee, then the Bank could proceed without IFC.

What IFC Is Doing

IFC's mandate *is* the private sector; all its energies are directed to making a difference in the private sector in its member countries. IFC's principal goal is not to transfer resources but to catalyze private sector activity. In bare volume terms the recent history is shown in table 4-3.

IFC is normally exposed to full project risks, a useful but demanding discipline in allocating scarce resources in rather risky environments. The health of IFC's portfolio is discussed at length elsewhere; suffice it to say here that there has been a marked improvement in recent years, both in regard to equity returns and the loan portfolio. IFC's collection rate is now slightly above 90 percent, and the portfolio affected by nonaccruing loans has been reduced from 19 percent in fiscal 1986 to 12.5 percent in fiscal 1988, based on conservative accounting treatment. The expectation is that the improving trend will continue, despite rather difficult macroeconomic conditions in many of the markets in which IFC operates.

Actually IFC has a dual mandate: to do business that

Table 4-3. IFC Investment Activity, Fiscal 1983–88 (millions of dollars)

Year	Total investment approved	Equity portion of total investment
1983	426	55
1984	391	62
1985	609	61
1986	711	75
1987	790	80
1988^{a}	1,050	197

a. Estimate. Source: IFC data.

is both financially sound and of economic importance. Unfortunately, there is a significant amount of activity in developing countries that is financially attractive but is of questionable value economically or vice versa, given distorted pricing signals.

IFC's lending strategy is based on the fact that its more remunerative investments (because of their size and risk profiles) have to carry the costly efforts to meet private sector needs in its smaller and least developed member countries. About 28 percent of IFC's staff effort goes to benefit Africa (not including special African initiatives), although this region is likely to produce only 17 percent of short-term investment volume.

The availability of long-term loans for project finance is still a problem for the private sector in many developing countries. In many others, however, the issue is not how to load additional debt on to a country or enterprise but how to capitalize or restructure enterprises so that sound growth can take place. This suggests that IFC should place increasing emphasis on (a) providing equity or quasiequity finance, (b) bringing critical technical, managerial, and marketing skills into enterprises, (c) advising and assisting on restructuring opportunities, (d) facilitating privatization where that is appropriate, and (e) supporting private sector involvement in infrastructure activities. In these areas it is knowhow, ideas, and international contacts, as much as capital, that IFC can uniquely contribute.

IFC recently reviewed its equity policy, not primarily to assess its scope (although IFC's program calls for an increase in the relative share of equity instruments in the total), but to assess its quality and catalytic power. The framework has now been set for that effort.

In regard to its advisory services, IFC has begun systematically to break down its effort into normal project-related advice and advisory efforts that go beyond the norm in complex projects, or advisory services not related to project finance. The mix of IFC business is thought to be shifting to include more idea-brokering in areas where IFC's accumulated knowledge can benefit private sector investors. As this work develops, IFC needs to focus on how it can channel the special skill mix required to maximize its impact.

Chapter 3 discussed private delivery systems for "public" services. This is a developing market for IFC and an area for increasing collaboration between the Bank and IFC, as well as MIGA. Although IFC has always been ready to finance such projects, there have been few opportunities to do so, given the past state domi-

nation of these sectors. However, IFC is now finding that many governments are increasingly open to private investment in sectors long dominated by the state, if efficiencies can be achieved. At the moment private sector proposals are under discussion in IFC for power projects in Côte d'Ivoire, Mexico, Pakistan, Turkey, and Venezuela; telecommunication operations in Argentina and Sri Lanka; ports in Colombia and Turkey; and pipeline storage projects in Mexico. Expectations are that the list will continue to grow. MIGA can be directly supportive by insuring the foreign investment component of such projects against noncommercial risk. The Bank can also directly help IFC by making its technical skills available to IFC in examining such projects, and IFC can be helpful in lending its financial packaging skills to the Bank when a collaborative effort is required.

Facilitating Flows of Foreign Capital and Know-How

Foreign Direct Investment

A broad consensus is emerging that, to prosper in an increasingly competitive, fast-changing world market, developing countries can benefit from and may indeed require an increased flow of foreign direct investment. This attitude (new to many) rests on several tenets. First is the recognition that outward-looking enterprises need up-to-date technical, managerial, and marketing know-how, which often is not available locally. With strong local management, technical know-how can sometimes be purchased; managerial know-how, however, usually cannot be purchased. Moreover, in many countries it is the combination of technology and management that is critical.

Second, risk capital, rewarded by results, is seen as an attractive alternative to debt, particularly as foreign commercial bank lending, never available in many countries for long-term project finance, has dried up in others. Third, there is growing confidence in the ability of developing countries to avoid the abuses (most prevalent in highly protected sectors) and secure the advantages of foreign direct investment. Foreign investors increasingly recognize the need to be "good corporate citizens" within the host country. As a result, dozens of countries have made efforts in recent years to revise their investment codes and regulations to facilitate foreign direct investment.

Unfortunately, as the need and desire on the part of developing countries for foreign direct investment has increased, the flow has decreased—from \$15 billion net in 1981 to about \$10 billion a year in 1983–87. And even that amount has been concentrated in a rather narrow band of countries. The decline is due to foreign investors' perceptions of the opportunities and risks of investing in many countries, given such factors as political instability, debt overhang, macroeconomic policies, rigid trade problems, and foreign exchange allocation schemes. However, *the* critical issue for foreign investors in many countries is the macroeconomic environment.

Consequently, the Bank's greatest impact in facilitating foreign direct investment will come through supporting structural adjustments that deal with macroeconomic instruments and through encouraging countries to move from inward- to outward-oriented strategies. These efforts will also tend to reduce internal opposition to foreign direct investment. Increasingly, structural adjustment operations (about half of them at present) contain specific conditions related to foreign direct investment, such as improvements in investment codes. As part of its economic sector work, the Bank has also, on occasion, looked specifically at a country's foreign investment policies (Mexico is a case in point), where those policies loom as a development issue.

One of IFC's original and basic roles is to facilitate the flow of foreign direct investment. About 40 percent of IFC's operations are joint ventures between foreign and local sponsors; in many more there is foreign involvement in providing technological, managerial, or marketing know-how. Indeed IFC's role is truly catalytic in situations where the foreign investor simply would not invest unless IFC was an involved coinvestor. In recent years about half of the IFC-financed joint ventures fall into this category. This is particularly true in countries that have recently opened their doors to foreign investors (for example, Hungary) and in those that have always had a difficult time attracting them (for example, African countries).

Foreign Investment Advisory Services

Responding to increasing requests from member countries for advice on foreign direct investment, IFC launched the Foreign Investment Advisory Service (FIAS) in 1986. FIAS advice centers on the content and administration of investment policies and on the strategies for promoting investment. As of fiscal 1988, work has been done in seven countries, and projects are under way or planned in ten additional countries. Thus the demand is significant. In taking

on assignments, FIAS coordinates with the Bank to ensure that its work does not duplicate other ongoing programs.

Settlement of Investment Disputes

In 1966 the International Centre for Investment Disputes (ICSID) was established under the auspices of the Bank. Administratively integrated into the Bank and fully funded by it, ICSID provides a forum for conciliation and arbitration of investment disputes between states and foreign investors. Eighty-nine countries have joined ICSID, and twenty-five cases have been submitted to it for arbitration; increasing use is being made of this facility. ICSID's activities include research and information on investment arbitration and law. It publishes materials and organizes symposiums on these topics.

Investment Guarantees

The newest member of the Bank Group, the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) has recently come into being. It too is a response to the need for a new mechanism to encourage foreign direct investment. MIGA will specialize in the reduction or elimination of noncommercial risks, especially political risk, and will carry out this mandate through guarantee, consultative, advisory, and promotional activities. Specifically, MIGA will provide guarantees against (a) restrictions on the repatriation of investment proceeds in convertible currency (transfer and inconvertibility risk), (b) expropriation and similar measures, (c) breach of contract by a host government in certain defined cases of denial of justice, and (d) war, revolution, or civil disturbance. (The breach of contract coverage, not normally provided as such by national investment guarantee agencies, can be important in encouraging buildoperate-transfer contracts, which were discussed in chapter 3.) Coverage may be extended to other noncommercial risks, except currency devaluation.

In addition to equity investments (including equity-type loans), coverage will encompass production-sharing contracts, profit-sharing contracts, management contracts, franchising agreements, licensing agreements, leasing agreements, and turnkey contracts, if they have a term of at least three years and the contractor's payment is substantially linked to the operating results of the project.

MIGA is coming upon the scene with a strong mandate in its charter to provide a broad range of advisory services that will aid the protection and

promotion of foreign direct investment. Both IFC (including FIAS) and MIGA have unique contributions to make to member governments seeking foreign investment advice. IFC's capability in this respect flows principally from its activities as a direct investor and from its experience in forming joint ventures and promoting investment projects in developing countries. MIGA's capability will in time be built upon the business experience resulting from its investment guarantee operations and its particular focus on investment protection. In order to take advantage of these potential contributions, it is recommended that the managements of IFC and MIGA develop an advisory service jointly managed and supported by both institutions.

In the area of guarantees, there is a question of the division of labor between MIGA and IFC. MIGA envisages providing guarantees under carefully designed arrangements against noncommercial risks in investments for productive purposes. MIGA'S program would initially focus on equity investments and other forms of foreign direct investment. In contrast, IFC has occasionally provided repayment guarantees for lending activities, and only in a few special situations has it guaranteed equity-type arrangements.

IFC's program for a guaranteed return of investment principal (GRIP) is in essence designed as an investment partnership, sharing risks and rewards, rather than as a protection scheme for political risk. Consequently, IFC's guarantee activities entail little, if any, overlap with MIGA's, and there is little need at this time to further delineate MIGA's and IFC's respective guarantee functions. If particular cases arise where an overlap is anticipated, the two institutions should consult to ensure the complementarity of the two programs.

Foreign Portfolio Investment

As more developing countries deepen their financial systems, the potential grows to build links between their markets and foreign portfolio investors. IFC's Emerging Market Data Base tracks securities markets in eighteen developing countries and covers about 8,500 stocks. Although only some 300 of these securities now meet the liquidity and "visibility" requirements of international portfolio managers, the market is growing. Capitalizations of each of the five largest developing markets are already comparable to those of a medium-size European country.

In 1984 IFC pioneered the listing of a country fund on the New York Stock Exchange. This fund—which was for Korea—has served as a model for other country funds that IFC or other institutions have promoted. As of fiscal 1988, IFC has managed or comanaged ten such funds with a total capitalization of about \$1 billion.

Considerable effort goes into establishing the appropriate legal and regulatory framework for such investment funds, arranging independent management for them, and putting together the underwriting of each transaction. Although the capital flows represented by these funds are still limited and the short-term growth rates were no doubt reduced by the worldwide stock market decline in 1987, they are an important new capital-raising mechanism for some developing countries. IFC is expected to play a catalytic, market-leading role in more country funds; it is now examining proposals from Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, the Philippines, and Turkey. One impetus to this type of activity is the debt-equity conversion plans being developed in Chile and other countries, which specifically link the country fund to debt conversion. In many cases the country funds set up with the help of IFC have been established after the country has undertaken extensive adjustment programs with the help of the Bank. This sequence underscores the connections between macroeconomic policies and conditions conducive to deepening financial markets and increasing international capital flows.

Debt Flows

Commercial bank lending and export credits have undergone a major reversal. In 1981 commercial lending to developing countries totaled \$52 billion; by 1986 it fell to \$5 billion. Export credit finance declined from \$18 billion to \$2 billion in the same interval. The overwhelming amount of commercial long-term credit has gone to meet public sector needs, as has almost all export credit finance.

The picture varies somewhat from country to country. In those markets where the credit risk is perceived to be low, as it is in some Asian countries, loans from foreign commercial banks to strong private sector borrowers are common. For the bulk of the Bank Group's member countries, however, foreign commercial bank financing is hardly available to the private sector. When available, it is usually limited to short- or medium-term trade financing for the most solid exporters.

Against this backdrop, IFC's efforts to sell participations in IFC loans to commercial banks (averaging about \$300 million a year) account for a sizable share of commercial bank finance for projects in the pri-

vate sector. Properly structured loans based on project cash flows avoid the dangers of the pre-1982 lending boom, which was based instead on easily available government guarantees. IFC should continue to emphasize this aspect of its activity.

Although commercial bank lending is currently depressed, in some countries the Bank Group can encourage, in conjunction with financial sector reform, the introduction of foreign banks into traditional, protected banking systems. Foreign banks can play a valuable role in financial sector reform by introducing modern techniques and standards and by increasing competition.

Both the Bank and IFC can also encourage the flow of export credit finance to the private sector. Except for the Export Credit Guarantee Department in the United Kingdom, which has initiated a limited project finance program, the large export credit agencies still insist on government guarantees; this tends to drive their financing toward the public sector. However, the Bank Group, through its involvement in build-operate-transfer schemes, for example, can raise the willingness of these agencies to finance private sector infrastructure projects.

Conclusion: The Need for Collaborative Effort

In many of the Bank's member countries deficiencies in financial institutions and policies limit the potential for private sector growth. The Bank Group, because it has so many ways to influence the means by which private sector firms secure the resources they need for their growth, is well placed to help its members develop their financial sectors, and a start has been made. Still, a more concerted effort is needed, based on country-specific long-term strategies for financial sector development.

Such strategies should balance macro (sector) and micro (institutional) issues. Financial sector adjustments will have to parallel adjustment policies in the economy as a whole and will depend on the degree of financial distress encountered in the particular country. Some systems will require massive restructuring and loss-taking, as well as changes in the ownership or management of major banks and firms.

Others will need only the kind of policy reforms that affect all intermediaries (for example, banking regulation, audits, and accounting transparency; liberalized interest rates and the reduction of directed and subsidized credit; the removal of barriers to new financial instruments and institutions; and the exit of loss-makers).

The Bank, through its macroeconomic and financial sector work, has the capacity to take the lead in the overall assessment and programming of necessary reforms and systemic improvements. This will be reflected in increased lending to the financial sector in the coming years, as well as increased focus on financial sector issues in other adjustment lending operations.

As countries achieve success in implementing some of the basic reforms needed to improve intermediation, opportunities will emerge for deepening financial structures by further development of capital markets. It is in this area that the Bank and IFC should fully collaborate. IFC's work in developing securities markets, establishing and strengthening nonbank financial institutions, introducing new financial instruments, and developing links to international capital markets effectively allows the Bank Group to cover the full range of issues affecting the financial sector.

Private sector development requires a great variety of efforts and skills. Here are some of the most important that have been explored in this report: to establish an adequate regulatory framework for primary and secondary markets, so that a wider variety of debt and equity instruments can be sold, based on adequate disclosure and protection conditions for investors; to make tax policies more neutral to different types of securities, especially by removing tax deterrents to the use of long-term debt and equity instruments; and to promote institutional development, so as to provide liquidity in the financial system for new instruments.

The Bank Group encompasses many of the skills that can help member governments implement these reforms. With greater cooperation and commitment, the members of the Bank Group can create a synergism in support of private sector development.

Appendix: Summary of Recommendations

This report has made a number of recommendations for the Bank Group. These are summarized below.

The Enabling Environment

A major contribution of the Bank will continue to be the assistance it offers governments through policy analysis and advice and through adjustment lending to ensure that the enabling environment and business climate are supportive of PSD, as noted in the following recommendations.

Recommendation 1: That the Bank's adjustment and public sector restructuring loans give increased attention to the creation of a macroeconomic, regulatory, and public sector environment conducive to PSD. Adjustment operations are the natural vehicle for translating analytical insights on the enabling environment into effective policy dialogue and financial support. A recently published report on adjustment lending reviewed the design and implementation of structural and sectoral adjustment operations (including macroeconomic management, reform of incentives, and public sector restructuring). This report therefore concentrates on those aspects of the enabling environment most directly dealing with PSD (especially regulatory controls and privatization).

Recommendation 2: That the Bank Group, led by IBRD and IDA, give greater attention to the legal and regulatory constraints to PSD. More research, country-specific economic and sector work, and lending activity should be devoted to this area, including such issues as streamlining regulatory pro-

cedures, reforming investment and labor regulations, protecting the public interest, fostering competition, clarifying property rights, and removing limitations on the ease of entry and exit of large and small enterprises.

Recommendation 3: That the Bank Group expand and intensity its support for privatization of state-owned enterprises. The Bank should expand its research and advisory capacity on privatization, especially as regards the institutional and incentive framework. It should also increase its supportive role in the analysis of the legal and regulatory environment for privatization and its capacity to provide technical operational support in the design of components for country economic and sector work and for structural and sectoral adjustment loans dealing with privatization.

IFC should expand its capacity to provide technical assistance and advice to governments and to the Bank in this area, as well as its capacity to finance and underwrite particular privatization transactions. IFC should explore the possibility of setting up a specialized staff unit for this purpose. At the request of member governments IFC should be eligible to provide advisory services (in this and other areas) funded under Bank loans and IDA credits. MIGA can also provide guarantee coverage to foreign investment in support of privatization.

Supporting Services

Support to public agencies for the efficient provision of supporting services (infrastructure, education, health, and so forth) remains an essential component of the Bank Group's support for growth, development of the private sector, and reduction of poverty. In addition, the Bank Group can expand and inten-

^{1.} World Bank Country Economics Department, *Adjustment Lending: An Evaluation of Ten Years of Experience*, Policy and Research Series 1 (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1988).

sify its activities to ensure that the potential contribution of private enterprises in the efficient provision of such services is fully realized.

Recommendation 4: That the Bank undertake research and policy work on the appropriate role of the private sector in providing infrastructure and social services. The Bank already has undertaken studies on this question for some sectors (for example, housing and urban bus transport), but the scope of such research and policy work should be extended to all major sectors.

Recommendation 5: That the Bank prepare policy papers for each sector to provide operational guidelines on how the Bank Group can ensure that the private sector becomes more involved in financing and operating infrastructure and social services. This work would also draw on IFC's limited involvement in the infrastructure and social services sectors and in turn would seek to provide guidance for an expansion of IFC's activities in these areas.

Recommendation 6: That the Bank in its public expenditure or investment reviews for particular countries explicitly consider ways to increase private sector participation in the provision of infrastructure and social services. Increasing private sector involvement in the provision of services offers an opportunity not only to increase efficiency within the sector, but also to reduce government spending during periods of fiscal austerity.

Financial Sector Development

The development of the financial sector and capital markets in developing countries is one of the most important ingredients for successful and healthy growth of private enterprise. The economic crises of the 1980s in many developing countries have demonstrated the weaknesses in the financial sector. Unless these weaknesses are addressed in a synchronized way with macroeconomic reforms, the effective contribution of the private sector will be limited.

Recommendation 7: That the Bank, supported by the IFC staff, expand and extend its program of adjustment lending in support of financial sector reform. Basic financial reform is essential for a return to solid growth. It typically involves the reform of inefficient banking systems, directed and subsidized credit streams, poor disclosure and audit requirements, and locked-in lending institutions unable or unwilling to take losses. The expanded initiatives in financial sector adjustment lending need to be sup-

ported by efforts to develop operational staffing capacity, by increased research, and by country economic and sector work.

Recommendation 8: That the Bank and IFC extend and intensify their support for the development of capital markets in developing countries to mobilize both domestic and external resources in support of productive activities, especially in the private sector. The Bank's involvement in this area is related to its efforts to reform the policy and regulatory environment of capital markets. IFC is also active in this area, often in collaboration with the Bank. IFC has extended its support for capital market development through innovative initiatives supporting new private institutions that provide various types of capital market instruments (new types of debt securities, equity), services (securities companies and merchant banks), and funds providing linkages with foreign markets.

Development Finance Institutions

The Bank has financed the private sector primarily through a variety of development finance institutions (DFIS). IFC is a shareholder in some of these, but in recent years the Bank has been the main source of funding and support for these institutions, the large majority of which are government-owned. The record of the 130 or so institutions supported by the Bank or IFC is, at best, mixed. There are some notable successes, but many are in serious trouble and of questionable viability and vitality. Another form of Bank financing for DFIs is the so-called apex loan (a loan to one institution that in turn on-lends the funds to other domestic financial institutions). Although apex loans have achieved some sectoral objectives, they have also distanced the Bank from basic problems and deficiencies in some participating interme-

Recommendation 9: That the Bank Group, led by the IBRD and IDA, undertake an in-depth review of DFI lending. This review would draw on and update the 1985 internal policy paper on DFI lending. It would, among other things, be designed to reassert standards that put more focus on the financial integrity of the DFI, the capability of its management, the linkages of the DFI to domestic capital markets, the suitability of its structure to adapt to rapidly changing environments, and its sustainability in the long term. This review is all the more urgent in view of the current forecast of increased Bank lending through financial intermediaries.

Recommendation 10: That the Bank, with inputs from 1FG, develop a country-specific strategy for Bank Group support to intermediaries. This strategy would be developed as part of the overall country strategy for PSD. It would lay the basis for turning. over time, government-dependent intermediaries into more self-sufficient market-based entities, particularly in countries where the financial sector is maturing. Within such a strategy, DFI lending by the Bank should typically aim to address the systemic financial or institutional problems that impede the country's financial intermediaries—those directly supported by the Bank, as well as others—from playing a more effective and self-sustaining role in mobilizing and intermediating financial resources. As a complement to Bank intervention, IFC should continue to press forward with its program of diversification that supports a variety of specialized capital market institutions. IFC's role is particularly important in assisting capital market development and in supporting intermediaries that are maturing and approaching private markets, that do not have access to government guarantees and finance, or that are permitting IFC to serve a market segment that would not otherwise be served. The IFC's skills and experience in this area should be made available to the Bank when they are helpful in resolving particular problems relating to Bank-financed intermediaries.

Recommendation 11: That the Bank Group develop a systematic and consistent approach to subloan pricing in DFI lending. Present Bank policy is either that sub-borrowers assume the foreign exchange risk on Bank funds or that the pricing in local currency reflect the real marginal cost of those funds. Increasingly in DFI lending by the Bank, governments cover all or part of the foreign exchange risk. Depending on how subloans are priced, there can be a difference in the terms of Bank-sourced and commercially sourced funds to end-users. In some cases, lenders that are not government-guaranteed may be crowded out by government-guaranteed, Bank-sourced funds. Care should be taken that such crowding out does not occur. This requires that within the context of market-based pricing, appropriate country-specific methodologies be developed and applied for dealing with the foreign exchange risk of DFI lending. The policy review of DFI lending (recommendation 9) should provide the general methodological framework and options, while the country-specific strategies for DFI lending (recommendation 10) should reflect agreement within the Bank Group on the particular subloan pricing options appropriate for the country concerned.

Direct Financing

Direct financing of industry by the Bank has declined substantially, and most of what is currently done involves restructuring operations in the public sector. This trend is appropriate in view of IFC's increasing capacity and the Bank Group's general policy stance that the public sector should minimize its direct involvement in the productive activities of the industrial sector if there are more efficient alternatives available.

Recommendation 12: That IFC be the appropriate Bank Group vehicle for the direct financing of private industrial projects. The Bank may be called upon, together with IFC, for some direct financing of large private projects where both institutions are needed. The Bank would also continue selective direct financing and restructuring of public industrial enterprises. Bank involvement should normally be restricted to cases of significant restructuring of public industrial enterprises, especially those in which eventual privatization is a possibility. In financing state enterprises more care is needed to limit such financing to those cases where the entity will become an efficient producer and where more efficient private sector activity is not crowded out. Occasionally it will also make sense for both the Bank and IFC to be involved in a private sector project that could not effectively be put together without both institutions, and policies should be flexible enough to support such collaboration.

Support for Small Entrepreneurs and Technological Development

The scope for effective direct intervention by the Bank Group in support of small entrepreneurs and technological development so far appears to have been limited. Research and operational experience indicate, however, that the enabling environment—particularly the business climate, the openness of the economy, and the absence of burdensome regulatory restrictions—is the major factor that determines whether or not small enterprises and domestic technological development can thrive.

Recommendation 13: That the Bank seek to strengthen the enabling environment for small entrepreneurs and technological development as part of its research, policy, and operational work and that both the Bank and the IFC continue to explore ways to strengthen their direct support in these areas. Direct support for small entrepreneurs should build on an analysis of what has and has not worked in the

past and on the evolving experience of IFC with leasing companies, venture capital operations, and its initiatives in Africa and the Caribbean designed to help small firms. Intensification of the dialogue with nongovernmental organizations in this area is also needed. As for technological development, there is scope for the Bank to continue to support the improvement of research and scientific capabilities in the developing world through lending that benefits institutions of higher learning and research. IFC should also continue to explore ways to assist its clients to locate, evaluate, and acquire new or mature technologies.

Foreign Direct Investment

In many member countries the need and desire for foreign direct investment has grown, especially as the availability of foreign commercial bank financing has been severely curtailed. The advent of IFC's Foreign Investment Advisory Service (FIAS) and MIGA is a direct response of the Bank Group to this development. Foreign direct investment brings risk capital, management, and technology, and in a number of countries the process works well. In others, however, although policymakers want the benefits of such investment, the framework and environment for it are poor, and the amount of foreign direct investment has been limited.

Recommendation 14: That the Bank Group, especially through IFC and MIGA, strengthen its efforts to promote the flow of foreign direct investment to developing countries. These efforts would bring into play a wide range of support functions including loans, investments, and guarantees, as well as advisory and informational activities directed both to host countries and to foreign investors. The Bank can also play a more effective supporting role by promoting a macroeconomic environment that will encourage and give confidence to foreign investors. Its adjustment lending in particular should give increasing attention to policy constraints to foreign direct investment in specific countries.

Recommendation 15: That IFC and MIGA develop a single, jointly managed delivery system for advising governments on the broad range of issues related to encouraging foreign direct investment. IFC, through FIAS, already has an advisory capability in this area stemming from IFC's long history of work with foreign investors in its member countries. At the same time, MIGA has a broad mandate in this area. Development of a joint advisory service would be most appropriate.²

 $^{2.\ \,}$ This recommendation has been implemented since the Review Group submitted its report.

The World Bank

Headquarters

1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433, U.S.A.

Telephone: (202) 477-1234 Facsimile: (202) 477-6391 Telex: WUI 64145 WORLDBANK

RCA 248423 WORLDBANK
Cable Address: INTBAFRAD
WASHINGTONDC

European Office

66, avenue d'Iéna 75116 Paris, France

Telephone: (1) 40.69.30.00 Facsimile: (1) 47.20.19.66 Telex: 842-620628

Tokyo Office Kokusai Building 1-1 Marunouchi 3-chome Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100, Japan

Telephone: (3) 214-5001 Facsimile: (3) 214-3657 Telex: 781-26838



International Bank for Reconstruction and Development International Development Association International Finance Corporation FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' MEETING

DECLASSIFIED

APR 30 2025

WBG ARCHIVES

For consideration on Tuesday, January 24, 1989

> R89-9 IDA/R89-6 IFC/R89-5

January 11, 1989

PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT ACTION PROGRAM

Attached is a memorandum from the President entitled "Private Sector Development Action Program", dated January 11, 1989.

Questions may be referred to Ms. Shirley (ext. 61713).

Dixtribution:

Executive Directors and Alternates President Senior Vice Presidents Senior Management Council Vice Presidents, IFC

FROM: Vice President and Secretary

This document has a restriced distribution and may be used by recipients only in the performance of their official duties. Its contents may not otherwise be disclosed without World Bank authorization.

THE WORLD BANK Washington, D.C. 20433 U.S.A.

BARBER B. CONABLE President

«January 11, 1989

MEMORANDUM TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SUBJECT: Private Sector Development Action Program

- 1. The Private Sector Development Review Group was set up to propose ways in which the World Bank Group can increase its effectiveness in assisting its member countries strengthen the private sector contribution to the development. The Review Group's Report, which was circulated to the Executive Directors under SecM88-882(IFC/SecM88-117), provides an overview of the Bank Group's work, frames a conceptual basis for developing a strategy, and recommends ways to expand and enhance World Bank Group work on private sector development.
- 2. The Management reviewed the recommendations of the Group and broadly endorses these recommendations. The attached Report presents an action program Management intends to adopt. In addition, the Annex to the Report compiles the recommendations of the Review Group and associated Management action.

But B. Curble

PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT ACTION PROGRAM

CONTENTS

		Page
I.	Introduction	1
II.	Improving the Business Environment	3
III.	Public Sector Restructuring and Privatization of Enterprises, Infrastructure and Services	4
IV.	Financial Sector Development and Resource Transfer	6
V.	Research and Policy Work	9
VI.	Organizational Implications	10
Annex		11

January 1989

PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT ACTION PROGRAM

I. <u>Introduction</u>

Background to the Action Program

- 1. The Private Sector Development Review Group was set up to propose ways in which the World Bank Group can increase its effectiveness in helping its member countries strengthen the private sector contribution to development. The Review Group's Report (SecM88-882[IFC/SecM88-117]) provides an overview of the World Bank Group's work, frames a conceptual basis for developing a strategy, and recommends ways to expand and enhance World Bank Group work on private sector development.
- 2. As the Report makes clear, the World Bank Group has emphasized the advantages of market discipline and private initiative in promoting efficient development, but this approach has evolved unsystematically over time, and there are gaps that must be filled, subjects where our efforts should be intensified, and a need for improved coordination and joint action. A number of new initiatives have been launched in the last five years: IFC has grown rapidly; the Foreign Investment Advisory Service (FIAS) was created in 1986; MIGA was established in 1988; and the Bank¹ has increasingly emphasized the business environment in adjustment lending.² Development strategies have been changing in the 1980's, and the World Bank Group's approach has changed with them. Staff in all sectors and regions are increasingly working with member countries to actively seek private sector solutions to development problems. Nevertheless, there is a need to expand and reinforce this effort and to assure a systematic and coordinated approach.
- 3. This Action Program details the specific actions the World Bank Group will take over the next three years to expand and enhance our support for private sector development. Four considerations have shaped our thinking in developing the Action Program. First, the Bank Group's membership includes countries with different economic, political and social objectives, as well as with private sectors at varied stages of development. This necessitates different approaches, tailored to

context of |--

^{1/} The term Bank includes IDA throughout the report.

^{2/} A 1986 report "Bank Group Role in Fostering Enterprise Development" (Industry Department, May, 1986) identified a number of ways the World Bank Group could improve the business environment and pointed out the need for a more systematic approach.

individual country circumstances. The World Bank Group will continue to focus, as now, on efficiency, not ownership per se. Second, as the Report points out, private sector development cuts across virtually all aspects of the Bank Group's work, involving all the institutional complexes, and possibilities exist to pursue private sector development in virtually every sector and sub-sector. While these possibilities will be pursued in the context of individual operations and activities, this Program focuses on priority areas where the Bank Group can make the greatest difference. Third, since this is a Program for the near and medium term, it concentrates on tasks that can be expanded or initiated quickly, based on techniques we already know. It also lays out a program of research and policy work to enhance our understanding of relatively unexplored areas and to develop new tools, as well as to refine existing techniques. Finally, private sector development involves not just more private activity, but also expanded competition and better government capacity to correct abuses and regulate wisely. Private sector development should not be associated with private monopoly power and rent seeking, but with greater use of competitive markets and increased efficiency.

Priorities for Action

- 4. The World Bank Group will move quickly to expand and focus its support to private sector development in the following priority areas:
 - (1) improving the business environment for the private sector;
 - (2) public sector restructuring and privatization of enterprises and the provision of infrastructure and services;
 - (3) financial sector development (including improving the operations of financial intermediaries) and transfer of resources; and
 - (4) a program of research and policy work to lay the basis for future operations.
- 5. Actions on these topics and the organizational implications are discussed below. Regional managers are in the process of developing work programs reflecting these priorities in the context of individual country circumstances.
- 6. The World Bank Group has underway or will initiate work in a number of other areas of private sector development besides these four. These are indicated in the annex to this report which provides a checklist of the actions to be taken on each of the Review Group's twenty-one recommendations and details on the other areas. Moreover, this Action Program is just one stage in an on-going process of private sector development work. The World Bank Group will actively seek to refine and

expand this program and to develop new approaches in the course of carrying out the activities detailed below. A progress report will be prepared in 12 months to review results and to spell out possible new initiatives.

II. Improving the Business Environment

- 7. Improvements in the business environment are an essential component of any strategy for private sector development. With the expansion of policy based lending the Bank has increased its emphasis on policies designed to improve the efficiency and competitiveness of the private sector and the economy as a whole. This includes not only macroeconomic and sector policy reforms, but also legal and regulatory reforms, most notably: cuts in red tape and the streamlining of regulations, improvements in commercial codes, and reform of investment and export rules and incentives. A December, 1987 survey found that 45 adjustment operations (about 40 percent of all structural and sectoral loans) had components specifically directed at improving the business environment through regulatory reform. Nevertheless, there is considerable scope for increasing and refining the World Bank Group's support for reforms in this area, as the Review Group Report points out.
- Adjustment operations in support of economic policy reforms will increasingly also support policies, regulations and legal reforms directed specifically at improving the environment for private sector development. Depending on country circumstances, such operations will, where appropriate, work to: remove barriers to entry and exit; change labor laws to reduce distortions and the excessive costs of job creation; simplify and improve the tax system and make it more transparent and less distortionary; change titling laws and procedures to make it easier to establish property rights; improve anti-trust legislation; streamline procedures for registering and licensing businesses; reduce the role of public monopolies by expanding competition; improve business accounting and auditing practices; and strengthen government's capacity to regulate rather than intervene and to encourage competition and initiative. Early initiatives show that considerable changes can be achieved through adjustment operations, even in socialist countries. In Hungary, for example, adjustment lending is supporting reforms to permit the establishment of private, limited liability companies. Considerable country ecnomic and sector work has already been done or is underway to identify key regulatory and legal constraints to private sector development and develop programs of reform; for example, studies of industrial regulatory reform have been completed in Argentina, India, Indonesia, Nigeria, Pakistan and Venezuela, and of private sector development more broadly in Chad, The Gambia, Ghana, Madagascar, and Niger, and studies are planned or underway in, to mention only a few, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Honduras, Indonesia, Mali, Mexico, and Zimbabwe. This prior work will permit a rapid and broad increase in adjustment components focusing on specific regulatory and legal reforms to improve the business environment. Countries where potential operations have been identified include Bangladesh, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Guatemala, Mali, Mexico, Niger, Tanzania, and

Zimbabwe. Regional staff will review all forthcoming adjustment operations to identify additional regulatory reforms that can be supported given individual country circumstances.

In addition to these general reforms, developing countries interested in attracting foreign direct investment will need to address specifically the barriers and constraints facing the foreign investor. Developing countries can benefit from, and may indeed require, an increased flow of foreign direct investment if they are to prosper in an increasingly competitive, fast-changing world market. To assist its member countries secure the advantages of foreign direct investment, IFC and MIGA have made FIAS a joint program (in October, 1988), and its existing staff will double by FY91. As a result, FIAS activities, such as its current support to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Ghana Investment Centre in promoting investment, will expand. FIAS's advice, combined with IFC's expanding activities and MIGA's insurance programs against non-commercial risk, will work to better the environment for foreign direct investment in Furthermore, the Bank Group will assist heavily developing countries. indebted countries expand their use of debt/equity conversions (the Bank through advice and, possibly in the future, operations; IFC through investment operations and promotion and underwriting of equity investment funds that make use of conversions; MIGA through insurance for equity resulting from debt conversion), thus providing additional opportunities for foreign direct investment.

III. <u>Public Sector Restructuring and Privatization of Enterprises</u>, <u>Infrastructure and Services</u>

Many developing country governments are reexamining the role of the state in their economies, reassessing public spending priorities, pruning unmanageable or peripheral activities, and moving to tap private skills and resources wherever possible. This growing interest in recasting the role of the state and increasing both public and private efficiency has been extensively supported by World Bank Group operations, as the Review Group Report points out. Where necessary in the interests of improving efficiency, the World Bank Group has supported divestiture and liquidation of public enterprises, ending public monopolies, increasing budget discipline and concentrating public expenditures on high priority tasks in order to give more room for private activities, and generally improving the In many countries public enterprises efficacy of public institutions. will continue to operate in key sectors even after major reform efforts. In such cases, the World Bank Group will continue to support reforms to make public enterprises more autonomous and accountable, to decentralize decision making, expose public enterprises to competition wherever feasible, and restructure their operations to increase efficiency. These reforms, as well as divestiture, are standard features of most public enterprise reform projects and encouraging results have been achieved in, to mention a few, Ghana, Jamaica, Niger and Turkey.

- 11. While noteworthy successes have been achieved in some areas, in others progress has been slower than expected. Divestiture, in particular, has proved difficult to implement. While there have been some 58 Bank operations with divestiture components, only a few, relatively small countries have completed or made substantial progress on their divestiture programs (e.g., Guinea, Jamaica, Niger, Panama and Togo). Progress has been slower than expected for a number of reasons, among them: (i) the lack of a framework for deciding on a divestiture strategy; (ii) a lack of indigenous private entrepreneurs able to acquire and manage the enterprises; (iii) weak or nonexistent capital markets; (iv) the difficulty of maximizing the efficiency gains from private ownership without first creating an appropriate competitive market; (v) procedural and legal obstacles; and, (vi) strong political sensitivities, particularly to foreign ownership.
- 12. In order to enhance efficiency and competition, the WBG will expand its support to interested countries for developing an appropriate framework and favorable environment for successful privatization, and will take a more direct role in assisting implementation. The Bank will increase its assistance to: (i) formulate a divestiture strategy; (ii) develop inventories of assets and liabilities; (iii) create or strengthen the institutions responsible for implementing the privatization program; (iv) ready enterprises for sale by helping to prepare and implement a restructuring plan; and, (v) fund programs of staff redeployment (including seed capital to start new activities) and retraining.
- 13. Privatization is both dependent on and can contribute to capital market development. The development of appropriate financial market instruments and institutions is needed to mobilize the resources of a large number of private investors. At the same time, the preparation of public enterprises for privatization can provide a useful vehicle for and catalyst to the improvements in accounting and auditing practices, disclosure standards, securities regulations, etc. that are needed to foster the confidence of savers and investors, both domestic and foreign, and thus encourage the deepening of the capital market.
- 14. Countries where potential projects to support divestiture have been identified include Argentina, Brazil, Cameroon, The Gambia, Honduras, Mauritania, Malaysia, Mexico, Nigeria, and Tanzania. IFC has recently created a specialized Corporate Finance Services unit. It will consist initially of about eight professional staff (in place by the end of FY89) and work closely with the IFC Investment Departments to increase the Corporation's privatization activities, including advice on preparing privatization deals, locating investors and conducting negotiations, as well as investments in privatized firms. In addition, the Bank and IFC will cooperate closely to increase support to restructuring prior to sale, including bringing in prospective shareholders (entrepreneurs, financial institutions, employees) to participate in the restructuring, or,

alternatively, assisting the buyers to restructure the newly privatized enterprise. Efforts are being launched in Brazil and Mexico. MIGA will support divestiture programs by insuring both direct and portfolio equity investments in privatized enterprises.

The World Bank Group will also assist interested member countries 15. to expand the private sector role in infrastructure and social services where that helps to ease financial constraints and increase efficiency. The Bank will help governments establish an appropriate legal and contractual framework, identify investments currently in public investment programs that are suitable for private involvement, analyze the financial and economic viability of proposals, and negotiate with interested parties. IFC will undertake both direct financing and advisory services, and in 'some cases will play an important role in helping to attract investors and put together the commercial financing packages. One way in particular in which the Bank and IFC will work to assist countries interested in attracting private investment is through Build, Own and Operate projects (where private investors build, own, operate and, in some cases, eventually transfer back to the public sector) in, for example, power generation, oil and gas pipelines, telecommunications, ports/container terminals and major toll highways. An example of the viability of this approach is the recently approved Private Sector Energy Project in Pakistan, where a Bank loan of \$150 million and possible future IFC equity contributions and loans are helping mount a total financing package of \$1.9 billion, 70% of which will come from the private sector. Countries where the Bank and/or IFC have identified potential operations to expand the private role in infrastructure and services include Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Dominican Republic, Indonesia, India, Malaysia, Mexico, the Philippines, Thailand and Turkey. The creation of MIGA will also help to encourage expanded private involvement by providing protection against non-commercial risks.

IV. Financial Sector Development and Resource Transfer

The ability of the financial sector to mobilize an adequate volume of savings and channel resources effectively to their most efficient uses is one of the most important ingredients for successful private sector development. A modern, efficient, market-based economy is inconceivable without an efficient financial system to mobilize savings and channel them to their most productive end-uses. Adjustment operations have consistently promoted reform of interest and exchange rates, and considerable progress has been made, but these policy reforms have not always generated the expected supply response, in part because of rigidities and inadequacies in the financial sector. At the same time, World Bank Group operations in support of local financial intermediaries have sometimes tended to focus too narrowly on meeting the credit needs of particular end-borrowers and may not have given due attention to the requirements and importance of overall financial sector development. The situation has been changing in recent years, however, and that change will now be consolidated and formalized.

- 17. Operations that involve the financial sector, either as the object of the operation or as the vehicle for transferring resources to other sectors of the economy, will be designed and carried out within the context of coherent, country-specific strategies for financial sector development. Wherever possible in its project and policy lending and country dialogues, the World Bank Group will seek to encourage greater reliance on market-based decision-making and to eliminate policy and other distortions affecting financial markets. In most cases, this will involve a two-pronged approach, in which vital sector and economy-wide issues--e.g., interest rates, macroeconomic stabilization, legal and regulatory framework, real sector incentives, etc.--are accompanied by specific institution-building efforts aimed at catalyzing greater and more efficient responsiveness to market opportunities.
- 18. Consistent with country strategies, the World Bank Group will emphasize four specific and closely related areas: (a) improvements in the policy and institutional environment affecting financial sector development; (b) strengthening bank and nonbank financial institutions; (c) promoting capital market development; and (d) expanding the transfer of resources to developing country private sectors.

Financial Sector Reform

- 19. Bank sector studies and adjustment operations have increasingly focused on strengthening financial systems: for example, in Argentina, Ecuador, Ghana, Pakistan, the Philippines, and Turkey. Key elements of such operations include: (i) policy reforms, including liberalization of interest rate structures and progressive dismantling of administered credit allocation regimes; (ii) establishing the institutional, regulatory and legal frameworks necessary for efficient financial market operation, and strengthening supervision; (iii) improving mechanisms for depositor and investor protection; and, (iv) promoting competition, particularly through limitation or reduction of public ownership and increased private ownership and management of financial institutions.
- 20. The Bank will expand its operations in support of financial sector restructuring and reform. Four to six operations a year are currently envisaged in countries such as Bangladesh, Bolivia, Brazil, Indonesia, Kenya, Mexico, Morocco, Nigeria, Pakistan, the Philippines, Turkey, Uruguay, Yugoslavia and Zaire. IFC will expand its collaboration with the Bank in this financial sector work by helping to review policy and regulatory issues and identifying ways to fill institutional gaps.

Strengthening Financial Institutions

21. <u>In its support to, and use of, specific financial intermediaries, the Bank will assure that its activities are consistent with the overall strategy of encouraging greater reliance on markets.</u> That is not to suggest that financial markets can or should be liberalized overnight.

Indeed, to do so could have disastrously destabilizing consequences and lead to massive misallocations of resources, if the basic preconditions for efficient market operations are not in place. Moreover, many governments have serious reservations regarding a full liberalization of financial markets and continue to see credit as an important tool for the promotion of economic and social objectives. Progress, therefore, will necessarily be gradual.

- 22. World Bank Group operations and the financial institutions they support, however, should not themselves impede the liberalization process or add further distortions to the system. Thus, such operations will require a development plan for the supported institution that provides for its evolution, as financial sector liberalization proceeds and the sector becomes more competitive. Support of the institution will also be conditioned on the absence of barriers to competition and on the institution's increasing reliance over time on voluntary resources mobilized in the domestic market. In other words, Bank-supported financial institutions, whether public or privately owned, will have to withstand the test of the market. Some institutions supported by the Bank over many years may not be able to withstand such a test, and this new approach may result in their liquidation. For others, substantial restructuring and reorientation of their activities may be required. A Bank Task Force (with representation of IFC) is reviewing financial sector operations and will provide detailed recommendations on the principles and practices to guide World Bank Group lending through intermediaries including proposed policies on the treatment of interest rates and exchange risk. After management review the Task Force report will be presented to the Board.
- 23. In many countries, poor management and inadequate supervision, coupled with the macroeconomic imbalances of recent years, have left banks and other financial institutions in severe financial distress. The strengthening of financial sectors, as well as macroeconomic stabilization generally, will consequently require, in many cases, the organizational restructuring of banks and other institutions, through mergers and liquidations, and financial restructuring of by cleaning up non-performing portfolios and recapitalization. The World Bank Group will also assist in these efforts. In Ghana, for example, the Bank is supporting most of the reforms outlined here, combined with corporate restructuring to improve the health of bank portfolios. The Bank is assisting the Philippine Development Bank to privatize its branches and the Philippine National Bank to prepare for a further issue of shares to the public.

Capital Market Development

24. The scarcity of equity capital is a key constraint to private sector development in developing countries. IFC's Capital Market Department has been actively working to overcome this by promoting capital market development through investments, advice, and the development of new institutions (such as investment banks, securities companies and venture capital companies) and new financial instruments. IFC also encourages

foreign portfolio investment by promoting national (e.g. Korea, Thailand, Malaysia and Brazil) and international (e.g. the Emerging Markets Growth Fund) funds. The Bank has supported capital market development through DFI lending and, increasingly, through financial sector loans, as well as by providing advice on debt/equity swaps.

The IFC will expand its capital market work, including the establishment and strengthening of domestic capital market institutions. the support of links between domestic and international capital markets and advice to help create an appropriate regulatory framework. MIGA will insure holdings of emerging market growth funds in developing country stocks. The Bank and IFC will collaborate closely to develop systematic programs to promote capital market development. Countries where such programs could be launched include Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Ecuador Jamaica, the Philippines and Uruguay. These programs will employ Bank adjustment lending and technical assistance funding and IFC investments and advisory work to: (i) create a regulatory environment favorable to capital market development; (ii) enhance the attractiveness of capital market instruments for investors and companies by eliminating fiscal and other disincentives; (iii) increase investor confidence by improving the quality of financial information, (iv) strengthen the key capital market institutions, such as stock exchanges and the regulatory agencies; and, (v) promote specialized capital market institutions, such as investment banks and contractual savings institutions.

Resource Transfer

The World Bank Group will expand its efforts to increase the transfer of resources to the private sector, acting both as a catalyst to promote private-to-private flows and providing direct financing through IFC. Catalytic activities will include MIGA guarantees, FIAS advice, the promotional effects of IFCs own investments, and IFC's expanded work on underwriting corporate issues of securities by companies in developing countries, developing contacts and overcoming information gaps, and restructuring companies (through its new Corporate Finance Services Unit) to equip them to raise capital themselves (see also para 9). IFC, the Bank Group's main vehicle for direct financing of private industry, will expand its operations. IFC's direct investment commitments have grown at an average rate of almost 46% a year during FY86-88 and is projected to increase by 20% in FY89. IFC's investment approvals for its own account in FY89 are expected to exceed \$1.3 billion, resulting in financing with leveraging of private investments of over \$6 billion.

V. Research and Policy Work

27. While first priority will be given to rapidly increasing the World Bank Group's operational focus on private sector development, the World Bank Group will also undertake the necessary research, policy work and operational guidelines to develop new approaches and improve our existing lending instruments. The most noteworthy topics to be studied in the three

action areas mentioned above will be: (i) Bank strategies for regulatory reform, including specific sector policy papers; (ii) the private role in the delivery of public services in each economic sector; (iii) reviews of the experience with privatization; and, (iv) the financial sector development work for the 1989 WDR, as well as issues of banking regulatory policy (reconciling liberalization and financial discipline), bank restructuring and patterns of corporate finance, and parameters for financial sector adjustment lending. Other areas will be studied as well, many of them potentially important subjects for enlarging the scope of the World Bank Group's private sector development work in the future (see the Annex for details).

VI. Organizational Implications

- The entire World Bank Group will collaborate closely to assure successful implementation of this Action Program. An SVP-level Committee on Private Sector Development will be set up consisting of the Senior Vice Presidents for Operations and PPR, and the Executive Vice Presidents of MIGA and IFC to oversee the design, installation and early operation of the World Bank Group's new approaches to private sector development. This Committee will also include Mr. Shihata, and other legal council as necessary. The Public Sector Management and Private Sector Development Division will serve as secretariat for the Committee. (The Review Group Report recommends a Sub-Committee also be created, but this idea has been discarded because the SVP-level Committee will provide an adequate mechanism to monitor the private sector development activities).
- As recommended by the Review Group report, the World Bank Group will develop country strategies for promoting private sector development, and, where appropriate, Board papers will include a specific discussion of the private sector and will articulate WBG plans and programs for assisting private sector development. IFC will participate in the preparation of country strategy. Private sector assessments or issues papers will be prepared where needed to form the basis for developing the country strategies. A methodology has been developed and an assessment carried out in Ghana on a trial basis; two to three assessments will be prepared during the next fiscal year to refine the methodology (in, for example, Kenya, Costa Rica, and Trinidad and Tobago).
- 30. While the implementation of the Action Program will rely principally on existing staff (with suitable training and guidance), the WBG will need additional specialists in key areas of emphasis, for example: regulatory reform, public enterprise reform and privatization, financial sector analysis and banking reform, capital market issues, etc. (see the Annex for more details.) In particular, expertise to deal with the legal dimensions of all aspects of this program will be needed. Each World Bank Group complex will identify the staffing constraints and develop a program to overcome them quickly through training, shifting priorities and hiring new staff, specifying costs and timetable as part of their FY90 budget proposals within the overall ceiling.

PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT

ACTION PROGRAM

This annex lists the specific actions the World Bank Group will take on each of the 21 recommendations made in the private sector development Review Group Report. In the priority areas the annex refers to, but does not repeat, the main text. It provides detail on the areas not covered by the main text.

I. Actions on the Priority Areas

A. <u>Business Environment</u> (including the environment for foreign direct investment).

Private Sector Development Review Group Recommendations:

Recommendation 1: That the Bank's adjustment and public sector restructuring loans give increased attention to creation of a macroeconomic, regulatory and public sector environment conducive to private sector development.

Recommendation 2: That the World Bank Group, led by the Bank, give increased attention to the area of legal and regulatory constraints to private sector development.

Recommendation 14: That the World Bank Group, especially through IFC and MIGA, strengthen its efforts to promote the flow of foreign direct investment to developing countries.

<u>Recommendation 15</u>: That the managements of IFC and MIGA develop a single, jointly managed delivery system for advising governments on the broad range of issues related to encouraging EDI.

Action No. 1: Adjustment operations in support of economic policy reforms will increasingly also support policies, regulations and legal reforms directed specifically at improving the environment for private sector development. In addition to the activities in para. 8 of the main text:

o In initially about four countries per year, lending operations will be framed within a multi-year program that will, among other things, give the private sector a clearer sense of direction and stability. The Bank will also improve the design of fiscal frameworks that are conducive to financial stability, to balance of payments equilibrium and -- by focusing specifically on private sector financing needs to avoid "crowding out" by the public sector -- to private sector development.

Action No. 2: To assist its member countries secure the advantages of foreign direct investment, IFC and MIGA have made FIAS a joint program (in October, 1988), and its existing staff will double by FY91. (See para. 9 of the main text).

B. Public Sector Restructuring and Privatization

<u>Private Sector Development Review Group Recommendations:</u>

<u>Recommendation 3</u>: That the World Bank Group expand and intensify its support for privatization of state-owned enterprises.

Recommendation 4: That PPR undertake research and policy work on the appropriate role of the private sector for various infrastructure and social services.

Recommendation 5: That each PPR sector department prepare a policy paper providing guidelines for World Bank Group operations in their respective sectors on how the World Bank Group can ensure that the private sector becomes more involved in financing and operating infrastructure and social services.

Recommendation 6: That the Bank in its public expenditure or investment review for particular countries explicitly consider ways to increase private sector participation in the provision of infrastructure and social services.

Action No. 3: In order to enhance efficiency and competition the World Bank Group will expand its support to interested countries for developing an appropriate framework and favorable environment for successful privatization, and will take a more direct role in assisting implementation. In addition to the activities in paras. 12-14 of the main text:

o MIGA will give special attention to encouraging foreign equity and equity-type investments in support of privatization, liaising closely with the Bank and IFC. While MIGA normally covers only new investment projects, MIGA is prepared to insure shares acquired by foreign investors in existing enterprises which are being privatized against noncommercial risks. MIGA will also insure investments in privatized firms by nationals repatriating funds from abroad or equity resulting from a conversion of external debt.

2. Private Role in Infrastructure and Services

Action No. 4: The World Bank Group will assist interested member countries to expand the private role in infrastructure and social services where that helps to ease financial constraints and increase efficiency. In addition to the activities in para. 15 in the main text:

Country economic and sector work, especially sector reviews and public sector investment reviews, will give increased attention to the possibility of expanding the private sector role in the provision of infrastructure and social services, leading to additional operations and conditions in adjustment lending. For example, studies of the regulatory and institutional framework for private investment in power generation and toll roads are planned in several Asian countries. Issues of private education and private delivery of textbooks will be analyzed in several African countries. PPR has already explored the potential role of the private sector in a number of sector policy papers (for example, Financing Health Services in Developing Countries) and will produce additional proposals and guidelines for each sector.

D. Financial Sector Development and Resource Transfer

Private Sector Development Review Group Recommendations:

Recommendation 7: That the Bank, supported by the IFC staff, expand and extend its program of adjustment lending in support of financial sector reform.

Recommendation 8: That the Bank and the IFC extend and intensify their support for the development of capital markets in developing countries, designed to mobilize both domestic and external resources in support of productive activities, especially in the private sector.

Recommendation 9: That the World Bank Group, led by the Bank, undertake an in-depth review of DFI lending, resulting in a policy paper and a new Operational Manual Statement.

Recommendation 10: That the Country Departments of the Bank, with inputs from other parts of the Bank and from IFC, develop a strategy for World Bank Group support to intermediaries in a given country.

Recommendation 11: That Bank Group develop a systematic and consistent approach to sub-loan pricing in the case of DFI lending.

Recommendation 12: That IFC be the appropriate Bank Group vehicle for the direct financing of private industrial projects. The Bank may be called upon, together with IFC, for some direct financing of large private projects where both institutions are needed. The Bank would also continue selective direct financing and restructuring of public industrial enterprises.

1. Strengthening the Banking System.

Action No. 5 The Bank will expand its operations in support of financial sector restructuring and reform. (See paras. 16-20 of the main text).

2. <u>Capital Market Development</u>.

Action No. 6: The IFC will expand its capital market work and the Bank and IFC will collaborate closely to develop systematic programs to promote capital market development. In addition to the activities mentioned in paras. 24-25 of the main text:

The Bank will also promote the development of capital markets by helping Bank-supported DFIs and major borrowers (such as utilities, industrial and mining companies) which are in good financial condition develop programs to tap the local capital market through institutional investors. The Bank and IFC will provide technical assistance to these companies and major institutional investors to enable them to develop a range of financial instruments that would satisfy the different risk preferences of investors.

3. <u>Development Finance Institutions</u>.

Action No. 7: The World Bank Group will develop operational standards to assure that the Bank Group is supporting the development of DFIs that are well managed, independent, self-sustaining and flexible in the face of changing markets, while also addressing systemic policy and institutional problems that impede financial intermediaries from playing a more effective role. (See paras. 21-23 of the main text).

4. Resource Transfers. With Isnordanego evisionadia

Action No. 8: The World Bank Group will expand its efforts to increase the transfer of resources to the private sector, acting both as a catalyst to promote private to private flows and through the direct financing of IFC. (See para. 26 of the main text).

D. Research and Policy Work alshow mathematical base matter delaw-

Action No. 9: While first priority will be given to rapidly increasing the WBG's operational focus on private sector development, the World Bank Group will also undertake the necessary research, policy work and operational guidelines to develop new approaches and improve our existing lending instruments. In addition to the policy work mentioned in para 27 of the main text, other areas to be studied include:

o Financial policy and private investment; the experience of venture capital institutions; finance in agriculture, industry and housing; and topics in the other action areas detailed in part II below.

II. Actions on Other Areas

E. Support for Small Entrepreneurs and for Technology Development

Private Sector Development Review Group Recommendations:

Recommendation 13: That the Bank seek to strengthen the enabling environment for small entrepreneurs and for technological development as part of its research, policy and operational work; and that both the Bank and the IFC continue to explore ways to strengthen their direct support in these areas.

Action No. 10: The World Bank Group will support entrepreneurial development, giving priority to Africa.

The Bank will launch a two year work program in Africa designed to:

- (i) improve World Bank Group knowledge of the informal sector and entrepreneurial development through research, (including case studies) and a program of workshops and seminars working jointly with NGOs; and,
- (ii) design alternative operational approaches to assisting entrepreneurial development.
- Operations will be launched to help catalyze or support entrepreneurial development in Africa, including programs to help identify and give hands-on advice and training to prospective entrepreneurs, based upon adaptation of successful Indian and Canadian models, in for example, Senegal, Ghana, Togo, and Mauritania. In Ghana, entrepreneurship development will become an integral part of small-scale and microenterprise support.

o PPR is in the process of reviewing experience in small and medium industry lending to draw lessons and make recommendations about future approaches.

Action No. 11: The World Bank Group will support technology development through advice and research as well as by refining existing operational approaches.

- o IFC has recently established a Technology Service Unit which is a limited effort to assist in the acquisition of technology by companies in client countries.
- o PPR has formed a working group to look into issues of technology development and plans to do research on: (i) the application of the technology policies and institutions developed in Japan and Asian NICs in other countries; (ii) technology change in selected industries; (iii) intellectual property rights and the role of direct foreign investment; and (iv) the role of technical education and training in improving productivity.

Topological and the second of the second of

III. Coordination, Implementation and Staffing

Private Sector Development Review Group Recommendations:

Recommendation 16: That a SVP-level Committee on Private Sector Development be set up consisting of SVPOP, SVPPR and the EVPs of MIGA and IFC, assisted by a Sub-Committee, to oversee the detailed design, installation and early operation of the World Bank Group's new approach.

Recommendation 17: That the Bank's Country Departments, with inputs from other parts of the Bank and from IFC and MIGA, prepare country-specific private sector development strategy Statements, either free-standing or as part of the Country Strategy Papers.

Recommendation 18: That processes for cross-support and coordination between the World Bank, IFC and MIGA, as well as the focus on private sector development in budgeting and programming arrangements be strengthened.

Recommendation 19: That a transparent and simple retainer or charge-back system be introduced for interinstitutional support by IFC, MIGA and the Bank.

Recommendation 20: That the World Bank Group regularly undertake reviews of its research, policy, operational and training programs related to private sector development, as well as of private sector development activities undertaken by other international or bilateral agencies, to ensure that the agreed emphasis on private sector development issues is pursued vigorously and that the Bank Group is adequately informed about related activities of other institutions.

Recommendation 21: That the Committee for private sector development make it one of its priority tasks to identify the staffing constraints in detail and to initiate efforts to overcome these constraints quickly to ensure that the potential of World Bank Group contributions in the area of private sector development is utilized to the fullest extent.

Action No. 12: The entire World Bank Group will collaborate closely to assure successful implementation of this Action Program. (See para. 28 of the main text).

Action No. 13: The World Bank Group will develop country strategies for promoting private sector development, and where appropriate, Board papers will include a specific discussion of the private sector and will articulate World Bank Group plans and programs for assisting private sector development. In addition to the activities mentioned in para. 29 of the main text:

o A joint Bank-IFC study to review the present arrangements for cross support and to recommend improvements has begun and will issue recommendations by February 1989. The implementation of the recommendations is expected to produce the simple and transparent retainer or charge back system for inter-institutional support recommended in the Review Group Report.

Action No. 14: Each World Bank Group complex will identify the staffing constraints and develop a program to overcome them quickly through training, shifting priorities and hiring new staff, specifying costs and timetable as part of their FY90 budget proposals within the overall ceiling. (See para. 30 of the main text).

o Some of the main areas where additional resources may be necessary include:

Operations staff specialists in financial sector analysis and commercial banking, public enterprise reform and privatization, industrial restructuring (to be located in the Bank's Debt Management and Financial Services Department and the Technical Departments);

Legal Department staff to provide advice on legal aspects of regulatory and legal reform, privatization, public sector restructuring, financial reform, property rights, and other key legal areas associated with the private sector development program, to carry out research in these areas and to appraise and supervise Bank support for legal technical assistance.

IFC staff to expand the Corporation's advisory work in corporate restructuring, regulatory issues, privatization, capital market development;

FIAS to permit the planned expansion in foreign direct investment work;

PPR staff to act as Secretariat to the new Committee and to undertake and help coordinate policy work on private sector development issues.

(MIGA's staffing needs will be part of its start-up plans.)

and taprover at the Edward to The Edward to

to of mental

the composition is

and lines

in firm to the rest are as a

Tomoradal S. C. of the Department of

versions found up ablying abive

privatization, publication, property rights.

our research in con-

Back support for leg-

orporation's adv

rab ymotelugen .

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development International Development Association International Finance Corporation

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' MEETING

DECLASSIFIED

For consideration on Thursday, June 20, 1991

APR 30 2025

WBG ARCHIVES

R91-139 IDA/R91-99 IFC/R91-103

FROM: Vice President and Secretary

June 10, 1991

Strengthening the World Bank Group Effort on Private Sector Development -- A Supplemental Paper

Attached is a supplemental paper entitled "Strengthening the World Bank Group Effort on Private Sector Development" dated June 7, 1991.

Questions on this paper should be referred to Mr. Linn (X37458) or Mr. Ezekiel (X30758).

Distribution:

Executive Directors and Alternates
President
President's Council
Vice Presidents, Bank, IFC and MIGA
Directors and Department Heads,
Bank, IFC and MIGA

This document has a restricted distribution and may be used by recipients only in the performance of their official duties. Its contents may not otherwise be disclosed without World Bank authorization.

Strengthening the World Bank Group Effort on Private Sector Development A Supplemental Paper

INTRODUCTION

The World Bank Group considers support for an efficient private sector to be an essential means to promote growth and reduce poverty. The Bank Group actively supports the widespread movement by developing countries towards private initiatives as a leading force for growth in its member countries. To serve the rapidly growing needs for support to member countries in this endeavor, the Bank Group is reinforcing its efforts and expanding its capacity to promote private sector development (PSD)--including improved coordination between the Bank and IFC.

The World Development Report 1991 has identified a large range of important areas in which member governments and the Bank Group can pursue private sector development. Measures are required to provide a stable and supportive environment for the private sector (macroeconomic stability and nondistorted sectoral policies, effective social and physical infrastructure, and effective public sector management). Three more specific areas deserve special attention in the Bank Group's strategy designed to support PSD in the its member countries: legal and regulatory reform; financial sector development; and privatization.

The legal and regulatory framework is a critical factor in the business environment for private entrepreneurs. Streamlining licensing procedures, reforming investment codes, developing coherent and nondistorting labor laws and regulations, facilitating entry and exit, and regularizing property rights -- these are essential elements of legal and regulatory reforms designed to promote efficient private activity and buoyant private investment while protecting legitimate areas of public interest. The Bank Group has begun to support reforms in these areas and is committed to further expand its efforts in the future. 1

An effectively functioning financial sector is a major catalyst for mobilizing domestic resources and channeling them efficiently to private investors (see World Development Report 1989). The Bank Group has long been concerned with supporting the development of viable financial intermediaries that can channel long-term finance to private investors. More recently, its attention has focused increasingly on support for the development of a financial system that includes the growth of a broad-based, competitive domestic banking system and the development of effective non-bank capital market institutions. Reforms in financial sector policies and institutions are critical instruments to achieve these objectives. For the future, the Bank Group will intensify its attention to these policy and institutional

¹ See "Private Sector Development Action Program" (Sec. R89-9 and IFC/R89-5 - January 11, 1989) and "Private Sector Development: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort" (Sec. R91-79 and IFC/R91-60 - April 26, 1991)

issues in the financial system while aiming to increase investment financing for private entrepreneurs through financial intermediary lending.²

Privatization is a major means for shifting the boundary between the public and private sectors. There has been a particularly rapid increase in the demand for Bank Group support in this area. In response to this demand the Bank Group has played a significant role in many countries by promoting privatization initiatives through policy advice, assistance in the design of privatization programs, and advice and financial support in the context of specific divestiture transactions. The Bank plans to expand further its capacity to engage in a policy dialogue and its capacity to provide advice to governments on privatization policy and strategies. IFC will increase its capacity to advise on, and invest in, privatization transactions and will (in accordance with the "Staff Guidelines") provide advice, as appropriate, to the Bank as it responds to Government requests for assistance. In view of the difficulty of privatization, but also given its important role in member countries' efforts to develop their private sector, the Bank Group intends to prepare a policy paper on privatization for submission to the Board in March 1992. This paper will review the Bank Group's experience and lay out a framework to guide and intensify the Group's efforts in this area. The paper will, inter alia, address the following issues: (i) privatization strategies; (ii) key variables affecting policy design; and (iii) implementation capacity and coordination modalities. In addressing this last point, the paper will draw on the efforts currently underway as regards: coordination between the Bank and IFC; management initiatives designed to strengthen the Bank Group's capacity: and activities summarized in "PSD: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort" and further elaborated in the present paper (including human resource capabilities, research and sector work, and deployment of its operational instruments). 4 Management will propose a seminar for Executive Directors to explore the approach to be taken in this policy paper in advance of preparation of the paper itself.

Since PSD is one of the Bank Group's key priorities for the 1990s, Management will act to ensure that it is pursued systematically and effectively. The purpose of this paper is to clarify specific steps that management has taken, or intends to take shortly, to strengthen the Bank Group's PSD effort by implementing the policies and approaches contained in

² See "World Bank Policies Guiding Financial Sector Operations" (Sec. R91-80 and IFC/R91-62 - April 26, 1991) and "IFC Capital Increase" (Sec. IFC/R91-79 - May 29,1991).

³ See "PSD: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort"

⁴ A paper on power sector lending (also intended for Board distribution in early 1992) will focus on the role of private enterprises and of competition in enhancing the quality of power service provision in developing countries.

the three papers recently submitted to the Board -- scheduled for a joint discussion on June 20.⁵ The areas discussed are the following:

- (i) senior management coordination of Bank, IFC and MIGA;
- (ii) private sector assessments;
- (iii) criteria for enhancing the PSD effectiveness of Bank operations;
- (iv) IFC's project selection priorities;
- (v) Bank Group instruments designed to support PSD;
- (vi) organizational changes;
- (vii) the Bank's staffing and recruitment programs; and
- (viii) reporting on progress.

1. PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Private sector development concerns all of the institutions in the Group. Policy and operations of the Bank, IFC and MIGA, thus, need to be closely coordinated and senior management oversight is critical to reinforcing the PSD strategy. Accordingly, the President has assumed the chairmanship of the committee, which has already met four times in 1991, and intends to convene it at least once every three months.

The PSD Committee played a key role in shaping the recent decisions and proposals reflected in the papers to be discussed by the Board on June 20. Its main tasks, as set out in its terms of reference, are: (i) to guide the rapid and effective implementation of measures aimed at focusing and expanding Bank Group support for PSD; (ii) to ensure full collaboration among Bank Group staff on policy development, lending and research in PSD areas; and (iii) to encourage new approaches and the development of more effective instruments in support of PSD.

2. PRIVATE SECTOR ASSESSMENTS

As the recent progress report noted, 6 the PSD content of Bank operations has increased markedly in all four Action Program priority areas (business environment, public sector restructuring, financial sector

^{5 &}quot;Private Sector Development: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort";
"World Bank Policies Guiding Financial Sector Operations"; and "IFC Capital Increase"

⁶ See Annex 1 of the "PSD: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort" paper.

development, and resource transfers and other support to private enterprises). Bank Group country programs must extend and deepen this progress by systematically pursuing existing and new PSD opportunities. To this end management has decided that the Bank and IFC will collaborate in carrying out Private Sector Assessments (PSAs), with inputs from FIAS. PSAs will serve as a basis for the formulation of Bank country assistance strategies incorporating PSD priorities and as an input into the formulation of IFC's country operational priorities and plans. The Bank Group, in consultation with the respective Governments, is in the process of identifying 20 countries where the first PSAs will be completed by the end of FY93, as part of a continuing effort. These countries are being selected, jointly by Bank and IFC staff, on the basis of the urgency of addressing PSD issues and of the potential of their private sectors, taking into account as well the role of the Bank and IFC in the country, and the government's commitment to pursue PSD-oriented reforms.

The main purpose of the PSAs is to provide the basis for the formulation of pro-active Bank Group country assistance strategies.

Consistent with this objective, PSAs will identify priority policy reforms and other actions critical for PSD. This will be accomplished through a two-pronged analysis of:

- (a) the characteristics and importance of the private sector in the economy, at both the aggregate and sectoral levels; the relationships between public and private sectors; and the areas which can be more efficiently served by the private than by the public sector, with special attention being given to privatization; and
- (b) the constraints to private sector activity (notably, to private investment), identified at a level of detail adequate for the development of remedial actions, including distorted incentive policies, inadequate legal frameworks, inappropriate controls and regulation, crowding out by public action, inadequate physical and social service infrastructure, and--very critically--distorted and weak financial systems. An important source of information for this analysis will be the views of a wide range of private entrepreneurs and managers. (Annex 1 provides a more detailed description of the conceptual approach planned for PSAs.)

PSD CRITERIA IN BANK LENDING OPERATIONS

Private Sector Assessments and country assistance strategies provide the framework within which Bank adjustment and investment operations will be designed to support in a variety of ways the pursuit of PSD by member countries. Bank lending offers ample opportunities for expanding the range of options for private involvement in economic activity considered by governments. Assessments moreover provide the base line for a process of monitoring the progress in the implementation of the Bank Group's PSD efforts.

A general aim of Bank operations is to ensure that the prerequisites for efficient PSD (the broader aspects of the enabling environment for business) are in place. This includes support for sound macroeconomic and sectoral policies and undistorted prices of economic goods and services, as well as for cost-effective provision of public goods and services -- notably in the areas of human resource development and infrastructure.

More specifically, Management will ensure that more Bank operations enhance the contribution of the private sector to development by increasing the ability of entrepreneurs to invest, produce, price, market and export their products in a competitive environment and by providing finance for private activities. Thus, to ensure measurable progress in the extent to which Bank lending operations support PSD, Management has identified key approaches and criteria that will be considered in the design of country strategies and relevant operations. (These criteria will also be used in monitoring the progress in implementing the Bank's PSD action plan as part of the Progress Report highlighted in Section 8 below.) The criteria are rooted in the framework that underlies the preparation of Private Sector Assessments, and thus provide the essential link between assessment of constraints, strategy formulation and implementation, and monitoring of progress:

- o Policy reforms to foster the development of an efficient private sector. This involves support for: legal, regulatory and institutional reforms to encourage domestic competition; increased integration into international markets (e.g., through lower trade restrictions, easier access for foreign investors, and liberal foreign exchange regimes); secure property rights; tax reforms; and the development of a strong policy framework for privatization.
- o Shifts in the boundary between public and private sectors. This includes active support for privatization initiatives, as well as policy and regulatory reforms opening new areas of activity to the private sector (e.g., in public utilities, transport services, agricultural marketing, and social services), support for private and voluntary organizations (e.g., genuinely voluntary agricultural cooperatives), and public sector restructuring to reduce crowding out.
- Support for government efforts to implement projects through private rather than public sector channels. This involves active efforts: to channel financing and support through private providers, including NGOs (especially in health and education projects); to contract out public functions to private enterprises; to employ private contractors rather than force-account; and to increase the use of private financial intermediaries for on-lending operations.
- o Direct assistance to private entrepreneurs without introducing harmful distortions. This implies strengthening financial systems, providing finance for private investors, and supporting the development of private technical, managerial and marketing skills and resources.

These criteria have different applicability in different sectors. Sectoral approaches to private sector development will be articulated to guide PSAs, project and program design and review of progress. For example, in the transport sector, the following elements would be included in such an approach: deregulation of private transport services (e.g., buses, trucking);

private investment in and operation of selected infrastructure components (e.g., toll roads, port facilities, airports); and construction of public transport infrastructure by private contractors.

4. IFC PROJECT SELECTION PRIORITIES

The "Staff Guidelines for Cooperation" (paras. 8-10)⁷ indicate how IFC country investment priorities and plans will be formulated in light of consultation with the Bank on PSD in the country concerned. IFC's selection of priorities for financing in any country should seek to support the overall World Bank Group strategy for promoting private sector development, developed in consultation with the World Bank. These priorities could often emerge from the private sector assessments which are now to be jointly prepared by the Bank and IFC. When governments are implementing policy reform programs (in many cases with World Bank assistance), designed to create a strong private sector operating in a market economy, IFC can play a useful role by stimulating a supply response from the private sector. In these circumstances, particular emphasis will be placed on support for sound privatization programs and priorities of member governments, and for financial sector reform through institutional development.

All IFC Board papers on projects will contain a section dealing with IFC's role including its relevance to private sector development in the country. Of course, IFC's ability to implement such priorities by undertaking specific investments will always depend on the availability of private investors with whom IFC can act as partners, and on the volume of market financing already available to the private sector without the Corporation's intervention. IFC's regular reports to the Board on the development impact of its operations will include an evaluation of IFC's project selection priorities in the context of overall World Bank Group efforts, and of environmental effects.

In keeping with its overall developmental objectives, each IFC decision to invest in a project is based on an evaluation of its expected financial profitability and economic viability. In each case, a judgement has to be made about the competitive advantage of production in selected countries, reflecting factors such as the overall business climate, the scale and cost of operations, the availability of raw materials, the use of suitable technology and the quality of management. At the same time, it is important to ensure that projects and companies financed by IFC would be competitive in the absence of subsidies and market distortions. This process of economic evaluation (including the relevance of the economic policy environment to the project and estimates of economic rates of return and returns to the domestic economy, the latter in cases where foreign investment is involved) is a critical factor in IFC's project selection process. IFC will seek investment opportunities in competitive sectors where protection and other distortions are relatively low or being reduced significantly, and will generally avoid

⁷ Annex 2 of "PSD: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort"

investing in sectors which have high levels of protection and other distortions without meaningful prospects for reduction.

IFC projects contribute to private sector development by helping to build sound, growing private companies, and in many cases this is the main contribution. However, in keeping with the purpose indicated in the Articles of Agreement, IFC will give priority in its selection of projects to investments that are not only sound individually but will also contribute more widely to the development of a healthy private sector in the country concerned. For example, the demonstration effect of a commercially sound and competitive investment, especially in the form of projects of an innovative nature, may encourage other private investors, domestic and foreign, to follow. A contribution to private sector development could also be made by structuring projects in such a way as to involve the local private sector. This could be immediately accomplished through direct investment by existing private sector companies and/or through "warehousing" of shares in new companies by IFC for future sale to local private investors, or by selecting projects which support sound privatization programs being undertaken by member governments. Where possible, IFC will look for ways to involve the local private sector in new areas, such as power and telecommunications, that were previously reserved for public investment.

However, there may be other cases (such as large natural resource projects involving foreign investors) where the involvement of the local private sector will be difficult to achieve but the benefits to the local economy are potentially very large. Provided the overall policy environment is moving in the right direction, such investments may be justified without local private participation.

The need to look for a wider developmental contribution is particularly relevant in the case of non-market economies. In such economies, promoting local private ownership, both through privatization and through investment in new enterprises, is a particularly important objective. Overall, in non-market economies, IFC should be a highly selective investor financing projects in ways that significantly encourage the local private sector and promote opportunities for foreign investment.

IFC's role in large and complex projects (including natural resource ventures), and the criteria for IFC involvement in such investments, has been discussed in detail in "IFC Capital Increase: Discussion Paper", dated February 21, 1991, paras. 57-60, and in "IFC Capital Increase", dated May 29, 1991, para. 17. In summary, IFC support for large and complex projects should be highly catalytic and be part of an overall program to maximize their developmental impact.

5. INSTRUMENTS TO PROMOTE PSD

(a) Bank lending instruments

The Bank's instruments for supporting PSD are evolving in response to the specific challenges that individual countries face in creating more robust private sectors. Management will ensure that this evolution continues in response to the constraints and opportunities facing the private sectors in member countries. The mix of instruments to be used in any given country is determined in active dialogue with the borrowing government and reflects the analyses of priorities and options embodied in country assistance strategies.

- The Bank's investment loans provide frequent opportunity for incorporating prominent elements that respond to the approaches and criteria outlined in section 3 above and the Bank will strengthen its efforts to advance PSD through these operations, both by extending the scope and deepening the content of PSD components in direct investment operations designed to increase the scope of the private sector, or to encourage private involvement in project implementation. Increasingly, sector investment loans are being used to support sectoral policy and regulatory reform and will serve to promote changes that facilitate private sector development.
- o Financial intermediation operations are the Bank's main instrument for transferring resources to the private sectors of borrowing countries, and for supporting financial sector policy reforms. Forceful implementation of the proposed new policies and staff guidelines laying out the principles guiding financial intermediary lending and identifying the respective roles of the Bank and IFC and the modalities for more intensive coordination, will ensure that this form of lending plays a key role in financial sector development and contributes to the pool of financial resources available for private investment in developing countries.
- Adjustment lending is an important instrument for the Bank to support improvements in the business environment through macroeconomic, trade and sector policy reforms and will, thus, often feature prominently in PSD-oriented country assistance programs. Sector adjustment loans also provide a particularly attractive vehicle to support policy change that is PSD oriented. Adjustment operations supporting privatization, public sector restructuring and financial sector reform will also play a key role in the Bank's PSD effort.

An important strategic issue is the sequencing of policy and regulatory reforms. In many countries, reforms fostering private investment will need to coincide with a comprehensive macroeconomic policy reform program; in these cases improvements to the business environment (including sectoral and incentive policy reforms) are an essential part of the program supported through comprehensive adjustment lending operations. In other countries, as macroeconomic stability improves and sectoral incentive reforms take hold, more narrowly focused PSD operations are often appropriate. Such operations have focused, for example, on the financial sector and, more recently, on trade and investment restructuring (typical examples of the latter are the recent Private Sector Development and Private Sector Investment adjustment operations in, respectively, Indonesia and Ghana). Free-standing

⁸ See "Staff Guidelines" (Annex 2 of "PSD: Strengthening the Bank Group Effort") and "World Bank Policies Guiding Financial Sector Operations" dated April 26, 1991.

PSD and Private Investment Development operations will be increasingly used by the Bank where the broader macroeconomic and sectoral policy conditions permit such an approach. In response to a request in the Board, Management intends to prepare an analytical paper that reviews whether any changes in the Articles of Agreement should be considered to permit direct Bank lending to the private sector without government guarantees.

(b) Technical assistance and advisory work

Bank Group technical assistance and advisory work in support of PSD in general, and privatization in particular, will be materially strengthened. The respective roles of the Bank and IFC in the technical assistance and advisory areas are spelled out in the above mentioned Board paper (Sec. R91-79 and IFC/R91-60). At all stages in their assistance cycles the Bank, IFC, MIGA and FIAS will remain in close consultation regarding their advisory activities, keeping each other fully informed and exchanging views on work plans and implementation, and drawing on each other's particular expertise. The Bank's Country Departments will be responsible for coordinating the Bank's technical and advisory assistance to member countries as part of the overall country assistance strategy, in coordination with other members of the Bank Group. The composition and coordination of such assistance among all Bank Group members will be decided during the formulation of country assessments and strategies.

A key source of advisory services in connection with the privatization and restructuring of individual companies is the Corporate Financial Services department of IFC; in addition, IFC's investment departments and the rapidly growing Capital Markets Department also provide active support for specific privatization operations. IFC advisory services are provided on a fee basis broadly consistent with market practice -- often combining front-end and success-based fees. The potential demand for these services is very high and IFC will devote increasing resources (both at headquarters and in field offices) to enable it to respond fully and rapidly to requests for privatization and restructuring services. In conjunction with the strengthening of the Bank's operational work on PSD and privatization issues described below, the advisory function in the Bank will also be strengthened in the area of privatization, the costs of which will be paid out of trust fund resources made available to the Bank for this purpose. In addition, in supporting privatization programs, the Bank will seek to develop a policy to ensure that its involvement does not exclude IFC from providing advisory services for privatization.

(c) Research

The Bank's research program (mostly located in PRE but with significant tasks also managed by the Regions) will intensively address PSD issues. These range from the informal sector (microenterprises), sectoral regulatory environments and land tenure to competition, the impact of divestiture on efficiency and the determinants of private investment. IFC is also expanding its hitherto limited research activities with the aim to complement its financing and advisory activities. IFC's research activities will focus on areas benefiting from the Corporation's expertise as an investor

in the private sector. They will also be targeted on topics likely to strengthen its operational work. For example, IFC research will examine: (i) corporate finance structures; (ii) stock markets and economic performance; (iii) intellectual property rights and technology transfer.

The recently created PSD research coordination committee, chaired by the Bank's Chief Economist and including key staff from PRE, OPN, IFC, MIGA and FIAS, will ensure close Bank group coordination in PSD research. The committee will identify research priorities, steer new research initiatives and coordinate the dissemination of results. The chairman will also convene an external advisory group of prominent private sector representatives.

6. ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES

(a) The Bank operations complex

Country Departments will be responsible on the Bank's side for coordinating the formulation and implementation of Bank Group private sector development strategies as part of their overall country assistance strategies. In this they will explicitly include consideration of the activities and contributions of all relevant Bank Group units, both within the Bank (including CFS) and also IFC, MIGA, and FIAS. Responsibility for this work within the CDs will be assigned to either Country Operations Divisions or the Trade and Finance Divisions. Divisional staffing will be strengthened to perform this role. Responsibility for region-wide support to PSD will be centered in the Trade, Industry and PSD Divisions of the Technical Departments, which will be restructured with enhanced staffing for this purpose. An Operations working group is now formulating the necessary changes and drafting the terms of reference for the responsible divisions within the regions, including their interrelationships and detailed procedures for coordinating with other Bank units (PRE, Finance, LEG, CFS) as well as with IFC, MIGA, and FIAS. In addition, the working group will recommend staffing requirements and recruitment plans for each region. Appropriate management arrangements at the level of the SVPOP are also being developed.

The work of the outside consultants reviewing the role of CFS and its relationship with the regional departments has been accelerated and integrated with the activities of the working group. The planning and budgeting procedures for the use of trust fund resources has also been strengthened, and the resources administered by CFS will be fully integrated into the country assistance strategies and work programs managed by the Country Departments.

The above work is to be completed by June 30 for implementation from the beginning of FY92. The speed of implementation of these programs will depend on the resources available.

(b) IFC

IFC Management has decided to create a central operational and policy coordination unit -- the Private Sector Strategies Unit -- to help in effectively implementing IFC's enhanced role in the strengthened Bank Group

private sector development effort. IFC's Regional Investment Departments, along with the Capital Markets Department, will continue to provide the primary input (in terms of experience and know-how) and interaction with Bank Country Departments. However, this new unit will supplement the resources which will be deployed by the Investment Departments, and serve as the focal point for IFC's work in the formulation of private sector development and country assistance strategies.

The primary function of the new unit will be to develop the framework in which the Corporation's input to private sector assessments (PSAs) will be provided and, jointly with Investment Departments, to structure IFC's input to country specific PSAs. The unit will synthesize the currently available knowhow in the Corporation on issues affecting PSD in its major borrowing member countries, based on existing staff know-how and on the operations of the existing portfolio and the status of the project pipeline. Previously completed and ongoing country-specific work of FIAS will also be drawn upon and incorporated into PSAs and country assistance strategies for PSD -including issues relating to the promotion of foreign direct investment. The unit will ensure that the views of the Bank, and the results of the jointlyproduced PSAs, are taken into account in the Corporation's own activities, and will make recommendations within IFC for country-specific participation in the above strategies. Finally, the unit will work jointly with IFC Investment Departments to review proposed Bank transactions involving the private sector (financial intermediaries, privatization, infrastructure) to ensure that a consistent IFC position is developed and presented.

IFC has procedures in place to ensure that potential environmental concerns in proposed projects are addressed and that alternative methods are fully considered in the face of potential problems. More generally, IFC applies the same environmental standards as the Bank and both institutions will adopt measures to enhance their collaboration in the environmental area. IFC's management will take additional steps, as appropriate, to ensure that the Corporation's activities are consistent with sound environmental practices.

7. THE BANK'S HUMAN RESOURCE STRATEGY

As the Bank faces rapidly increasing demands for PSD support activities and seeks to redouble its efforts to provide such support to its borrowing member countries, it is critical that it enhance its staff capabilities in this area. The following steps have been or will soon be taken:

(a) In response to increased demand from Bank and IFC managers for younger staff with strong academic background in business disciplines, the Young Professionals Program has increased its intake of this type of candidate. Of the 32 accepted offers in the 1991 selection, 22% went to candidates with business degrees and another 22% to candidates with economics training but with relevant private sector experience (investment banking, management consulting or corporate finance). The aim is to raise further the overall share of YPs with business and private sector backgrounds in the future, while

also meeting other important objectives (quality, gender and nationality diversification, etc.).

- (b) A Mid Career Professionals Program (MCPP) has been approved by management to improve the Bank's ability to recruit highly qualified and experienced staff. In the detailed design of this program (to be completed shortly) special attention will be paid to the private sector experience of prospective candidates. Infrastructure, in particular, offers excellent opportunities for reinforcing the PSD initiative, as future lending is expected to involve support for privatization, restructuring and deregulation, and as infrastructure divisions across the Bank face high replacement needs.
- (c) The skills sought by Operations are in five broad areas: (i) promoting an enabling environment; (ii) financial sector development; (iii) public enterprise restructuring and privatization; (iv) private provision of infrastructure and social services; and (v) entrepreneurial development. The FY92 staffing plans for the Operations complex include the recruitment of at least 20 staff with specialized expertise in PSD and experience in the private sector (e.g., investment banking, privatization). The next business plan exercise (2nd quarter FY92) and the human resource plan update (3rd quarter FY92) will make PSD staffing a special focus.

Each region is currently specifying additional skills and numbers required in the above areas in the Country Departments (CDs) and Technical Departments (TDs). Completion of this analysis in late June, will enable Operations Management to specify the "skills gap" and initiate an action program, with PAAVP support, in recruitment, skills training and staff redeployment early in FY92. Given overall resource constraints, the pace of acquiring these skills through new recruitment will be initially at the relatively modest level noted above.

(d) The Private Sector Development Unit in PRE is expected to increase its staff specifically dedicated to PSD activities (including Bank staff training) over the next two fiscal years. The Private Sector Development Unit in LEG is also expected to strengthen its capacity to review the legal framework of interested countries.

8. PROGRESS REPORT TO THE BOARD

As noted above, the PSD Committee will monitor progress in all aspects of the Bank Group effort to increase the contribution of the private sector to development. The Committee will also oversee the preparation of PSD progress reports, the first of which will be made available to the Board in the Spring of 1993. This report will review implementation of the PSD Action Program, as modified and elaborated by the current action plan to intensify the Bank group's efforts in this area. In particular, it will focus on measuring the progress achieved in introducing key PSD aspects in Bank operations, specifically with respect to the criteria provided in section 3 above, and on the collaboration between the Bank and IFC are outlined in the Staff Guidelines (attached as Annex 2 to the Board Paper entitled "Strengthening the

Bank Group Effort"). Other reports to the Board will review progress in special areas of the PSD program: For example, the above mentioned Board paper on divestiture will provide an in-depth assessment of the Bank's experience in this area; the Board paper on the power sector will provide an assessment of how to make room for private initiative in this important sector; and the Third Report on Adjustment Lending will provide an assessment of efforts to support revival of private investment through adjustment lending operations.

June 7, 1991

PRIVATE SECTOR ASSESSMENTS

1. The purpose of Private Sector Assessments (PSAs) is to provide the basis for incorporating private sector development into the policy dialogue with borrowing governments and into the formulation of country assistance strategies. The PSA is not itself a strategy document, but its information and analysis provides a vital input to strategy formulation. While the analysis and issues identified for priority attention will necessarily be country specific, and flexibility in presentation is called for, PSAs will generally cover three major areas: (i) an analytical description of the private sector and the role it currently plays in the economy; (ii) discussion of policy, institutional, and other factors that deter or constrain efficient private economic activity; and (iii) identification of major issues and priority areas for government action and WBG assistance.

I. Description of the Private Sector and its Role

An understanding of the current nature and importance of the private sector in the economy and how it relates to the public sector is the starting point for any PSD strategy. The extent to which this analysis can be quantified will, of course, depend on the availability of data. At the macro and sectoral levels, the importance of the private sector and its evolution over time will be reflected in its share of output, employment, investment, exports, etc. Some of its principal characteristics may be captured in data on the size distribution of enterprises, levels of market concentration, forms of business organization, size and locus of foreign private investment, etc. The interfaces between the private and public sectors may be reflected in such indicators as the share of profits paid in taxes, the dependence of the various sectors on government or state enterprise procurement or on official sources for inputs, the role of government in setting prices and allocating credit and foreign exchange, and so on. Some aspects of this analysis may necessarily be impressionistic, however -- e.g., the relative importance of the informal economy, the political power of the private business sector or of subgroups within it, the level of development of marketing institutions, the effectiveness of antimonopoly laws and regulations, the degree of "commercialization" of public enterprises, etc.

II. Constraints to Private Economic Activity

- 3. Factors that may inhibit or constrain private economic activity or reduce its efficiency may usefully be grouped and analyzed under the following headings:
 - Economic uncertainty. Factors that contribute to an uncertain business environment might include, inter alia, political instability; macroeconomic instability; vulnerability to external terms-of-trade shocks; volatile labor relations; negative attitudes toward private business on the part of government officials, politicians, and other opinion leaders; inconsistent or erratic government policies, and/or conflicts between formal policies and administrative practices.

- Distorted incentive policies. Controls on product and factor prices, special tax incentives, trade protection, state subsidies, preferential access to foreign exchange or other scarce resources may benefit some activities and groups at the cost of others and reduce the overall efficiency of resource allocation.
- Inadequate legal framework. Dynamic private sector economic activity and efficient market relationships require a strong framework of laws defining property rights, regulating the enforcement of contracts, ensuring effective competition, establishing bankruptcy procedures, etc., and an effective, independent judicial system providing for the fair and timely adjudication of claims. In the absence of such a framework, private activity may be limited to the pursuit of quick and secure profits and to rent-seeking, rather than to long-term, growth-oriented investment.
- Controls/regulations affecting enterprise entry and exit, production decisions, land use, foreign investment, etc. State regulations may be justified for health or environmental reasons, worker safety, to prevent exploitation of natural monopoly power, to safeguard economic stability (e.g., prudential regulation of banks), national security, or for other reasons. Such regulation may also be used, however, to protect the monopoly positions or other rent sources of state or preferred private enterprises at the expense of potential competitors and consumers and at high cost to economic efficiency and technological progress.
- Crowding out. Governments have frequently entered into production and service activities which might now be better and more efficiently provided by the private sector, or which are no longer justified by the resource costs involved. Meanwhile, the state's claim on resources with which to carry out these activities may have the effect of crowding out competing or alternative private sector activities.
- Inadequate provision of public goods and services. Physical infrastructure, education, health, basic law and order, fair and predictable administration of taxes and other laws, etc. are essential to economic security and to reducing the costs and risks of private business activity.
- Distorted or institutionally weak financial systems.

 Competitive financial markets and market-oriented institutions are essential to the efficient provision of credit and other financial services to private enterprise. Conversely, state appropriation or directed allocation of financial resources reduces the scope and efficiency of private decision-making.
- Limited business experience, and technical, managerial, and entrepreneurial skills, which may be apparent in situations where private business activity has been suppressed or

discouraged in the past, could lengthen the lag time between removal of PSD constraints and the desired private supply response.

4. The analysis of constraints on private sector development will draw first on available information and analysis, much of which may already have been accumulated under ongoing CESW programs and Bank and IFC operations. The views of private entrepreneurs and managers throughout the economy, including the informal sectors, though often self-interested, will be another important source of information. While it is expected that PSAs will provide a broad survey of the constraints on PSD relevant to each country, areas of emphasis and levels of detail may be expected to vary widely in accordance with country conditions.

III. Priority Areas for PSD Action

5. From the foregoing description and analysis should emerge an identification of the principal issues of private sector development and the areas meriting priority attention in the country dialogue and the WBG's operational program, including further CESW, over the coming 2-3 years. This discussion may also include an evaluation of past related activities of the WBG and their impact. The conclusions reached here will then feed into the broader process of country strategy formulation, where the particular approach to be taken and the priority areas for Bank Group efforts will be defined.



Record Removal Notice



File Title President Wolfensohn - Briefing Book for President's Meetings and Events - Richard Frank -			Barcode No.			
September 6, 1995	To Trostacinos mechnigo ana Bronio		3048	35745		
Document Date	Document Type	-				
December 2, 1991	Memorandum					
Correspondents / Participants To: Mr. Lewis T. Preston			,			
From: Ibrahim F.I. Shihata, LEGVP						
Subject / Title Report of the Working Group on the Ar	mendment of the IBRD Articles					
Exception(s) Attorney-Client Privilege	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			-		
			×	9.		
Additional Comments				-		
			The item(s) identified above has/have been removed in accordance with The World Bank Policy on Access to Information or other disclosure policies of the World Bank Group.			
			Withdrawn by	Date		
			K. Brenner-Delp	July 16, 2025		

Archives 01 (March 2017)

Relationships between the World Bank and private sector firms

The Bank has several types of relationships with private sector firms (I'm

also going to throw in IFC here and there):

1) Investment banks, rating agencies, institutional investors. Those relationships originate mostly in the treasury operations of the Bank and the IFC (borrowing \$12 billion a year in the markets, and trading our \$20 billion liquid assets portfolios). Those types of relationships are very good; many of them are quite ancient. We are generally seen as steady and conservative, yet innovative borrowers and liquidity managers. Only one slight negative, regarding investment bank relations: the corporate finance types of those banks occasionally complain that IFC is competing with them for fee business. Jannik Lindback can tell you more about this.

2) Private suppliers of goods and services under Bank loans. These are equipment suppliers, contractors, consultants; we represent about \$15 billion a year of business for them. Relationships on that score are generally good, but in the eyes of many firms dealing with us, there's a rub: we impose on our borrowers demanding procurement procedures (international bidding mostly) which are often deemed too slow and bureaucratic. Those procedures have offered us and our borrowers a good measure of protection from mistakes and corrupt practices, and from perceptions of unfair treatment. But it is true that they could be improved, particularly when it comes to complex, sophisticated bidding packages—as opposed to procurement of simpler items. There are two major things to do:

a) re-think our approach to procurement to render our procurement procedures as modern, fast, and differentiated as they could be—without sacrificing any of their safety and integrity benefits; this could be done by involving private firms in the rethinking process (this could be one of your initiative in Fall); and

b) getting more PR mileage out of the beneficiaries of this very large \$15 billion or so business (Mark Malloch-Brown has actually started useful state-by-state

programs to that effect in the US).

3) Private promoters of (and lenders to) private industrial, energy and infrastructure projects who operate or want to operate in the developing world.

For virtually all of these projects, <u>IFC</u> and <u>MIGA</u> are the main parties involved, rather than the Bank. IFC nurtures long-standing and excellent relations with hundreds of firms of that type from all over the world; so much so, in the case of some large multinationals, that this is one of the points sometimes (and unfairly) brought up by critics of the IFC's developmental role.

As to the <u>Bank</u>, its main role in that area is in the detailed legal, regulatory and institutional work required to open up infrastructure and energy sectors to private participation in the first place, and to install a policy and regulatory environment that promotes competition. This role is generally well known to, and welcomed, by large private firms operating in this field, but they are not in the habit of expressing public

appreciation for the Bank's achievements in this crucial upstream work.

The other way through which the Bank can get involved with private project promoters is through its guarantee tool (outright Bank lending for private projects has disappeared because these days, governments don't want to give the Bank the Articles-mandated counterguarantees for loans to private parties). The most valuable application of this guarantee tool consists in the Bank covering only non-commercial risks, that is, risks having to do with breaches of undertakings (e.g. on tariffs, power purchases) by governments and their agencies vis-a-vis private infrastructure projects;

essentially, this amounts to offering governments a way to post a performance bond on their own behalf through us. This 5 year-old program has been lagging, and management has been trying to rejuvenate it. It looks like this will work, but the proof will be in the pudding. The Bank's relationships with private promoters and lenders in relation to this guarantee program are mixed: a) those firms often have excessive expectations as to what the Bank can or ought to do, and often hope for commercial risk coverage which the Bank won't give; b) they find Bank crews too slow and bureaucratic for this fast-moving private project business, and get concerned about our statutory demands, e.g. for elaborate environmental assessments of the projects concerned; c) they are sometimes confused as to what the respective roles of the IFC, MIGA and Bank are in this whole field.

This is an area where some visible changes and improvements can be made-particularly on b) and c). (For example—but this is just an idea at this stage—a possible part solution to b) is to use as often as possible the IFC as the merchant banker for the whole Group, drawing on the Bank's guarantee power).

4) Private sector firms at large (as constituencies, advisers etc.)

The IFC has a council of advisers drawn from private sector firms from various parts of the world. Those gather formally at Annual Meetings time; they are, as far as I can see, more useful to IFC as individual "godfathers" than as a body providing advice. The IFC also has ties to business associations, and has, as was said under 3), a wealth of direct and ongoing relationships with private sector firms from all over the world.

The <u>Bank</u> formed a separate private sector vice-presidency just two years ago, and only since then have we been able to systematically cultivate our business constituencies, sollicit their advice, and follow through on it. Also, only since then have we been able to speak coherently, with one voice. This has represented a big change for an institution hitherto used to deal mostly with public sector entities. Here's how we are going about it. Historically, the Bank's Articles do call for some sort of council of independent outside advisers, but this had already died by the early 50s. We, in this new vice-presidency, initially thought of setting up an IFC-like council of advisers, but senior management was not too enthusisastic about this at the time. You may want to consider such an advisory council, and compose it not only of very large firms, but also of smaller entrepreneurs, and also Developing country ones.

In any case, in the meantime, we have started up multiple focussed partnerships with the private sector— because we thought we had to get cracking at least at our more technical level. These partnerships are of three kinds:

Sectoral:

-power industry (US): we have an agreement with their research outfit independent power project (IPP) promoters and financiers: several worldwide roundtables per year, with very practical agendas -oil and gas: we are running a true network with all key firms -telecoms and information technology: we're also starting a network with key firms in the field; this will involve private contribution to an Information and Development fund which is in the advanced planning stages -annual get-togethers with world fertilizer industry -same for steel industry, together with OECD and UN

-general and specialized roundtables with the mining firms
-we're a founding member of the Global Information Infrastructure
Commission, a worldwide group of telecoms and informatics CEOs and
other leaders
-on July 12 we are bringing many of these CEOs to the Bank for a
discussion on the Bank's role in bringing LDCs into the information
infrastructure age

National/ International -we have a collaboration agreement with the Japanese Keidanren and have an annual meeting with them here -we work with the Prince of Wales Group, and FUNDES (Schmidheini) on specific initiatives -we are developing ties with BDI (Germany) and CNPF (France) -we have several kinds of ties with the International Chamber of Commerce -we work with ASCAME (Mediterranean chambers of commerce) -virtually all of these are entirely new initiatives; we're expanding the list (e.g. European Business Roundtable)

Other:

-more than 100 speeches this year to business constituencies; nice impact -we have (in our new private sector vice-presidency) twelve seconded staff sent by private firms; more to come -we are beginning to get private sector contributions for important causes (examples in energy, telecoms, small enterprises)

But there's a lot that remains to be done. The Bank's business contituencies have been neglected for so long that there's a lot of catching up to do. Judging from experience, the impact of the sort of things we have started to do can be very positive-if only because they force cultural exchanges onto the Bank, and serve to connect it in a real sense to private sector players. The other positive is that many of the partnership forms described above are a good way for deepening Bank/IFC/MIGA collaboration, and projecting it outside; for example, we have roped in IFC and MIGA in many of the sectoral private sector partnerships listed above. We will want your support in pushing these things much further. And this is an area where you can help a lot personally.

5) Private entrepreneurs within the developing countries themselves. This could be a long story, but in a nutshell:

IFC has many good relationships with local entrepreneurs, invests alongside them, and even has facilities designed to help them prepare their projects (Poland, Africa, for instance)

The Bank's contacts with domestic private enterprises in developing countries are normally more limited, but as part of the so-called "policy dialogue" between the Regional staff and the client countries, there are regular contacts with the local entrepreneur community. Where such contacts become even more intense and systematic is when we do enterprise surveys and when we prepare the so-called private sector assessments (about 40 done or in the works all over the world; they are done jointly with the IFC). In some countries, e.g. Morocco, our vice-presidency has teamed up with the Regional staff and gone even further—by aggressively following up on these assessments through the creation of joint government-private sector councils designed to move the whole private sector development program along. In those case, we end up

quite well connected to the local entrepreneur community, and have actually helped create a stronger bridge between the local private sector and its government. We think this is a powerful model for things to come.

Also, if you were to set up a council of advisers for yourself, you may want to include developing country entrepreneurs, as I speculated above.

A few final thoughts

The Bank's relationships with private sector firms, under these five headings, can be improved through a limited number of initiatives, and this can only have good results for the Bank's image, and our success on the terrain. You can help a lot.

But deeper down, if we wanted to expand this whole crusade, there's a cultural problem in the Bank. Only a minority of the staff possess this way of tackling problems, and this way of communicating that the business world relates to. There are things one can do about this over the years to come; one, among several of these things, is to develop much more of a can-do culture and upgrade the quality of the Regional staff dealing with private sector development (which for the Bank means mostly work on improving the business environment and strengthening the financial sector). Another important thing is to continue, and indeed invigorate, recent efforts at achiever a much happier medium between nurturing specialized cultures in the Bank/IFC/MIGA, and getting the three to intelligently exploit their operational and financial synergies as part of a true Group approach. There's a lot of scope for this in the years to come—but that's another story which I am eager to talk to you about when you'll have the time.

Jean-François Rischard

VP, Finance and Private Sector Devt.

Tune 29, 1995



Record Removal Notice



File Title President Wolfensohn - Briefing Book September 6, 1995	Richard Frank -	Barcode No. 30485745			
September 6, 1773			3048	5/45	
Document Date	Document Type				
March 27, 1995	Report				
Correspondents / Participants Office of the President	*				
				*	
Subject / Title World Bank-IFC Relationship		,			
Exception(s) Information Provided by Member Co	ountries or Third Parties in Confidence				
Additional Comments					
		remo Polic	The item(s) identified above has/have been removed in accordance with The World Bank Policy on Access to Information or other disclosure policies of the World Bank Group.		
		With	ndrawn by	Date	
		K. Bre	enner-Delp	July 16, 2025	



Record Removal Notice



File Title President Wolfensohn - Briefing Boo	ok for President's Meetings and Events - Richard Frank -	Barcode No.			
September 6, 1995	ok for resident's Meetings and Events - Richard Plank -	2040	5545		
September 6, 1775		3048	5745		
Document Date	Document Type				
July 1995	Report				
Correspondents / Participants					
Subject / Title	WBG - Joint World Bank/IFC/MIGA Status Report	,	*		
Private Sector Development and the	wbg - Joint world Bank/IPC/MIGA Status Report				
Exception(s)					
Information Provided by Member Co	ountries or Third Parties in Confidence				
*					
	,				
Additional Comments					
		The item(s) identified sh	ava baa/baya baan		
		The item(s) identified ab removed in accordance w			
		Policy on Access to In			
*		disclosure policies of the Wo			
		NACE AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY O			
		Withdrawn by	Date		
		K. Brenner-Delp	July 16, 2025		